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We are Biffa

we’'ve been at the forefront of the UK sustainable waste management industry for over

100 years,

Our strotegy for growth means that our waste reduction,
recycling, energy recovery and collection services oil have a
positive impact aoross the UK. We have o strong frock record of
growing our profits whilst reinvesting to qrow our business

Today, Biffa 1s an established enahbier of the UK circuiar
economy and our feam of just under 11,000 collragues carry out
essential services every day in line with cur purpose ‘to change
the way people think about waste', Sustainability has been at
the heort of olr business strotegy for mony yeors. Our orecs of
investment reflect the waste hierarchy - to Reduce, Recycle and
Recover, all supported by the need to Collect,

We have already token huge strides in our sustamability journey
by investing i surplus redistribution, plastic recycling, energy
recovery infrastructure and low carbon collections, leading to a
70% reduction in ol carbon emissions since 2002, Our
sustamnabiity strategy, ‘Resoiircaful, Responsible’, will sea us
unlock £1.25bn of investment in vital green economy
infrastracture by 2030, of which ¢.£1bn has already been
committed to, while further reduring our carban emissions by
50% ty 2030 Qur aim is ta reach net zero emissions by no later
than 2050

Our people care about doing the right thing ond, n turn, we
<trive to do right by them by priantising their bealth, satety and
wellbeing. We are proud to have been awarded a 5-star rating
by the British Safety Council We have olso made strong
progress in making sure Biffer is on inclusive place fey work where
diversity 1s championed and our employees feel valued and
understand the positive contribution they make to enabling the
UK circular economy.

Our longstandurg Biffa Award pragrarmime supports sustamable
projects acrass the UK which deliver environmental benefits,
while making a valuable contribution to local communities.

Through our proud partnership with WasteAid, we are helping to
share practical ond low-cost waste monagement knowledge
with communities in developing countries.

As we ook forward, whilst being mindful of the near-term
challenges the UK economy is facing, we are increasingly well
positiohed to play a key role in the transition that our sector is
embarking on, supported by an ambitious pelicy agend
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Strategic Report

Combining purpose

with profit

Why we exist beyond profit Whe we are and what drives us How we deliver for our stokeholders what wa're striving fo achieve

<@} Our Vision "~ Our Sustainable
LA )‘.'!'-‘\\ Business Model
To lewd the way in UK “., R {: + Collect <
sustainable waste monagement < '\I‘._-_* \. * Reduce ﬁ‘
ppp— -'-/; * Recycle z?j
. E B + Recover
=

Our Purpose

Our Sustainability
Goals

Te ¢change the
way people think

+ Builkling a circuior economy

- Tackhing climurte change
kout wast " Y . Cari
aeul waste il Our Values @' Our Balonced Caring for ow people,
; Business Plan 9

~, » Safer Together
& fgy * Value Peogle
- + Custamer First

If‘ = Protect our Plonet
te + Grow Sustanably

Why we do what we do

Cur business model combines purpose with profit, helping to enable the circular ecanomy, generare profit for our shareholders and deliver
our core purpose - to change the way people think ebout waste.

Who we are and what drives us

Our values demonstrate how we act every day and how we make
decisions. They set us apart from the competition and show thar
how we do things is just as importunt as what we do. They are the We ma ke
guiding principles for how we do business. fhings

happen

We do
the right
thing
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Strategic Report

What we do

oOur business madel focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect,
Concentrating on these four areas enables us to deliver efficient and sustainoble waste
management in line with the waste hierarchy and enables us to deliver the most value from
our operatinnal capabilities.
Redistributs
Our business model 15 resilient by design, demonstrated by how we have novigated economic ;
uncertainty and market challenges during the year. Qur services are generally essental, non- : —
discretionary and predictable in demand. Commercial Yerms erther offer good levels of pricing : { -
flexibility or contractual struchues designed to protect agamst commodity and inflationary ‘ L -
) S Manwiaciure “
eXPOSUNeS i .
o &d
R Recycla .
- s
Consume
T icoltmet ... -
-
[ i L}
Reduce Recycle Recover Collect
To picheer and operate To develop and operate Teo invest in energy To build the UK’s largest,
the UK’s leading waste the UK's leading recycling recovery infrastructure as a most efficient, low
reduction and solutions. lower carbon alternative to carbon waste and
redistribution services. landfill for our customers’ recycling collections
waste that cannot be operation.
recycled.
Sources of revenue: Sources of revenue: Saurces of revenue: Sources of revenue:
. Sale of surplus . Gate fees for processing - Gate fees for processing . Service fees for
produce to Company and freating waste, and freating waste, collechion and disposal
Shop Group's . Sale of commeadity - Sale of renewable energy. af commercial waste.
mambe s products . Fees for nutsourced

provision of household
collection services

Where we focus: our objectives

Our Balonced Business Plan (' BBP" s aligned to five key piliars - Safer Together, Value Pecple, Customer First, Grow Sustainably and
Protect aur Planet. The actions and targets within our annuai BRP help to guide activity around our business model.

Underpinning all of this is our powerful sustainability story,
based around three key pillars:

Building a circular economy Tackling climate change Caring for our people,
supporting our communities

Biffa Limited / Annual! Report and Accounts 2023 4




Strategic Report

The Directors present their strategic report for Biffa Limited ('the Company’) and its subsidiary companies (rogether ‘the Group’ or
‘Biffa’) for the year ended 31 March 2023

Accounting reference date

This strategic report and the accompanying financial statements are prepared tor the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023, The comparatives
are prepared for the 52 weeks ended 25 March 2022 The strategic report tor the subseguent period will be prepared for the 52 weeks
ending 29 March 2024

Principal Activity

Biffa is a leading integrated sustainable waste management campany in the UK. The Group collects and processes a significant
proportion of the waste generared in the UK with a focus on developing a circular economy. Operations include waste collection,
recycling, arganic waste treatment, landfill, surplus stock redistribution and investments in fwo Energy from Waste (‘Efw’) jaint ventures,

Ownership Structure

On 26 January 2023 the entire issued and to be issued share capital of Biffa plc was acquired by Bitta Bidco Limited (formerty Bears
Bidco Limited). Biffa's listing on the London Stock Exchange was cancelled at 8am on 27 Jonuary 2023 and Bitta plc wos subsequently
re-registered as a privote company and renomed Biffa Limited.

Biffa Limited remained a wholly-owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Limited at 31 March 2023, Biffa Bidce Limited 15 an entity wholly owned
by the funds managed by the Energy Capital Partners group of companies ('ECP’).

Founded in 2005, ECP is a leading investor across energy Transition, electrification and decarbonization infrastructure assets, including
power generafion, renewables and storage solutions, environmental infrastructure and sustainabihty, ethiciency & reliability assets
facilitating the energy transition. The ECP team, comprised of 73 people with 600+ years of collective industry expenence, deep expertise
and extensive relatichships, has consummated more than 100 fransactions over the last 18 years. For more informetion, visiy

WWW.ECDIR.COM.

Going concern

The Directors have concluded that the Group 1s able to continue as o going concern and the financial statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis accordingly. Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements for more information.

faorward-looking statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results, operations and business of the
Group. By their nature, these statements and forecasts invulve risk ond uncertainty becouse they relate o events and depend on
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future, There are a numibzer of factors that could cause actual results or developments to
differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements and forecasts.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs")
The Directors utilise a number ot KPIs when measuring the performance of the business. These KPIs huve been detailed in the below tuble
and discussed further on the following pages. Definitions for the metrics are provided in the Appendix to the tinancial statements.

FY23 FY22 Movement
Financtal KPIs:
Crganic net revenue growth (%) 12.0% 20.0% (8.0)%
-.Acqmsiﬂon net revenue growth (%) 6.0% 18.0% (12.0%%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 67% 0.7% -
Adjusted Return on Cperating Assets (%) 18.2% 18.2% -
Adjusted Return on_EcT:n‘rol Employed (%) 8.5% 7.0% 1.5%
Group Leverage Ratic (Net Debt. EBITDA) (x) 3.0x 31x (0.1
Non-financial KPIs:
Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions (kT) 524kt 538kt (14Kkt)
Plastics recycling capacity (kt) 167kt 151kt Lokt
Employee engagement (%) 63% 59% 4%
Lost time injury (LTI) rate 0.32 0.39 (0.7

RIDDOR rate 0.19 0.17 0.02

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 5



Strategic Report

Financial Review

Financial highlights
The other financial performance highlights in addition 1o the KP1s above are detailled in the following table. Alternative performance
measures are dlso defined and reconciled in the Appendix to the financial stotements.

FY23|  Fy22 Movement
Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 14432 2372
“adjusted EBITDA | 2255 1856 |05 |
‘Operating Profit/(Loss) 67 CES 150
Adjusted Operating Profit 112.8 6.6 162
[ Loss Affer Tax TTasen azey | 09 |
Net Debt:. EBITDA 3.0x 3lx (0.1)x

Group performance

The Group has built upen FY22's strong trojectory with Statutory Revenue increasing by 16.4% in the year to the record ievel of £1,680.4m
This has been achieved across the Group with Collections, Resources & Energy and Specialist Services divisions growing by 15.17%, 11.2%
and 34.8% respectively. The majority of the growth has been organic, being roughly twice that attributed to acquisinons

Operating Profit has risen from a toss of £8.3m in FY2? to a profit of £6 7m. This was driven by the 16 8% improvement in Adjusted
Operating Profit from £96 &m in FY22 to £112.8m

The Group continues to expernence significant inflationary headwinds. Despite this, the Adjusted Operating Profit Margin has remained
flat at £.7%, demonstrating the Group's resilience and pricing fiexibility.

The Group uses Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMg’) to enable a better understanding of Group performance. APM's exclude
rertain items from statutory results and are used to enhance the comparability of information between reporting periods and the
Group's divisions.

Adjusting items are fully explained in the Appendix to the financial statements. The net impact of adjusting items on Loss Before Tax wos
a charge of £105.1m (FY22 £104.2m charge). The main adjusting items were acquisition related costs (£24 8m), strategy reloled and
restructuring costs (£18 0n, increase to provision related to HMRC Landfill Tax enguiry (£50 /m), asset impairments (£9.1m),
amorhsation of acquisition infangibles (£25.2m)and impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions (24 8m credit)

Net debt and borrowings

Group net debtis £667.0m (FY22: £595.8m) representing 3 Ox Adjusted EBITDA (FY22 3 1x). This demonstrates strong continued cash
performance across the Graup

On 1 February 2023 the Group's existing borrowings drown down under the RCF were repaid by Biffa Bidco Limited, with o corresponding
loan established between Biffa Bidco Limitecd and a subsichary of Biffa Limited. The RCF wds simultanaously replaced by o new £225m
RCF held by Biffa Bideo Limited.

Ihe private placements held at 25 March 2022 were still held at 31 March 2023, but were terminoted on 23 May 2023 as port of the deb!
restruciure.

Finance income and charges

Net finance charges rose from £19.2m in FY22 to £2? 8m. The primory driver behind this was the £5.9m increase i finance costs on loans
and private placements mostly caused by interest rate rises during the year, partly offset by net interest income on the net defined
benefit surplos increasing by £2 5m,

Retirement Benefits

The Group operates o defined benefit pension scheme for certain emplayees which is closed to new entrants and which closed to future
accrual for the mojonty of its members as ot 1 November 2013, At 31 March 2023 the Group's total TAS 19 net retirement benefit surplus
weis £95.1m, a1 significant fall from the surpius of £166.1m ot 25 March 2022

The reason for this fall 1 the overall shrinking of the kargest scheme, with both plan assets and liabilities decreasing due to the rise in
harrowing rates

Return on Capital
Group Adjusted Return or Capital Emploved improved from 7.0% i FY?22 10 8 5% due 1o the rise in Adjusted Operating Profit
HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

This encuiry Is in progress and therefore the outcome remaoins unclear. Following the receipt of further information from HMRC, we have
increased our provision from £30m to £64m Refer to Nota 1 to the financial staterments for more mformation.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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Strategic Report

Financial Review continued
Post-balance sheet events

The following material events occurred after the reporting period:

. The Group acquired the entire 1ssued share capital of Esterpet Limited and 49.9% of the 1ssued share capital of Estertorm Packaging
Limited in Aprit 2023

«  Arestiucture of the Group’s debt became effective in May 2023 with term loans increasing by £135m, rolling credit facility increasing
by £150m and private placements decreasing by £85m

- It was announced in June 2023 that the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland will no longer commence in FY24 as previously expected.
A replacement scheme will commence in October 2025 at the earliest.

. In May and June 2023 £2.8m was paid to EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation 1o the EVP dispute disclosed i
Note 29 A further £10.0m is expected fo be paid in FY25.

Refer to the Directors’ Report und Note 34 for more information.

Operating Review
I'he Group is erganised into three operating divisions:

«  Collections
. Resources & Energy
. Specialist Services

Collections

This division provides sustainable waste and recycling collections and related services. It 1s split into two businesses: Municipat and
Industricd and Commercial { I&C"). The Municipal business provides household waste and recycling collections, street cleaning und other
services for households, on behalt of local authorities. The L&C business provides waste and recycling collections tor a wide range ot
industricl and commercial customers.

FY23 FY22 Change Change

£m £m £Em %

Statutory Revenue 1,006.1 8739 132.2 15.1%
1&C 792.7 690.9 101.8 14.7%
Municipal 2134 183.0 304 16.6%
Net Revenue 1,006.1 873.9 1322 15.1%
Operating profit 75.9 65.6 103 15.7%
Operating profit margin (%) 7.5% 75% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 1461 130.7 154 11.8%
Adjusted Operating profit 82.5 75.0 75 10.0%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 8.2% B.6% n/a n/c

The Collections division had @ strong year in FY23, with Statutory Revenue rising Dy 15.1%. This high growth rate was seen consistently
across the division with I&C and Municipal achieving growth rates of 14.7% and 16.6% respectively.

I&C

The growth in I&C has been achieved through the combination of acquisitions (including a full 12 months’ contribution from the Viridor
acquisition in FY22), volume growth and price increases. The L&C business has continued fo be affected by substantial intlationary cost
pressures impacting the UK economy. While these pressures have had o significont impact on our operating costs, pricing flexibibty built
into our confracts has enabled the business 1o pass on most of these cost increases to customers, thereby protecting our profitability
with Cetlections Adjusted Operating Profit Margin only falfing from 8.6% in FY22 to 8.2% in FY23,

while the business was impacted by national HGY driver shortages in FY22, these shortages eased in the latter port of FY22 and Tthis
easing continued info FY23. Supply chain disruption has continued to provide challenges in FY23, eg. the procurement of new vehicles.
These challenges reguire careful management going forward,

Qur strategy remains to drive forward cur plan to consalidate the fragmented I&C collections market. Acquisitions are highly synergistic
due to the removal of duplicate routes and locations, and resutt in a more efficient, tlexible service proposition for cur customers with
lower carbon intensity. The acguisition pipeline looks promising and Biffa's new owners intend fto support our historicelly acquisitive
approach,

Operating Review continued
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Strategic Report

Collections continued
Municipal

The significant growth experienced in FY23 has been driven by the revenue indexation built into our Municipal contracts. enabling the
prices charged to customers 10 rise in line with the relevant inflgtion indices. This results in revenue rises logging cost increases in on
environment with growing inflation, but then a catch-up as inflation slows. A margin improvement is therefore expected in FY24

The challenges faced by the Municipal business are similar to those faced by the 1&C business and the mitigating actions are therefore
brogadly sinilor

The business is well ploced to continue to deliver its growth strategy by caprialising on its scale and expertise. We will seek to capitalise
on the opporturities that are presented by the approaching regulatory changes in the industry.

Resources and Energy (‘R&E")

The R&E division tocuses on the sustainable treatment, recycling, energy recovery and utimate disposal of waste It comprises the
Recyeling, Orgaonics, Inerts and Landfill Gos businesses os well os our equity investments m fwo Energy from Waste (W fociihies thot
were under construction at the year end date,

FY23 FY22 Change | Change
£m £m £m % |
Statutory Revenue 439.6 2G5.2 44.4 11 2%
Recycling 165.1 140.8 | 247 17.5%
Organics 102.0 78.0 234 30.0%
Inerrs 547 56.7 | a9 (3.4% |
Landfill Gos, 421 40.4 18| 4%
| Net Revenue 3639 359 | 480 |  152% |
Operating profit 35.3 17.5 178 101.7%
Operating profit margin"(_“/f)irﬁh 8.0% 4.4% n/c?—‘ n/o.
Adjusted EBITDA 78.3 734 4.9 6.7% .
"Adjusted Operoting profit ’ 423 AN T B T
Adjusted Operating profit n;largin (%) 9.6% 10.4% n/a n/a

The R&E drivision saw strong parformance in FY23 with Net Revenue of £363.9m), up 15 2% on the prior year. This wos driven by growth in
the Recycling and Oryanics businesses, which m turn wos partly caused by ¢ full 12 months’ contribution from the Viridor acquisition

The significont cost incveases experenced in the year were largely mitigated through the Groug's risk monagement megsures ond pricing
flexibihity, but Adjusted Operating Profit Margin did fafl from 10.4% 10 9.6%.

Recycling
Our Recycling business comprices our leading Palymers plastics business and our Matenals Recycling Foalities ('MRFg'™y,

Y22 was a tronsitional year for the Polymers business due to customer acceptance ot Seaham faking longer than expected but a
number of mult-million pound agreements were signed late in FY22 and FY23, driving the 17 5% revenue growth in FY23

We expect demaond for plastics recyeling to continue 10 strengthen following the introduchion of the UK Government's Plastic Pockoging
Tax anc greater scrutiny on corparate behaviours

Construction of the third IHDPE Iine at Redcar 15 now complete
Organics

The Grgamcs busmess mcludes Biffa’s angerobic digestion ('AD"), composting and residudl waste treatment assets. Assets are generally
supported by tong ferm local quthority contracts The business had a strong vear with revenue growth of 30.0%.

inerts

Chir Inerts business includes the freatment and disposal of complex construction waste and provides landfill disposal for untreatable
residues, Inerts Net Revenue fell by 2 4% due to a decline 1n landfill valumes caused by macroeconomic uncertainty

Landfill Gas
The Landfill Gas business provides energy generation fran lendfill gos extraction.
Revenue grew by 4 5% in FY23 with the positive movement in energy prices offsetting the reduction in gas yields.

Operating Review continuedd
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Resources and Energy (‘R&E’) continued
Energy Recovery

The treatment of general waste for energy recovery is an important part of our investment strateqy for waste which cannot be avoided,
reduced or recycled. Biffa has invested in two Energy from Waste joint ventures in partnership with Encyclis (previously Covanta).

Construction of the Newhurst Energy Recovery Facility 1s complete and the site became fully operational in May 2023, so FY24 Adjusted
Operating Profit will benefit from roughly 10 months of contribution. Construction of the Protos Energy Recovery Facility is still in
progress and is 1-2 years behind Newhurst,

Specialist Services

The Specialist Services division helps customers fulfil their sustainabilily ambitions by providing bespcke solutions including surplus
redistrilbution, integrated resource management and hazardous waste services. The division contains the Industrial Services and
Company Shop Group {'CS5G) businesses,

The Industrial Services business provides bespoke solutions to customers who have more complex woste requirements such as
manufacturing and distribution businesses. Solutions include on site services and equipment rentat (‘Infegrated Resource Manogement’
or '[IRM"), hazardous waste collection and freatment and packaging producer responsibility compliance services (‘Biffpack’.

CSG adds waste reduction and redistribution capabilities to Biffa's range of sustainable waste management soiutions. It also enables us
to support customers in moving surplus products further up the waste hierarchy and to deliver on their sustainability amibitions
Alongside its core network, CSG operates Community Shop, a not-for-profit community interest company that supperts some of the
most geprived areas of the UK through a network of hubs which sell produce provided by donations from supplier partners ot ceeply
discounted prices, clongside the provision of a number of community services.

In July 2022 Biffa announced that Circularity Scotkand Ltd ('CSL’), the scheme administrator for Scotland’s Deposit Return Scheme,
appointed Biffa ro provide collection, counting and sorting services for the billions of drinks containers which are placed on the Scottish
market each year. The attributable financial performance was 1o be included within the Specialist Services division due to the unigue
nature of the scherne. The scheme will no longer commence in August 2023 as originally planned, as 1t was announced on / June 2023
that a replacement scheme would not go ahead until ot least October 2025. Refer to Note 34 for further details on the DRS and position
as at the balance sheet date.

FY23 Fy22 Change Change

£m £fm £m %

Statutory Revenue 2347 1741 ouU.6 54 BY
Industrial Services 1451 1034 41.7 40 3%
| Company Shop Group 89.6 70.7 189 26 7%
“Net Revenue 2347 174.1 60.6 34.8%
Operating profit / (loss) 12.7 (19.9) 32.6 n/a
Operating profit margin (%) 5.4% (11.4Y% n/a n/a
Adjusted EBITDA 218 11.6 10.0 86.2%
Adjusted Operating profit 13.8 54 84 155.6%
Adjusted Operating profit margin (%) 5.9% 3.1% n/a n/a

The Specialist Services division had a very strong year, with revenue increasing by 34.8%. The majority of this growth was seen in
Industrial Services which grew by 40.3%, followed by Compony Shop Group which saow its revenues incredse by 26.7%.

Iindustrial Services

Industrial Services continued its strong performance into FY23, with all three business units (IRM, Hazardous Waste and Compliance)
performing seeing high levels of growth. The acquisition of Total Recycling Services in March 2023 will help drive further growth in FY24,

Biffa 1s uniquely ploced to benehit from the growing Industrial Services market as the fully integrated waste management platform
means we can Take advantage of cross-selling services from our I&C customer base.

The business experienced similar challenges 1o those faced by the Collections division in FY23, but these were sufficiently mitigated to
ensure performance was not significantly impacted.

Company Shop Group

The business saw a significant turnaround in FY23, moving from being loss-making to profit-making. The encouraging progress seen in
the final quarter ot FY22, achieved through strategic changes, continued into FY23 as membership, footfall and gross margins
maintained their positive trajectory. Performance is expected to improve further in FY24 due to a full year of higher sales and margins.

Stakehcolder engagement and sustainability

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023
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We have confinued to focus on our purpose "to change the way people think aboul waste™. Sustainability is af the heart of nur business.
we're commutted to doing the right things to protect our planet, which includes minimising our carben foatprint whilst delivering the most
environmental, social and financial value from the resources we collect. We are also proud to give something back to the communities we
serve and m doing so create vaiue for all our stakeholders.

wWe care about our custnmers and Their needs. Every day we provide essential services to o wide range of customers across the Uk from
large corporates to thousands of tocal businesses and local authorities. We focus on delivering excellent services consistently, o
promised, every time. Qur sustainable approach, responsiveness to customer needs and delivery makes us the first choice for customers,

Qur suppliers play on important role in helping our business deliver far our customers we form strang, sustainable and trusted
partnerships and look to secure excellent value for money, whilst minimising risk in our supply chain

The health, safety and wellbeing of our colleagues and our communities continues to be of paramount mportance. During the year, we
have confinued to actively support the commuaties in which we operate through various community projects, including our proud
partership with the charity, WaosteAld, wWasteAid is an independent UK charity, set up by wdste management professionals to share
practical and low-cost waste management knowledge with communities i developing countries. We support them through our
spensorship, employee fundraising and with their projects in the Gamibiag, Kernya and Cameroon,

Employee engagement
Gur employee engrigement score has increased 4% during the year, and we are now 7% above the UK avercge.

we want our people to be engaged in therr work and with their workplace. Research shows thot organisations with high levels of
emplovee engagement are more efficient and effective and that highly engaged employees care about the future of their arganisation
and are motivated to help it achieve its objectives. We have doubled engagerment aver the past 10 years and our ambution is to be in the
top 25% of all companies inthe UK, which we are now only 4 percentoge points awoy from achieving

We have a team of just under 11,000 talented ond diverse colleagues who support Biffo’s purpose of changing the way people think
about waste, We pride ourselves on having an open and honest relationship with our workforce, empowering them to have therr say,
whilst ensuring they remain supported. We engage with each ather respectfully, encourage each other and help make Biffa a far,
nclusive and fun ploce to work.

We also continlie to maintain fwo-way engagement with our workforce, ensuring that they are kept up to dote with the latest business
developments and onswering their questions. Cur channels include regular all-employee video calls with our Group Executive Team, CHO
vlogs. conferences and news updaotes via our intranet and employee app, Biffa Beat Riffa Beat helps us to communicate and enguge
with pur frontline workforce, enabling them to openly ask questions and voice their opinions at the touch of a button. This is further
supported by the Biffa Invabrement Group, a forum ot aver 100 employees thot meet regularly to shove idens and feedbock with both
oarch other and the Group Executive Team,

Health and safety

Over the year, through cedicated focus on nisk reduction, we reduced our LTI rate from Q.39 injuries per 100,000 hours worked to 0.37, we
ulso reduced the overali propertion of ail inures thar resulted in any lost time from 12.35% ta 9.95%. Disappointingly, our RIDDOR rate
rose slighthy over the 12m period due largely to our I&C business We are maintaining our approach to increasing the effectiveness of our
risk monagement prncesses with o specific focus on reducing road risk by improving aur systems, technology and driver capabilities, We
are also investing in FooOnline, a best cluss H&S management platform 1o help us improve our incident management procedures, and in
the TopSet vestigotion methadelogy to improve our ahbility to learn from incidents.

Other matters contained within the Sirategic Report

The Section 172 statement, Task Force on Chmate-related Finaincial Disclosures (‘TCFDY, Principal nsks and uncertainties and Non
Fmony ol Tnformation Statement below form port of the Strategic Report.

On hehalf of the Board

Aa ,C."{ILVK

Michael Topham

Director

Biffa Limiteci

Registered in England and Wales No 10336040
11 September 2023
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Section 172 statement

The Directors had regard to their duty under Section 172(1) ot the Companics Act 2006 (51727 to promota the long-terni success of Bifto
Limited (the ‘Company’) for the benetit of its members during the year. In doing 5o, the Birectors have considered the marters outlined
below.

The likely consequences of any decisions in the long ferm / The need to act fairly between members of the Company

Qur business model focuses on four strategic areas - Reduce, Recycle, Recover and Collect. See pages 3 and 4 for more details, 5172
factors were considered in the Board's discussions on strategy, including how they underpin the Comparny’s long-term success and the
need to act fairly between members.

The interests of the Company’s employees

The Directors engage directly with our employees, both through their day-ro-day acrivities and via site visits, conferences, dinners and
other events. The Directors and Group Executive Team host regular all-employee calls, giving employees the opportunity to provide
feedback and ask guestions. All Directors also have access o our employee app, Bifta Beat, giving them the ability to view employee
feedback on announcements and other communications. In addition, the annual employee engagement survey provides valuable insight
to the Directors across a range of key employee matters, inciuding safety, wellbeing, reward & tecognition and diversity & inclusion. See
page 10 for more details.

The need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, custemers and others

To be able o fulfil their 172 duty when making decisions, it is essential that the Directors understand what matters to the Company's
stakeholders. Much of the stakeholder engagement at Biffa is carried out at a business level. The Board has received updates on
stakeholder engagement during the year, See page 10 for more details.

The impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment

Sustamability is at the heart of cur business. We're committed 1o changing the way pecple think about waste and doing the right things

1o protect our planet, which includes minimising our carbon foofprint whilst delivering the most environmentad, sacial and financial value
from the resowrces we collect. We are also proud to give something back tc the communities we serve and in doing so create value for all
aur stakeholders. See pages 12 1o 20 for more details,

The desirahility of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conducy
We are commiited to maintaining our reputation for high standards across all areas of our business. More detail i1s provided as follows:

s Strakeholder engagement - poge 10

«  Employee engagement - page 10

«  Health ond safety - page 10

«  Environment and sustainability - pages 12 fo 20

. Non-Financial Information Statement - pages 28 to 29

Exaemple of principal decision of the Board

During The year, the Board considered and approved the acquisition of the whale of the ordinary share capital of the Company by funds
monaged and/or advised by Energy Capital Partners LLC ('ECP’), implemented by way of scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Transaction’).

In considering the Transaction, the Board sought the views of certain of the Company’s largest shareholders and consistently considered
the potential impact of the Transaction on the Company’s wider (non-shareholder) stokeholders. This included looking tor reassurance to
ECP on a number of matters as follows:

. ECP having a strong track record of employee stewardship with the evaluation of the Transaction not being predicated on headcount
reductions or cost cutfing initiatives and that oll existing employee rights would be safeguarded;

. ECP supporting the Company's sustainability strategy, with Biffa's leadership in this area being a major reason for their interest in the
Transaction, and

= ECP's support for continued focus by the Company on its customers and communities.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

In 2022 we made a mandatory disclosure in line with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. This year, due to
being delisted, this is no longer o mandoted requirement however we have chosen to make a voluntory disclosure
consistent, albeit not fully compliant, with the TCFD 2017 Annex recommendations. Using this framework enables
us to explain our process for responding to climate-related opportunities and risks to our key stakeholder groups
in a purposeful and comparabie context.

Governance

Board

For the majority of the year tha Biffa Limited Board were responsible for the delivery of sustainable value to cur key stakeholder groups
and provided oversight of our strategic commitments, which are aligned with our sustaimability strategy. Following the acguisition Ly
ECP, tive Biffo Topeo Limited (formerly Bears Topco Limited) Board are responsible for the whole business, which includes sustainabalify.
This ensures chimate related risks and opportunines are considered in all aspects of the business including capital expenditure,
acquisitons, and performance objectives,

Executive Sustainobility Committee

Dunng the reporting year the Exccutive Sustainability Committee managed the Company's sustainoility strategy while senior
management are responsible for the day to-day implementation, monitoring and management of our sustainability performance
ncluding climare -related risks and opportunities During the year the Executive Sustainability Committee met twice At the end of the
financial year the Executive Sustainability Committee was dishanded and sustainability has become o standing item on the Group
Executive meeting agenda gt least 3 times per year. This ensures ciimate reloted nisks and opportunities are integrated in decision
making across our RUsiness,

Duiing the year the Executive Sustainability Committee received updates on UK legislation including the Environment Act and Resources
and Waste Strategy, the Group's Alternative Fuels Strategy, the Group's sustamability ratings end accreditahons. the Group's secial vajue
strategy and progress against the Group's sustainability strategy. The Fxecutive Sustamability Committee also approved the Group's
Scope 3 emissions target which has now been subnutted for validation by the Science -based Target Initiative (SBT1). Similor tpdates wall
be provided at least 3 times a year of the Executive meetings during the next financial year.

Environment and Sustainability Team

Duining the reporting yeor the Group's Environment and Sustainability team reported to the Corporate Affairs Director however the team
now report to the General Caunsel and Company Secretary fallowing changes fo the Group Executive Team in FY 24, The team provide
reciuict updates inchuding 1o the Group Executive Teom and work closely with management teams and employees across the business to

s Identify and report uny emerging climate related risks «nd opportuntties ta the Group Executive Term.

. Drive awareness of cur sustainability targets across the business and ensure that where relevont, sustanability targets are
meorparated mnto aur divisional balanced business plans.

. Fvolve and refine the sustainability strategy and associoted torgets, ensuring 1t keeps poce with Bffa's averull ambitions, market
developmeants and the farest Science-based Targets

. Ensure performance menitering and reporting is completed and rigorously audited through both internal audit and external
venfication to ensive accurate information is comrmunicated to stakeholders

. Escalate any issues that may impact the delivery of the sustainability strategy to the Group Executive Team

- Participrite in industry working groups, along with other experts, and moniror best practice.

. Ensure the Company pasition is reflected in developing Governiment policy through transparent nnd pro-active nteroction with cor
reqgulators and policy makers

Audit Committes

The role of the Commuttee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by monitoning and reviewng the intedrity of the
Group's financial reporing and the eftectiveness of 1he Tnternal and External Audit funchions and risk management framework and
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system of internal control.

During the year the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's principal risks and emerging risks which includes chmate change. The
review of the principal risks considers the likelihood of the risks matenalising and the potential impact, in terms of both the inherent risks,
before any mitigating actions, and the residual risks, after considering mitigating octions and controls. The emerging risks reviewed by
management and the Commiftee include risks relating to physical and fransitional climate change.

Following the acquisition oy ECP, the Audit Committee for Bifta Limited was disbhanded and responsibilities were transferred to the Audit
Commiftee of Bifta Topco Linited.

Strategy

As o leoder in UK sustainable waste rmanagement, we play a critical rele in clirnate action; enabling the UK circular economy and
allowing custamers and society To reduce their emissions by moving waste further up the waste hierarchy. Our business strategy ‘Reduce,
Recycle, Recover and Collect” guides the services we ofter, our operations, our supply chain monagement and our investment in reseqrch
and development,

These four areas of our sustaincble business model reflect the oufcames and value creation delivered by our operational capabilities and
our capital allecation:

. Reduce: To pioneer and operate the UK's leading waste reduction and redistribution services.

+  Recycle: To develop and operate the UK's leading recycling selutions

. Recover To invest in Energy Recovery Facilities infrastructure as a lower carbon afternative to landfill for our customers’ waste that
can’t be recycled.

+  Collect: To build the UK’s largest, most efficient, low carbon waste and recycling collections operation.

To turther align cur funding strategy with our sustainability strategy and the climate-related risks and opportunities identified, we have
established o Sustainability-Linked Finance Framework which was published in December 2020,

Qur sustainability strategy, Resourceful, Responsible, was published in March 2020 and 1dentifies 20 clearly defined rargets which
mitigate against climate-related risks and capitalise on chimate-related opportunities, These fargers include Scope 1 and 2 emissions
reduction, alternative fuelled vehicles, increased collection route efficiencies and the purchasing of renewable energy.

Progress against the strategy s reviewed annually and will tuke on board any changes in regulotions, socictal demand, technoclogy
availahility and the development of climate science. wWhere required the strategy will be cdapted to reflect these changes.

Scenario analysis

We use scenario analysis o ensure our business model and sustainability strategy remain resilient to a range of potential future climate
scenarios to 2030 and beyond. This year we have evaluoted against three scenarios. Expanding our scenario selection enables us 10
explore the key transitional and physical risks and appeortunities that Biffa may be exposed to:

» The ‘sustainable’ scenario - enables us to ossess the opportunities and risks arising from a successful decarbonisation, aligned with
the Pans Agreement and its goat s to limit global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius, compared fo pre-industrial levels,

¢ The ‘middle of the road” scenario - enables us to assess the opportunities and risks arising from what could currently be regarded as
the most likely climate trajectory with a global temperature increcse of between 2 and 3°C

«  The ‘hot house' scendario - enables us 1o assess the risks where the Paris Agreament is not met and for global average temperatures
rising to above 4°C by the end of the century. Under this scenario we face the acute risk of severe weather events and chronic
impacts of temperature and precipitation changes.

The scenarios used were informed by the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Representative Concentration Pafivways! and UK
Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (UK SSPs) . Dato from the UK Met Office, that aligned with the global average temperature rising o
above 4C by the end of the century was used in the ‘hot house’ scenario so we could consider the UK- specific physical impacts of
climate change, as this is most applicable to our UK operaticons.

In 2022 we carried out a mafteriality assessment, asking our key stakeholders whether they saw the material fopics as risks or
opportunities for Biffa to ensure we had a balanced view. The Executive Sustainability Commiftee consider that the material risks and
opporiunitizs outlined in the 2022 materiality assessment are still reflective of the current business. See page 4 of our Sustainability
Report 2022 for more information on outcomes of the assessment: www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability.

Footnates

1 Tne Interguvernmental Pungl on Climuate Chunge Representunve Concentrution Pothways were used i our scenonios us They ollow physical chinote impocrs to be cunsidered
such as ternpeiatuie, flocding und extreme weather, ucross diffenng dveluge femperatare Hses resulfing from varying radiative torees

2 socioetonemic Pothwoys (55Ps) descnibe a set ot alteinative plausitsle trujectones ot sooeral deyvelopmnent, which dre baset on hypotheses obout which scaetal elements are
the mos! importart deterrminanTs of challenges 1o climate change mumganion ang adapiotior. Soutial explict Projectiune of EnviroimEntal Ddvers (SPEED) huve vearked vath
patiners 1u develop UK versisns of the S5Ps through o porticipatony provess nvobeng stakeholder wor ksiiops, miter qews and quesnonnaires to spanally, wporally and

secrorally extena global and Ewopean vaersions of the 55Ps
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L Low

M Medium H High

Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 1 (‘sustainable’)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short  Medium Long
category Sub-tapic 1-3yrs 3-10 yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Resource Mare efficient Reduced and avoided we have an ambitious carbon reduction
efficiency technology cperating costs for target and in order to meet this we have a !
) facihities and collectians strang focus on energy efficiency across
fleet, M H L our aperations and fleet and we beliove
rechnology odvancement woudd endbie us
to aceelerate this under fhe sustairabie
; world,
Productas Tncreased Increased revenue due we are commitied fo opfimising our
services / demand for to the continued processes and 1ising our expert knowledge
markets development ancl to deliver low carbon services /products
low carben H H H .
recluced operating costs. We continle to monitor customer demands
services and and markets changes so we remain
materials competitive.
Additional Increased revenue from we understand the impaortance of green
technology continued development technolegy ond our ambition is 1o unlork
) of odditional services. H H H £1 25hbn of Investment in green econaimy
mifrastructure by 2030, which includcs bt
1isn't ivnted to investments a1 plastics
e _ . o L recycling. e
Resllience Colluborative Increased market value we engage collaborahvely with our key
relationships and revenue due 1o L M L stakeholder groups o help find solutions to i
reputational benefits the most difticult climate chollenges.
Mergers and Reduced operating costs MEA enables us to continue to gomn
acquisitions due to effiniency gons H M H operabng efficiencies and new capabibities,
and increased revenus helping us ta achieve our ambious
sustainabillly targets.
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium Long
catagory Sub-topic 1-3yrs 3-10yrs 10+ yrs Strategic response and resilience
Policy and Emissions Incregsed operating We continug to review our progress agains!
legal legislation costs in order to our emissions targets and ensure our

mamntain emissions L M M
compliance and comply
with low emission zones

targets aligned fo the latest climate
sclence.

Renawable
energy
legislation

Waste
legislation

Impact on revenue due
to changes i initiatives
avallable

The cessation of the renewatde obhgation
schemes for iandfill gos which we currently
recetve for our landfill gos operations has
bren built into our five-year business plans
Other sources of renewable energy such as
solar would allow vs 1o utihse the grid
connections across our landfill portfolio

Impact on revenue and
operating costs due fo

change in service

demand L L L

and materials.

we engage productively and transparently
with reguiatars and policy makers to ensures
that we have foresight of upcoming
legislation, dllowing us to make the
necessary adaptations A hraher demand
far recycled materials presents a great
opportunity for Biffa

Low emission
technology

Costs 1o transinon to low
carbon technology M ™ L

Collaborating with our supplier on
terhnology advances enables efficiency
gains in the use of resources and
aperanonal processes
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Summary of our most material climate-related risks and opportunities - Scenario 2 (‘middle of the road”)

Opportunities

Risks

Potential financial impact

Short Medium

TCFD
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs Strategic response and resilience
Resource More efficient Reduced and avoided We have a strong focus on energy
efticiency Trechnology operating costs for etficiency across our operations and fleet,
facilities and L L Improving our energy etficiency across wur
collections ftleet, operations ond fleet is essential for us to
meet our ambitious carbon reduction
commitrents.
Products/ Increased Increased revenue Our sustainability ambitions will be
services / demand for due to the continued delivered by optimising our processes and
markets low carbon development cujd H H combining these wnh our actions to help
] reduced operating customers move their waste turther up the
services and costs, waste hierarchy, helping 1o reduce the
materials carbon footprint of the services we offer.
Additional Incregsed revenue Cur ambifion 15 1o unlock £1 25bn of
technology from confinued H H mvestment |er green econornmy |nfrgsrrucrure
development of by 2030, which includes but 1sn't limited to
additional services. investments in plastics recycling.
Resilience Calicborative Increased market We engage colloboratively with our key
relationships value and revenue stakeholder groups 1o help find solutions to
due to reputational L M the most difficult chmate challenges and
benefits. help our customers meet their own
sustainability targets.
Mergers and Reduced operating we continue to develop ow capabilities
acquisitions costs due To efficiency through M&A, which will enable us 1o
gains and increased M M continue to goin operating efficrencies und
revenue. new cupabilities, helping us fo achieve our
ambitious sustainability 1argets
Potential financial impact
TCFD Short Medium
category Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10yrs Strategic response and resilience
Folicy and Emissions Increased operating we are muking significunt progress
legal legistation costs in order to towards owr cornmitment of a 50%
maintgin emissions reduction in our emissions by 2050. wWe
compliance ang L L have also set a target tor Net Zero by no
comply with low later than 2050. Achieving our targets will
2mission zones reduce our expose 1o emission reloted
COS1S.
Renewable Irnpact on revenue The cessation of the tenewable obligation
energy due 1o changes in schemes tor landtdl gas which we currently
legisiation initiatives available, receive tor our landfill gas operations has
L H been buillt inte our five-year business plans
We are exploring other sources of
renewable energy that will allow us to utiise
our large land holding and grid
infrastrucrure
waste Impact on revenue We engage produchively and rransparently
legislation and operating costs with regulators and policy makers o ensure
due to change in that we have foresight of upcaming
service demand L L legislation, allowing us fo make the
and materials. necessary adaptations & higher dermand
for recycled marterials presents a grear
oppertunity for Biffa
Low emission Cuosts to transifion fo Collaborating with our supplier on
technology low carban M M technology advances enubles etficiency

rechnalogy

gains m the use of resources and
operanonal processes.
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Surnmary of sur most material climate-related risks - Scenario 3 (‘hot house')

Potential financial impact

TCFD Short Medium Long
cotegory Sub-topic 1-3yrs  3-10 yrs 10+ yrs  Strategic response and resilience
Actite physical  Damage to Incregsed costs due Understanding the expostre uf our
impocts property /site to physical damage. operations to the risk from extrems:
{INCrense It nfrostructure . wedather events, including Mooding, aflows
severity of from extreme  1ncreosad insurance us ta identify busmess-critical lacations
extreme weather premiums and M H H which can then be assessed for climate
weather) and events recuced _msururwc_e change adaption investment. New facilines
chronic avallabiity for “high incorporate climate change and flooding
physical nisk” areas measures Into their planning phases and
impocts gong- developrment,
term climate - - -
@ shifts) Increased Incregsed capital Whilst the frequency and extent of extreme
-5 health and cOsts 0s o result of wedther is hard to predict, we continue ta
[ satety risk fire damage fo monitor changing weather patterns on a
Bulldings/vetucles short-term basis and take action 10
Indirect costs due mitigate any negative effects.
fo impadcts on
health and
wellboing L L L
Increqse n

aperational costs
for heating, coceling
rindd change in
operating proctices
due 1o shifting
Temperatures,

The Risks and Opportunities Identified

Riffa views potential climate related nisks and opportunities under two main categories:

. Transition risk. changes as o result of legiskation, customer expectations and new technologles
. Physical climate physical climate impacts and how this impacts our facilities and operations

Under both decarbonisation scenanos used in our analysis, the risks we face are intrinsically linked to changes i policy and legislation,
rechnological advancements and innovation that support o Tow carbon, energy efficient economy. Risks that relate to rranspoert and
emissions, Impact most sectors, while other risks are waste sector specific Mitigotion measures Include support of our subject maotter
expetts and the monitoring of future changes and our current business model shows our consideration of a deeply decarhonised
pathway.

Tes achieve dacarbonisaticn the circular economy 18 needed to decouple economic growth from the use of natural resources, This
presents significant opportunities for Biffa including changes in resource efficiency along with increased demand for recychng services
anird low carbon materials These opportunities are enhanced by England’s Resources ond Waste Strategy. which supports the circulor
economy and green consumerism. Our business strategy positions us in key role to support our customers during this transformation,

Tf global climate mubgation s unsuccessful and the “hot hause’ scenario becomes a reality, we understand that the world will face
chenges in market conditions, but the size and noture of these changes are lighly uncertam. Therefore, the focus of this seenano s the
physical cimate impact on our business and workforce. The physical impacts gre primarily related to severe weather events These could
pose o sk 1o our workforce and facilifies in the long term and reguire us to ntroduce additional safety measures and training. we
believe the best mihiganhon against the risks from this scenario 15 to support the goals of the Paris Agreement and make a positive
confribinon to cimate action anrselves and thiough our value chain

Under the decarbonisation pathways, due to the amount of carbon already in the atmosphare ond unknown carbon feedback loons,
SDME MOrense in extreme weather events and long-term changes in temperaiure ond ranfal potfems s expecied These will wnpoct our
business, but to o lesser magnitude than if g decarbomsation pathway isn't achieved  Our busingss continuity planning is informed by
both past and simulated events and ensures thar we remain restlient to any disruption caused by extreme weather events Business
crhicel operations that gre ol a ligher risk will be assessed for cdaptation if required
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Risk Management

we use our well-estabhished nsk management framework fo review our chimate-related risks and opportunities.

Risk governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Bourd ensures the Group’s internal control systems and risk management framework are etfective with the Audit
Committee having specific delegated authority to review the etfectiveness of the risk management and infernal control processes during
the year.

The Group Executive Team is responsible for the day-1o-day risk management and control. This ensures that management provides
leadership and direction to employees so that our overall risk-raking activity is kept within our risk appetite.

Bifta operates the 'Three Lines ot Defence’ model to manage the ongoing effectiveness of risk and conftrol, to define the relationship
between the varicus management and oversight functions, and to demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated 1he Internal Audit
tunction assesses our nisks and controls independently and objectively.

Risk appetite

The Biffa Topco Limited Board sets our overarching risk culture and appehte and ensures risk is managed appropriately across The
Group. Health & Satety, legal, regulotory and environmental risks (inciuding climate-related risks) are our major focus. Biffa dedicates
significant resources o managing and monitoring these risks, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside. In euch cose,
controls and mitigating actions aligned to the risk appetite are put in place.

Risk assessment

A risk assessment matrix 1s used to ensure that risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
matenglising and its potential Impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual nisk, after
considering mitigating actioens and controls. We also identify any addihional activities that could be under taken to further mitigate the
risk.

For more information on our Risk Management Process please see the ‘Principle risks and uncertainties’ section.
Emerging risks
In addition to kriown risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks and the need for mitigation os part of our existing risk management

processes. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Teamn and the Audit Committee, and include risks relating to chimate
chunge such as vilernative tuels, tlooding, and infectious diseases.

Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management process 15 centratly coordinated. It utilises a risk management tool and considers the existing business
model and future strategy. Within this tool, climate-related 1isks have ¢ separate section, but these risks are also included within the
operaticnal risk profite for each area of the business where relevant. An established network of ‘Risk Champions’ is in place to facilitate
updates during the year. The Risk Champions are members of the senior management team and foke @ lead rele In engaging local
management 1o identify and regularly update risk information,

The Group Executive Team are updated regularly on the principal and emerging risks and ownership of each of these risks is assigned to
individuat members of the Team.

The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal and emerging risks, as identified and ossessed by management
through The gbove process. The Audit Committee aisc reviews summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit funchon, which
operates a rsk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Qur risk manogement systems are infendead to mitigate and reduce risk to the lowest extant possible, however, we cannot eliminate cll
risks 10 the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable und not absolute assurance against marerial
misstatement or loss,
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Metrics and Targets

we assess our effectiveness of integrating chimate-related tisks ond opportunities into our business throlgh the use of o series of business
relevant cimate change indicators

Qur targets are:

. Reduce our Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions by 50% by 2030 from o 2019 baseline (746,925 tCO2e) ond actueve Net Zero® by no later
than 2050, During FY24 we hope to receive validation from the SBTI for our 5cope 1, 2 and 3 emissions targets.

»  Introduce 10% non-fossil fuelled collection vehicles by 2025,

. Inerease collection route efficiency by 10% by 2025,

. Furchase 100% renewable energy by 2025,

TMes Ferc reten s e hie g o akine F Berswsser the amount of gresnhouse gos emigone podured and the oronnt remesed fons the armnspbars

Metic D [ a0es | 2m | 20m
Totat Sr:o;;r\ 1and 2 r;msswonq (t OFGTI‘DH*bOSE-d)V(TCOvE‘]‘ﬂ 524,367 537.950 533,187
% reduction in Scope L and 2 emissions since 2019 2980 2798 2862
i Scope 3 (1C0.e)” 566,065 622,170
7 "/:'Ja;ﬁ;nve fue[!ed cc;I;chon vehicles a 333 190
Collechon route efficiency difts per knn 050 049
% Increase mn (:ollexcvfmn route efficiency fram 2016 417 208

% renewable energy purchased ™

[ 100 100 51

nted e aree e by Bureow Yeetrus The independent assipary e ctatement 1an bie peiyec gr attp s ey Lnlfa coik fangronnabl by reras b ord performon e
Cre 22 ameiints e e vee b Dot 1a inefude e mipnct Af tae cinr 3 es fon sored e e eenied
STORminuNts ha e besnestated to relies 1 ine pet entage of rendwnble eaeiay pikcbnsed far emen whare Riffa conteals the eoeigy sipply ngresninn®

Comments an the data

1 [ e F 923 we dopten ¢ qew methodolsey 100 calonlaled emeissiong associcitéo with Scope 3 Categqesy L nurenased annas anc serires o Cotanory 5 (wos s generated
operahon 2 T aew pieshodoleqy means we are s quantity dato for thind-party woste rreatment/dispeosal winere peasibla rather than the spend oesec mesbocnlogy
Lo By 21 we meser aur mien poesfolin whers we cre respansble far he erergy sieplier finto a renewabilie ton ff

1% F¥22 hos been annthar chollenaging verr with Covid 13 impaching the start of the yeor and 2 inver shartaoes
heme er positiue pranress ns been mnce tewards our 202530 arget

3 T allection ronte offoion: v was s grificanthy impncted bw

To lead in UK sustainoble woste management it 1s critical that we reduce our own carbon emissions and continue to develop our ability to
offer low carbon services to nur customers. Our emissions reduction target is built into the Group Balanced Business Plan (BBP) This
nfluences our divisional BBPs which in furn determines semior leaders' remuneration policy. Where relevant, other targets suthned in our
sustainabllity strategy are ncorporated nto our divisional BBPs.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

we have seen o reduction in our Scope 1 and 2 corbon emissions of almost 30% compared 16 our 2019 baseline!. When taking into account
our purchasing of renewable encrgy?, this reduction is 31%.

This has been ochieved through the continued improvement ot our landfill gas capture and efficiency guins within our uperations, including
the removal ot 56 diesel RCVs to date as a result of our acquisitions since the launch of our sustainchbility strategy, equating to a suving of
1,600 tCO2e per year.

In FY20 we transitioned our portfolio 1o a new energy management system to aid more granulor data analysis. Following
recommendations from our annual SECR oudits, carried out by an independent auditor, we have completed a series of actions, including ¢
Non-Half Hourly (NHH) meter replacement exercise and creation of an indepencent site list, to allow us 1o have greater understanding of
our eleciricity usage and quickly identify problems. During FY23 we hove begun work on business area infensity metrics, helping us to
normatise electricity usage as the business continues o grow

During the year we have implemented a Computer Aided Facilities Management System which has cllowed for the development of
regional networks, reducing the mileage travelled for reactive maintenance. We also operate a rolling upgrode programme of energy
efticiency improvements across our sites, In FY23 we have titted 7 sites with external lghting timeclocks and installed LEDs across 18 sites,
A Building Management System has been installed at our Head Gffice 1o control the Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC)
system effectively. It is estimated that these improvements will save ¢ 751COZe per year.

Building on the successful roll out of energy and urility audits in our Municipal business in FY22, during FY23 our Resources and Energy
division have undertaken energy and utility audits o idennify potential areas for encrgy efficiency improvements to be made. By
identitying our sites individual energy usage, we can take more effective measures To reduce the energy consumption The plan for FY24 15
to rell out o similar audir across our I&C estate.

As o result of our positive progress to date, we are well on course 1o achieve our susteinahility strategy targets to reduce carbor emissions
by 50% by 2030.

UK Greenhouse gas ({GHG') Emissions and Energy Use Data

Emissions from: (in tonhes CO2e*) 2023 2022 2021
Scope 1 496959 507,630 506,228
Scope 2 (Market-basedy 15.641 16,079 20,555
r‘rséope 2 (Locatien-based). Electric ty, heat, steam and cooling™ 27,408 30,520 26,%1-?_ I
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Market-based)*™ 512,600 523709 526,583
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (Location-based 524,367 537,950 533,187
Scope 1 and 2 (Market-based) infensity rahio - 1CO.e per £mrevenue o 204 263 505
Sc;pe 1 and 2 {Locanon-based) intensity ratic - 1CO, per £m revenue 311 373 512_-
Scope 1 and 2 (Market-based) mntensity ratio - 1CO.e per employee 47.40 5375 63.52
Seope 1 and 2 (Location-based) intensity ratio - 1CO.e per employee 48.55 55.21 64,72
Total Scope 3*** 646,065 622,170 n/a
TCarbon dioxde equivalent (€O e) s a standard unit in carbon aceetnhing 1o quan ity greenlicse gas Bissiariy, BN sslolls reductions aie corbon cedits

mited assurance provided by Bureuu Ventas The independent assurance sturement con be vewed ut hitps //weww bitfa co ukssusTandbihty/reports and-pertonance
Y2 amounts bave peen recalcutatec To e jude the impact of the Vindor doguisimon duling toe phioe petod

Comments on the data

1 8 Ha Lollects and reports envionmmental data i accordarce with the guidelnes of The Gieenhouse Gds Protoeul The CGZe emessiuns weie calculetes using e BEL 2022
emission tactars We hove followed the GHG Protocot Scope 2 Guidonce sequining dudl tepor filiyg using Twu ermission factors tor each sife Morker bosed und Lecotion bused
Priot to FY21 The Location-based method has been used as u proxy fur The Marker-posed method

2 sLope 1 entompasses dinect GHG ermissions from enetgy generated from tossil fuels used within ol opelutbons sucn as diesel, gas und ol 11 alsw mngludes oue lanafdl gas

enuLsILis Scope 2 enconipasses Inditect GHG emissions from the on sile generahion and purchase of elecinegy using murke-besed ennssions dufo seope § encumpusses

mdirect GHG emeasions 0 Bitta’s value chan (upshream und downstrearn)

The duta repon ted 1s pused wnour operatiunal cortrol Reported emisswons ure withm the UK only ho direct operotions ere canied uut uitshure Our investiments 11 oint

wverlures und ussociales are mcluded within Category 15 of our Scope 3 einasions ds they tall outside ow uperatwnul contiol, Detuils of these mvestiments can be found i hete

28 1c the consolidated hrancial staternents

4 Suupe 3 emiss oy cludes purchused goods and ser sces, cootdl goads, tuel and energy related acfiviies, downsireom fransportation of sold products, wasTe generated m

CpeIations, basinesy el snployee commuting, ead-of -ife tregtiment fur prodocts sold by C56, leased gssets aig mvestments DLINgG fhe ved: we hove developed an

upared methcdalogy ong FY 24 s ow basehne bor Scope 3 eimissions as 11 is not possible 16 calculate 1he pron years gsing the uodoted methodology

whe have extended *he boundary uf our Scope 1, 2 and 3 ennssions o include ueawred comparnies The enissions asseciated witl e aoguned sompanmes nave not cacecded

wl

o

our enissions recaleulation rhreshold
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

Energy Consumption within the UK

Climate Change/GHG emissions table (kWh)i 2023 2022 2;:);1 B
Methane emissions (utilised) 350,479 389925 422215

B Diesel fuel used 554,071,615 457705737 342 3]6‘6')Qﬁ
R;ri-f;ii;!:eﬁ user 3.674,0853 77179734 71,590,025
Unleaded petrol used 1,236,825 443513 196,067
Kerosene used 2,501,887 87499 87542
l.PG" 3,215.745 3,073,594 3,080,661
Natural gas 9,626,811 9.389.522 9.226.118
HVO 4,393,177 1,670,603 -
Purchased electricity 108,628 860 108,025,000 21,440,688

”‘5;17fiwiui:>plie=cl elactricity o B 33,101,886 3:1.7:59.4817” 34,15‘5,1571" |
—Totul 720,841,318 6902.934,607 542,558,126

“ LS has heen rec nted troeclade <o riseng from disclesares pothe priol peood All ciher ddckosures in

Comments on the datg

1 In rofrolete the anove consumphion figures we dsed methordology bosed on the Streamlined Encrgy Carbon Reporting ©SFECRY romplanse seneme

7 e e rense A ki nttnbuten to iesel tiel dsed s due to onanerease i fleet size followang nequisifios combined witk red diesel’ nsnge beang repleeed By wlinle onesel The
armwth Al the business throncgi neaquisitiars has lead 1o on overall nereose in Tntol e wh used by the Omuop

3 e dato reported s energy used within the UK anly Fe eerey s useod otishore All Biffe's aperations are Uk based

4 SECR Arenis modited by Tarbnn Decaden
F 2005 phese 3 andit dy s by December 2025

Energy Generation

Genetahian (Gwi)

Carbhon henafit (k toanes CO 2

“hes toble are unnfles ted

2023 2022 2021
349 383 396
ol 81 07
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Biffa Topco Limited Board has overdll responsibility for risk management at Biffa, In support of this, risk management is firmly
embedded within our everyday business activities and our culture.

Governance

The Biffa Topco Limited Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
effective. The Audit Cormmittee supports the Biffa Topco Limited Board in the management of risk and has been delegated with authority
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control processes during the year,

Day-to-day risk management and control is the responsitility of the Chiet Executive Officer supported by the Group Executive Team who
ensure that management provides leadership and direction to our workforce so that our overali risk taking activity 1s kept within our risk
appetite,

Risk Management Framework
Biffa operates the ‘Three Lines Model’ fo manage the ongoing eftectiveness of risk and control, 1o define the relationship between the
various management and oversight functions, and to demonstrate how responsibilities are allocated.

The Internal Audit function ussesses our risks and controls independently and objectively. On a quarterly basis, management self-certify
that the key centrols within their area of responsibility have been operating effectively. The Internal Audit function independently validate
these results through sample testing.

Risk Appetite

The Board sets our overarching risk culture and appetite and ensures that we manage risk appropriately ucress the Group. Health and
safety, investment, legal and regulatory risks are our top priority. Biffa dedicates significant resources und tocus 1o managing and
monitoring these risks, with other key risks consicered and reviewed alongside This.

Management assess the appetite for risk, which the Board has considered and agreed. The Group categorises these risks Info various
areas, including interest rate risk; inflation risk; commaodity risk; currency risk; dispasal risk and energy risk, This assessment includes the
exposures and the associated mitigations. This enables Bitta 1o have informed decision making in line with its risk appetite, ensures
confidence in the response to risks, enables fransparency over the principal risks tuced and how these are managed.

Risk Monagement Processes

The Growipy's risk management processes are centrally coordinated via a second ine risk management function working with an
established network of ‘Risk Partners’ in place to facilitate updates to risks during the year The Risk Partners are members of the senior
management team and take g lead role in engaging local management to identify, agree and update risk information on a regular basis,

We use o risk assessment matrix o ensure that all risks are assessed consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materighsing and 1ts potential impact. We assess both the inherent risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating acriens and controls. We also identify any additional activities, such as further actions, that could be undertaken to
further mitigate the risk.

The Group Executive Teom engages with the risk management function to review and update principal risks on a cychcul end-ro-end
process. Risks are updated individually by Group Executive Team members in conjunction with the risk management function on a regular
basis pricr to Group Executive Team meetings. The risks are then assessed ond reviewed and then further updoted as part of the cycle.
Qwnership of each of these risks are assigned to individual members of the team. They are responsible for ensuring the effectiveness ot
the infernal control systems and for implementing risk mitigation plans. The Audit Committee undertakes periodic reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, and mitigations, as identified and evaluated by management through the above process. The Audit Committee also
reviews sumimaries of the work undertoken by the Internal Audit funchion, which operates a nisk-based annual plan of assurance reviews,

Qur risk management systermns are intended to mitigate and reduce risk 1o the lowest extent possible, however we cannot eliminate il risks
to the Group. The risk management processes can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement of
loss.

Emerging Risks

In agdition to known risks, we have a horizon scanning review process to consider emerging risks. This entails involving key stakehalders,
including mernbers of the Group Executive Team and external third parties, in the identification of emerging risks along set timelines,
collating the information, reviewing and considering in-cepth analysis and then creating a risk radar fo illustrate the relative time horizons
and gssessments,

This enables us fo engage in a systematic examination of information to identify potential threats, risks, emerging issues und
opportunities. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive Team, the Bitta Topco Limited Board and the Audit Comnttee, and
include risks relating tc future environmental, sccial and governunce challenges, funding the transition 1o a greener envirgnment,
technologica! changes and the use of alternative fuels.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk movement

Risk level

o Inereasing @ Stable

o Decreasing | o

Mediim High

" Strategic/

Changes in
Government policy
and legal and
regulatory
compliance

Risk movement and
fevel

0 High risk level

Risk impact
Reputatianal
Regulatary
Fincingial

The Group operafes m a highly
requlated industry and any
chonges to Government palicy,
requirermnerts with, ot failllire by our
strff or third parties who we do
business with to comply with lows
nr regulations or to uphald our high
c~thical standards coutd have an
ardveise impaet on the Group's
nperatians and results

Thr Group was oworded the
lngstics contract for the Depasit
Return Scheme (DRSY i Seotland,
It hadd eriginally been planned to
Fommence in Auaist 2024 but this
has heen concelledd Monngement
remidin ophinustic. thot Riffe can
secyre eqguivalent DRS controcts ot
ryioter date

A ke ndostry oren nf nigkors
tanedfill tox compliane e, n
porticular the misclossification of
wsTe causing the incoirect rate of
tandfill tex to be poid Historically,
the Group how miode nnumber of
mratenal payments to HMRC due
to what HMRC peiceive to be nen-
complinnee with tendfdl tr
olrdance

The current londfill tax enruiry to
arise poses 1 significont finandial
1k ta the business, given the scale
of the protective assessmants
1nsted by HMRC

Thetre remains 2 high lovel of
nric ertamty around the fiaed
outeome of this enguiny,

Expenernced and gualified teams.
supported by external advicers
where necessory, that monitor
changes and plan appropnate
mitigations and set policies and
procedires

Represontation on the
Environmental Services
Association and other extornal
hodes, imson with pohoy makers
ang Reguintors ot nationn! andg
luenl levels, responses o
(iow?rnmnnr/reguIMr!ry
consultations and sustamatibty
reporfing

Enviianmental cornplionce strateqgy
N place inclnding annually
roviewed targats and actions af

lese mal, etvvisiomied enel Group levels

Estabhshed comphane e policy and
procedires are m place to manage
ather requlotory complionee nigks,
such as kandfill tax, bribery, data
protection, mader slovery,
competition and veihcle aperating
liences

Indusiry leader i rensing
owareness nf mocern slavery risk
et founding member of the
Slewvery Free Allance

Tremnung for staff on a range of
complianee topics ncluding landoll
tev procedures, modern slavery,
anti-pribery. date protection and
competition

The Group has mnmgations in place
to recover some of the committed
rxponditure incurred 00 DRS An
msurance policy 1s alson ploce 10
reimburse the Group for some of
the costs not recavered through
fhe mitigating actiens above

we are working closcly with stakeholders
1 MaINtain our presence in the DRS
sthome struchure and have retainerd legal
advisors tn support

We continue to tully ca-operate with HMRC
n relction o the ongomeg landbll o
anquiry and are receving advic e flom
krnst & ¥Young

competitive threat
to business model

Risk movement and
fevel

@

Risk impaoct
Repuiationnl
Reauliatary
broninciot

Medium nisk lavel

Mnrkf“T_d_ls—;:lemn trom the
appicahon of new technelogy ancd
the advent nf new business morels
rould change the waste supply
rhein and adversely mpact Biffa’s
satabhshed operating asset hase
of a traditional callection networlk
nned processing facilities

Inferrictl brsiness Irnovation
Special Interest Group focuses on
market developments and acts as
an incubator for idens and new
business models

Contimnal campentor onaksis in
consider threats and changes to
the lanascope

Annncil stroteqy teview 1o ensure
that Bilig business model remains
current and competitive

Qngomg nvestment 10 oned
improvement of the customer
sxpahience througn digitisation,
improvend pracesses and
management infarmatian.

The business strateqgy was updated and
approvec by the boord ahgaed with ‘he
Svp

The Tnnovoton Speciofl Tnterezt Graup
contiied with good representaton from
the businews aind covering a large number
of Aisruptive Topics

Adaption of the My Beffo cligital o ustamise
platfarm has continued alongside the
estatlishmient of o redicated digatal team

A number it external evenf< were atisnded
and projects with key partrers
implemented o axtend our mncwition
rieteork
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Strategic
initiatives

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Financial
Operanional

High nsk level

Fuilure 1o deliver strategic
InitiaTives, such as energy recovery
lgcibties and business
franstormation, acquisition
integrations, commercial projects
and system implementatons,
Business transformation s focused
on our products and services, how
they ole sold and delivered, The
technology used and the online
services offered o customers

The key M&A risks are not being
able to find and sccure suitable
targets and risks and rssues that
arise post completion, that impoact
on the investment case.

As withrany such projects, there
are risks that the project fails to
ageliver the anticipated
improvements and/or benetits for
the budgeted investmenr,
adversely impacting reputation
and ocperating results.

Boord and Group Executive Team
sponscrship and leadership.

Selected software is g proven ‘off the
shelt' product.

Dedicated programme feam and
change networ k 1n place, with
experienced resources

Post-investment reviews of all
projects

Proven ERF technclogy, with
substantial UK and worldwide
reterence plants.

Limited recourse project structure

Due dihgence undertaken tor all MEA
fransactions, including use of
external advisers depending on
target value and complexity. A
standardised approach using an
established valuation modet 1s in
place with all fransaction

reviewed /opproved by the
Investment Cormmittee and (where
uppropriate) the Board

Dedicated corporate tinance
expertise in place, who together with
expenanced Bitfa subject matter
experts act as senior stakeholders
for the acquisimon process und help
drive cpportunities through the
pipeline.

The HR and payroll soluticr has heen built
and completed funchonal testing and will
be ready 1o implement n the coning
financiul year tollowing extensive festing,

The Finunce and Procurenignt Analys)s and
Cesign phase was completed ond signed
ott engbling the build ot 1he solution 1o
commence and the tirmelie and budget for
the solution to be retmed

The Salkes and Service worksream was
mobllised and has now etitered an initial
discovery phase.

At the year end date Newhuwst remained on
target 1o reach full operations in line with
plan. 1he sne became fully operational in
May 20235 and is performing in hine with
expectations.

Protos construchion has been impacted by
the avaikibiity ot steel tollovang the
Russian invasion of Ukiaine - mitigation
and contingency megsuies emplayed.

JV Steerco meetings held monthly 1o review
progress and agree actions

Completed $ acguisitions 0 the year; Forge
(1&C, share purchase), DJIB (I&C. trade and
assety) and Total Recycling Services
(Industrivl Services, share purchase)

Long-term
contracts and
tendering

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Financicl
Reputational
Operationat

Medium risk level

ihe Group 15 exposed to risks
mherent i lorg-lerm fixed-gpice
contracTs, in parhcular ints
Mumcipal business and Resources
& Energy division and related
operatons,

Risks include inaccurate long-term
cost estimates due to changes in
the external operoling environmeni
and market dynarmics that lcad to
materal deviatiens from initiat
underlying assumptions

Group Delegated Authorities Policy
tor the review /approval of ids by
senior management, Investment
Cummuttee and the Buard.

Material bids are compiled by
dedicared development Teams with
signiticant expertise and experience

Protection fram chonge of law or
force majeure for unforeseen
crcumstances 1s agreed in contracts,
where possible

A contract risk framework 15 10 place
to identify key commercial/legal
risks and confirm through the
governance process that these have
been considered and mihgated

we are moving gradually the nisk protile

w th customers (pornicularty around labour)
as and when contracts come up for re-nd
ar extension A maore transparent poss-
through concept 1+ starting 10 emerge
although fhis will obviously toke tine to
become tully embedded
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Health & safety

Risk movement and
level

= Madium risk level

Risk impact
Reputahioneal
Regulatary

Business
continuity, cyber
security and IT
resilience

Risk movement and
level

High risk level

Risk impact
Financial
Reptatinnal
Ciporatonal

Riffar’s operations present inherent
H&S risks to our employees, our
customers and the wider public

Viokations of H&S laws/frequlations
coulld have o material adverse
effect on Biffo's businass anc
reptatian

Group HES Director reports to the
CEQ.

Active and regular engogement by
senior management including weekly
reporting and ealls with the Group
Frecutive Team

Inclusion of HES rargets aned
nbiectives within Group Balenmced
Business Plans with one of the five
pillars being ‘Sofer Together”

Embedded palicies, standards and
procedures it place acress Biffa for
the systematic control of sigmficant
H&S riske

Primary authority relationship with
Hoampshire & Tsle of Wight Fire ana
Rescle Service enables access fo
advice and counsel an fire risk 155ues

Mamtained managament system
wertificaton of 150 45001 2018,

Ta sgnificant disripTion 1o Riffas

mfrastructure, inchuchng IT
systems, could potentially bave an
impact on the activaty of the
Group’s custoners, such as
inreenserd billing times,
interruptions 1o collection
operatians and processing
Inqistics, and additiondl casts

Additionally. 1he theft, Inss,
dostrirction, risappropnation, or
ieleaise of sensitive and/or

¢ ontclantial infarmation could
result i busimess disruption, doto
protechion preoch, neqnfivr
prblicity or brand domoge.

Crisis managemeant and cmergency

response plans in place for key sites
and operations.

Server mfrostructure supporting key
IT services hosted in Micrasofs Asure
Clotd prowding resifience, foilover
and backoup cervices

150 27001 cond Cyber Essentials Plos
certifaicaton in place

Intrusion detechon in place and o
cloud-based ‘always on’ secuarity
service pravided by Microsoft
protecting against key cyber threats

Established data protechion policy
and proceduras fo ensure
complionce

_ontt NEBOSH Process Sofety

Investment N EcoOnline for incident
mnnngement, audit & inspechion, and nigk
management

Cooypany-ude adaption af TOPSET
methadalogy for incident mvestigations
generating increasingly useful root cotise
analysis,

Full review of all fire nick assessments e
every property it the Biffa portfolio

Restructured H&S leadershiz team with
enhanced azarancea and prapct
management forus

Introduction of Deep Dive assurance
reviews lonking ot key sk (Fire Mog ey
and Pedestrion satety i FY23)

Developrent of suite of learning from
incidents’ materials ncluding new Group
stondord ond wideo lessons’ shaving
learning from key incidents

New processes for collechion point risk
assessments for I&C to mmimise rks to
drivers and customers

Extensive development programme for HAS
team e liding [IIRSM Risk Management

Regular IT%PCUHW update prowiciecd lmr_
boord

IT secunty dashboard developed rnd
ploce,

A vumber of TT securty fraintng and
interventions delivererd

Some additional sectirity mensures aned
features implemented for bonrd ancd
oxerifve W\E’,‘IﬂhE‘l 5

Micrasnft Secure scoreimproved by 27%

Transition to more comprehensive Mult
Factor Authentic ation

" Attraction and
retention of tatent

Risk movement and
level

<

Risk impact
Financoiod
Opetational

Medium risk level

The inability 1o source and rerain
appropriarely priced and skillec
Inbonr fo monntam competitive
arivaniage. could hove ©material
arlverce effect an Biffa's tiisiness
rostilte, aparctions, finanoinl
condihon and prospects

Ongoing review of the recrintment
and retention of key workers such as
drivers

Benefits cppropriate and
comparable fo matket

Talent and management
development pragrammes deployed
ar senior levels and progressively 1o
other lavels going farward

Foundahion | iving Wono now minimnms ey
leval In Riffa (exc iding C55)

Dnver oftrmon hos reth e e 3o pre
pandemic levels. recruitment process
improved utiising internal recrintment team
for drivers

Job familes wmplemented ter staif roles

and pay adjustments made fo onsure

comparanle fo morket

Family feiepdly enefirs imnrnund |

Gradhate programime intracdr e

Adyaneedd Leadarshis Proegramme AL P)
continues

Biffo Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023

24



Principal risks and uncertainties

Commodities
market and
pricing volatility

Risk movement and
level

@

Risk impact
Financial
Operational

Medium risk level

Bitta produces sigmiticant volumes
of recycled commodities for resale
Commedities produced include
various paper grades, card,
plastics, and ferrous and non-
ferrous metals

In addmon, Bitta generates power
tror tenewable sources and
chunges to electricity export prices
impact revenues and profits
achieved.

Markets for thewe recyelate
producTs have individual supply
and demand dynamics impacting
both price and availabihity of off-
tuke.

Gngong rmonitoring und
improvements to product quality
within recycling processes

Off-taker strategy tc hmit
dependency, where able, an non-
OECD markets.

Commodity price risk sharing within
long term commercial contracts,

Power price hedging policy in place,
which Is regularly revicwed.

Route to market Power Purchase
Agreement with top Tier ott-taker
gives offtake certaiiry and credit
worfhiness.

OCC sules in particulet moved to OECD
miarkels with Turkey now @ major ott-tokes

We have continued our prugress with 75%
of LA contracts now on comimodity risk
share

Power hedging Is reviewed imonthly by the
Energy wWorking Group.

FPAs 10 place far power supply up to ena of
FY 26

Finance
availability/
investment

Risk movement and
level

&

Risk impact
Financial

Low risk level

If the Group were to not maintain
udeyuate cash bolances, the
Group wolld be unable to pay
suppliers, payroll and other
credifors In G fimely manner or on
agreed terms This could result in
delays or ceasing of operations,
borh of which could lead e
reputetiondl damage and a
deterioration In inancial
performance.

If the Group were 1o fall to comply
with any of the fincnowl or non-
finanoial covenants inirs credit
tacities (due, for example, to
ncreasing interest rates and a
deterioration in financicl
perturmance), it could result in o
drtrinlt ond the acgoloration of the
Gioup's obligations 1o repay those
borrowings, increosed borrowing
costs or cancellation of certain
credit tacilities.

Underperformance, a large one-off
cash outflow or untavourable
interest rate movements would all
ncregse the risk of a covenant
breach,

Significant and flexible bank funding
taciity with substantial headroom fo
enable the Group 1o progress
strategic pnorities and
accormmaodate any downside
performance risk As at the end of
the vear, the Group held u cash
bulance ot £40 8m

£225m revolving credit facility (RCF")
expining in March 2026 held by the
Company's immediate parent As at
the end of the year, £102m of the
faciity was undrgwn Drowdowns can
be requested and processed af short
notice If the need arises

1o addimon to the bank tunding
tacility, the Group has over £50m of
undrawn asset hnancing tacilines,
although these are uncomrmitfed.

Ongomg monmitoring of financial and
non-financial covenants with regulas
updates to The Board.

Incorporate cash performance and
tunding requirement considerdtions
inlo budgeting and forecasing
processes.

Consider the impact oh covenants
when making key strategic decisions
on acguisittons, disposals and capital
expenditure.

Ongoing monitoring of the status of
the HMRC landtill tax enquiry with
reguiar updates to the Biffa Topco
Limited Board.

The Group has sigruficant headroom
on the lencing covenants and intends
to maintain high levels of headroom
guing forward This, combined with
the fiexibility in the busimess model,
enabies the Group 1o mitigute any
tinancial risks that materialise

The Company’s debt was par iially
restructured when ECP’s takeover was
completed With regards tu tlexible
facilities, The existing £350m RCF held by
the Compony wos replaced with o £225m
RCF held by 1its immediate parent On 23
May 2023 the facility was mcreased agam
to £325m Refer 1o Note 23 end Note 34 for
moie infurmation on the wider debt
resfructure.

Increased debt levels and rising interest
rates have reduced the headroom on The
Group's lending covenants, parnicularly
Wnterest cover
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Economic
environment

Risk movement and
level

= High risk level

Risk impact
Fctind gl

Economic congitions in the LUK
may have an adverse impact on
the Group's operational and
financral performance

The Growvp exposure inchides

» Political, social and
mncroeconomic rsks refating to
the Uk's exit from the £U

= Any econnmie wenkhess thot
leads 10 reduced volumes of weaste
and recyclate

= A rleterioration in
MACGRCONAMIC conditions
resulting in increased pricing
pressure and customer furnaver
« Rising interest rates resulting in
increased cost of borrewng,
reducing the headroom on the
Gronp's lending covenants,
particularly interest cover

= Supely chain discuphion, longer
leeset tines and price inflrtinn

The Group has revenues and costs
that are impacted by the value of
Sterling relotive to key currend ies
such as the US Nollar or the Euro
This prowides some degree of offset
ond natural heclge

To improve short-term earmngs
wsibility and reduce the susceptibility
of finoncial performance to price
fluctuotions, the Graup enters imia
forward contrricts for:

« The sale of electiicity
+ SHOFE-TRFM CUTeNcy BxXpOSUres
* The purchase of fuel

Biffa provides services 1o customers
i the public and private sectors nght
across the UK economy The breadth
of customers offers a degree of
protection against ecanomic
pressures thet may affect specific
markets and industries.

the Group has acgess to o Revolving
Credit Facility with g number of
refationship Bomks which provides
additional sources of funding. Cash
and hguichity levels are regularly
monitored to ensure the Group can
meet 13 obligations and strategic
objectives

The Group continues to montar this rsk,

specifically the impact of increasing

interest rates, inflationary pressures and

supply chain constramts and remcims

confident that existing mhaatinns enable
the impact of any weakening conditions to

be mimimised

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023

26



Non-Financial Information Statement

The Non-Financiat Reporting Reguirements set out in the Act are addressed in the statement below.

Main policies and standards which govern our approach

Environmental informatien
Envirohiment, sustainability and carben policy

Protection of the environment and the chmate 15 g cornerstone of
Bitta's business 11 is undarpinned by our Vision and Purpose 10 be
the leader In UK sustainable waste manogement and fo chonge the
way people think about waste It is delivered by our sustainability
and operational environmental compliance strategies. Bitfa is »
committed 1o s compliance obligations us well as promoting high
standards of environmental, sustancbility, carbon and energy
management ar alt our workplaces, and in all our activities,

«  Colleagues
+  Whistleblowing policy

The Group has a fong-established whistleblowing policy by which all .
employees may, in contidence, report any concerns that the interests
ot the Company or others are af risk.

« Diversity and inclusion policy

Our Diversity Policy is designed to provide equal opportunities in .
emgployment and to avoid unlowful discrimination.

Bitfa will not discriminate directly or indirectly in our recruiiment,
employment and post-employment prachices because ot dge, .
disability, sex, gender reassignment pregnnncy, maternity, racc

(which includes colour, nationality and ethnic or netionat ongins),

sexual orientation, religion or belief, ar because someone 1s married

or in a civil parmership.

Health, safety and wellbeing policy

. Health, safety and wellbemng is the highest priority within the .
business and 8iffa 15 committed to monitoring and reviewing
performance on a regular and engoing basis. Our goal is 10
keep our people, our customers and the public safe through
etfective leadership and risk manogement, promoting high .
standards of health, safety & wellbeing in the workplace and in
all cur acnivifies,

+  Social matters

+  Sustainable procurement policy

. Biffa 1s a sighificant purchaser of goods and services. This .
requires us 1o ensure our procurement practices are not only
responsible, but alse environmenially, economically, and
ethically sound.

How we monitor the effectiveness of the policies

Responsibility for environmental compliance sits with the Board.
Cur Environmental, Sustamability and H&S Teams work together
across the business ensuring we meet our compliance obhgations
by marmioring, evaluating, auditing, coaching and tramning.

Wwe repart on our progress against our sustainability strategy
targets annually in our Sustainability Report,

Afl whistleblowing reports are entered in the Group Whistleblowing
Register and are thoroughly invesrigated.

The output of an investigation 15 typically reviewed by the Group
HR Director, General Counsel and Company Secretary and other
senior leaders as appropriate, dependent on the nature of the
complaint,

The Audit Cormmittee monitors the Group's whistleblowing policy
and arrangements.

Every employee is required To assist us to meet our commitment 1o
provide egual opportunities i employment and ovord unlawful
discrimination,

we have manager guidelines for diversity, helping them o consider
diversiiy/equal opperfunity cbliganens. Managers are wiso advised
to make reascnable adjustments to our standard working practices
to overcome barriers caused by disability and we have a Flexible
working Policy in place 1o support requests for vanations fo
standard working practices.

Employees are expected to report and discuss health, safety and
welleing matters with therr managers, and Groug Health & Safety
business partners who will offer or obtain furthel expert advice,
where necessary.

Employees are encouraged 1o contribute good ideas and
improvements and report any shorffalls so management can make
informed decisions and improve standards ocroys the business.
we monitor performance through our LTI rate and hove a Target in
place 1o reduce lost ime injuiles by 50% by 2030 from our 2019
basehne.

Biffo works with key stakeholders both within the business and
externally in order o share best practice, identify new
opportunities and deliver programmes that promote cur aims for
sustainabie procurement.

Performance is monitored and recarded, and key performance
measures such as carbon ermissions reduchons are regularly
reported
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Social motters confinued

Suppliers - social responsibility and ethical stondards

Cur supphers of goods and services must comply with all releveant .
legislation and international standards including trading policy, child

and forced lahour, health and sefety of workers, non-discrimingtion,
employvment lowe, humaon nights. bnbery and corriphon We procire .
under the Code of Ethics of the Chartered Tnstitute of Purchasing

gl Soeoly.

» Corporate responsibility policy

Our corparate responsibility framework encompasses our people, .
heallh, safety & welibeing, communities, the ehvironment,

marketplace, relanionships with stakeholders and commitment o
busimess ethics and concluct .

Employee volunteering pelicy and procedure

Biffa recognises thot faciiitating the voluntary involvernent of our .
employees in community-based projects can result in a range of

posttive outcomes,

Biffa witt grant one day’s paid leave per annum, in line with an .
smployee’s contracted hours, to eligible employees to get involved in
teom volunteering oppor funifies within our local commimines and
environmental-hased projects,

. Human rights

. Modern slavery and human trafficking policy

The policy sets out the measures, systems and procedures wiich .
Bifta employs to minimise the spportunity for modern slavery and
hurmaon trafficking taking ploce within the Group and within our

supply chom

+«  Anti-corruption and anti-bribery

«  Anti-bribery and gifts and hospitaiity policies

Giur palicres set aut the standards that are expected of Qe .
working at Riffa, ond third parhes working with Biffrs, They inchide

the requiremenis on qiving ond receiving business guifts ond

hospitality. -

we have d social responsibility to our suppliers when problems
arse with o supplier’s performance, we work with the company
concerned to help them 1o mest requirements,

we will be far and lawtl i our dealings bt avaid army canduct
wiech could be counteractive 10 nur corporate socal responsibility
and ethical standards. we 1eserve the nght to disconfinue business
with suppliers who do not comply with our requiremeants in this
ared.

Our standard trading ferms with suppliers are 60 days This has
been the policy since May 2008 and s applicable 1o all existing and
new suppliers abke.

Wwe are committed to complying with our parmits as well as
promoting high stondards an all of our sttes, prermises, and in afi of
our activities

Qur Group Executive Team is responsible for the delivery of the
policy ai a business level, with oversight and direchion from the
Biffa Topco Limited Board Tts success is measured through aur
sustainatnhty KPIs, which track our performance ocross three key
areas (bulding o circular economy, tackiing cimate change nnd
caring for our people, supporting our commumties), enabling 1 1o
deliver against our responsible business objertives

Managers are responsible for assessing local operational neads
and proposed volunteering activity, toking intfo account the
benefits to botiy the employee and fo Biffa

Monagers will also consider persanal developrment and where
appropriate, volunteering may be offered as one of the methods of
meehing deveiopment neecls.

Biffo conducts nsk assessments oeross irs achivitios and supply
chain i order to identify any area of it~ operations that might
represent tugher potential risks for slavery ar humean trafticking to
ocour

Biffo works with specific recruriment ageacies and labour
resourcing partners who are equally committed fo ensuring the
wark enviranment 15 free of stavery anad homan frafficking

All Biffa collieagues and managed service providers have 1egular
rneetings with onsite gccount managers where we discuss therr
actions regarding the prevention of modern slavery, [t is o standing
irem on monthly business meeting agendas and quarterly business
reviews Labour providers also give biweekly npdates un ony
activity of concern.

We produce an annual moderm slavery statement, wiich e Biffa
Topco Limited Board reviews and approves

Bifta enforces o strict prohubition ngamst the giving, recening,
nffer, acceptance, payment or authorsation of any bribes, and also
ngamst any ofher form of corruptan

we also deraand transparency and integrty in ol aur busimsss
dealings, to avoid any 'mproper odvantage, or the nppearanre of
rjliestionable conduct by our employees or thurd parties with wihon
we do business.

Ay istonces of poterntial or actiicd non-compliance with these
policies are fully Investigated and reported to the Audhit Committae
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the consolidated financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023

This Directors’ Report sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company in compliance with the Companies Act 2006 (‘the
Act’).

Directors
The Directors who served during the period and up to the date of signing were:

M Topham

S Parsans (appeintfed on 31 March 2023)
R Pike (resigned on 31 March 2023)

C Chesney (resigned on 26 January 2023)
K Lever (tesigned on 26 January 2023)

D Martin (resigned on 26 January 2023)
C Miles (resigned on 26 January 2023)

L Morant {resigned on 2¢ January 2023)

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurcnce

The Company's Articles of Associotion pravide for the Directors and officers of the Company to be appropriately indemnitied subject 10
the provisions of the Act. In addition, the Group maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers. Neither the Company’s
indemnity nor insurance covers claims arising from dishonesty or fraud.

Branches
The Company does not have any branches ourside the UK.
Compuany Registration

Biffa Limited 1s a private company Imited by shares and is incaiporated in England and Waoles with company number 10336040 and
registered address Coronation Road, Cressex, High wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 317

Engagement with employees
The Company puts employee engugement af the teart of its pecple strategy and plans, os detailed in the Strategic Report.
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes and abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that ther employment with the Company
continues and that appropriate fraining is arranged. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development and promaotion
of disobled persons should, as far as possible, be identical with that of other employees.

Dividend
The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022, 6.89p).
External Auditor

So far as each Director 1s aware, there is no relevant information of which the external auditer {Deloitte LLP) 1s unaware, Egch Rirector has
taken all steps that ought 10 have been taken as a Director to make themselves aware of any relevant audif information and 1o establish
that Defaitte LLP are aware of that information,

The auditors, Deloitte LLP, will be proposed for reappaintment in accordance with section 485 of the Act.
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group reports its UK Greenhouse gas (‘GHG’) Emissions and Energy Use Datfa, Energy Consumption in the UK and Energy Generation
duata within Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting section on pages 19 to 20.

Financial Risk Management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: maorket risk (including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency nisk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programimes tocus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Greup's financial pertormance. Financial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.
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Post Balance Sheet Events

T April 2023 the Group acquired the entire issued share capetal of Fsterpet Limited and 49.9% of the ssued share cappital of Esterform
Pearckaging {imited. These businesses will form part of the Polymers business in the Resources & Energy division.

A restructure of the Group's debt become effective on 23 Moy 2023, with she following changes:

Term loans increased from £100m on 31 March 2023 1o £235m
Rolling credit facility increpsed from £225m on 31 March 2023 to £325m
Priviate placemieonts decreased from £345m on 31 March 2023 to £260m

On 7 June 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remain committed to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotiand,
watild be delayed until Qctober 2025 at the earliest. An announcernent had been made previously on 18 April 2073 that the start date of
the scheme would be defayed from August 7073 to March 2024, Circulority Scotland Limited ('CSL). the scleme administrator. entered
admimsiration on 20 June 2023 as its funding was withdrawn and was therefore unable 1o meet its contractuat obligations 1o Biffa and
ofher parties. The Joint Administrators’ Propasals were released on 28 July 2073, indicating thot at best Biffa would receve an
immaterial portion of the total amount due from CSIL.

In May and June 2023, £ 7.8m was pad 1o EVP preference shareholders ond ex-management in relation 1o the EVP dispute disclosed
Note 29. AT 31 March 2023, the total liaoility was £17.8m. The remaining £10 0m is expected to be paid in the vear ending 28 March 2025

Refer to Note 34 to the finuncial stafemenis for more information.
Looking to the future

we have a well defined and ambitious investment plan that will see us continue to grow the business over the ¢ ommg years, The
foundations are in ploce to enoble us to do so, whilst retoining the bolonce between chonging the wiry peeple think about waste,
sustainability ond delivering strang financial performanice The LUK Government's aimbition to maove 1o a circifar economy (s aiso expected
to provide further opportirities to support aur growth.

O hehalf of the Board.
..u,:,-_‘:l&,\

Michael Tophom

Director

Biffa Limited

Registered in England and Wales No. 10336040
11 September 2023
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements
in accordance with applicable low and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financiat statements for each financial year. Under that taw, the Directors are required 1o
prepare the Group financigl statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and [nternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The financial statements also comply with the IFRSs as
issued by the TASB and as adopted by the UK

The Directors have also chosen 1o prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give o true and fair view of the stare of aftairs of the Group and Company and of their profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the Directors are required fo:

»  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

»  Make judgements and occounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

«  State whether the Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject To any material
depurtures disclosed and explained in the financial stafernents,

. Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presumne that the Company will confinue m
business.

. In preparing the Group tinancial statements, International Accounting Standord 1 requires that Directors:

s« Property select and apply accounting policies.

. Present information, including accounting policies, in @ manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information.

. Provide additicnal disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS Standards are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular tfronsocthions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial

performance,

= Maoke an assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible tor keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s und Company's
transactions and disciose with reasonable accurdcy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to
ensure that their tinancial statements comply with the Act. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for tgking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are respensible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdon governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may ditter from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
I anr opinion

. the financial statements of Biffa Limited (the ‘parent company’y and 115 subsidiaries (the ‘group’) give a trie and fair view of the stafe
of the grotip’s and of the parent company’s affairs gs at 31/03/2023 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

+ the group finanoal statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdem adopted intemational accounting
standards and International Financial Reporting Standards {IFR5<) as 1ssued by the International Accolmting Standards Board
(TASE),

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Acconnting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework™, ancd

- the financial statements have been prepared in accardanice with the requirements of the Comparies Act 20046,

. Wwe have audited the finanaial statements which comprise:

. the consolidated income statement.

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

+  the consolidated and parent company stotement of financial posttion,
. the consoiigated and parent company sfatements of changes in eguity;
- the consalidated statement of cash flows; and

. the relaterd notes 1 fo %4,

The financial reportiig framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements 1s appbeable law, United
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the TASB The financial reporting fromework that has been
appliec 1In the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable aw and United Kingdnmi Accounting Standards,
including Fmancial Reparting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Basis for apinion

we conducted our audit i accardance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (15As (UK and applicable law Our responsibililies
under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our repart

we are independent of the group and the parent compeny ih accordance with the ethical requirements that are releveant to our audn of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC's"y Ftiucal Standard. and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accardance with these reguirermants, we believe that the audit evidence we have obidined 1s sufficient anag
appropriate 1o provide a basis for our opinion

Conclusions relating to going concern

Ir auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ Use of the going concern basis of accounting In the preparation
of the financial statements is approprate.

Our evalugrion of the directors’ gssessment of the group's and parent company’s ability to continue 10 adopt the going concern Basis of
accounting included

. held discussiaons with management to understand the Group's process In respect of its going concern assessment;

. reviewed the reasonableness of ossumpnions gpphed by management In prepanng its FY24 budget ond S-year plan;

«  performed an analysis on the Group's results against budget to assess historical accuracy,

. assessed the level of heodroom avalable to the Graup from its loan facilities and evaluoted the risk of bregehing covenants,

. challenged manogement’s reasonable worst-rase analysis and whether it is apprapriately plousible but severe ond performed
sensitivity analysis on key variables,

»  assessed the oppropricteness of considerations and assumphons regarding the impact of the HMRC landfill tax enguiry and the
Group's ability to settle o potentia! hatality in the going concern penad,

. evaluated the addittanal external funding facilities accessible fo the Group;
. obtuined and performed analysis on post year end results and benchmarked this against management’s forecnsts,
. assessed the disclosure i Note Lo the financial statements obout whether the directors considered it appraprate to adop: the
going concern basis of pecounting in preparing the financiol stotements, and
. assessed the going roncern umpact of the debt restructure disclosed in the post balance sheet events Nate 34,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or condifions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern for o period of ar
least twelve months from when the financict statements are authorised for issue.

Cur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect 1o going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial staternents and our ouditor's
report thereon The directors are respensible for the other infurmiation contained within the annual report Qur apinion on the financial
statements does not cover The other information and, except fo The extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Cur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing sa, consider whether the other information is matenally inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge abtained in the course of the audit, or oTherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are reguired to determine whether this gives nse to a
material misstatement in the tinanciol statements themselves 1f, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstarement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the tinancial
statements and for being satistied that they give a true and tair view, and for such infernal contral as the direcrors determine 1s necessary
to enalole the preparation of tinancial statements thot are free from material misstatement, whether due to traud or error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors erther intend 1o liguidate the group or the parent company or To cease operations, or have no realistic alternotive but ro do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the oudit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reuscnable assuronce about whether the finoncial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue on cuditor's repor It that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but 1s not a guarantee that an audit conducted in occordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can anse from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or i the aggregate,
they could reascnably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taker on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website af:
www.frc.org.uk /auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s repar?.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, cutlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregukarities, including froud. The extent 1o which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and ts control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of their pelicies
and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management, internal audit, those
charged with Governance and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularifies, including those that
are specific 1o the group’s business sectar.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory tramewoerk that the group cperates in, and identified the key faws and
regulations that:

- had a direct effect on the determination of matertal amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These included UK
Companies Act, pensions legislation and fax legisletion in all relevant jurisdictions where the Group operates; and

. do not have a direct effect on the financial statements pbut compliance with which may be fundamental 1o the group's ability fo
cperate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the landfill tax regulations and the Envirobment Act 2021

We discussed omong the audit engagement tfeam including relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensicns, IT and valuation speciolists
regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for froud end how and where fraud might occur in the
financial statements,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and aur procedures parfaormed to
address them are described below:

- ILmpairment of Company Shop Group Goodwill: We considered the reasohobleness of the model (drawing on input from specialists in
FY22 os ihe model was unchanged), involved valuntion speciolists in determining reasonable ranges for discount rate and Yong term
growth rate, evaluated reveniie growth and grass margin, as well as assessing the relevant disclosures in Notes 1 & 9;

= Completeness of Municipal Onerous controcts We obtained on understanding of relevant conirols in place to idennfy contrants which
may be nnetors and determine whether the potential lichlity is approprictely accounted for and disclased in the financial statemertts
We olso assessed the contract terms for contracts with lower margins, assessed forecast assumptions around inflation & wages, anc
onolysed forecost future performonce against istorical confract resufts, ond where cppropriate, bndged any expected improvement
n perfarmance to speaific one-off events in the year and considered whethey they would reoccur, Finally, we assessed the disclosures
in Note 18 to evoluate whether 1t is m accordance with the requirements of 1AS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent
Ansets”;

«  landfill Accounting We pinpointed the fioud risk fo certain gross cost estimates on higher risk sites, therefore our response focused
on assessing ond challenging the underiying data ond key judgements used in determining the provision, Specific considerations were
paid to long-term energy prices, included as part of our assessment of gross cost estimates for highey risk sites. Furthesmere, we
performed cin dssessment of the regsonableness of the gross cost estimates used by management, by perfarming o retraspective
revtew of the costs incurred in comparison o those originally estimated.

HMRC Jandfill fox inquiry: wWe obtained on understanding of the assumpticns and the estimation process for tox provisioning. we
engaged interndl forensic speciaiists 10 evolunte the scope and findings of the Group’s internal analysis which was itself supported by
legad and forensic adwisers we also invalved internal tax specialists i understonding the reguirements of LETL, the application by the
Group, analegous legal precedent and potential exposure. We assessed the competence, capabilities anel abjectivity of the legal and
forensic actvisers used in the Group's investigation;

For completeness, we reviewed correspendance between the Group, HMRC and the Group's external leqal advisers and obitained direct
corresponeence from and made direct inquiries of the Group’s external legal gdviser with regard 1o the status of cigims 1o date ond ther
views, When makmg direct inquiries of HMRC, we sought 1o understand the status of their mvestigotion and to corroboree oreas of inguiry
as the mvestigation progresses. Additionally, we brought additioned resource anto the team, including at partner and director level, who
supported in challenging the findings arising from the Group's nvestigation, in porticular i relation 1o the completeness and accuracy of
provisions and contingent habilities ansing from the Group's infernal onatysis We evoluoted the completeness of the provisions and
cantingent liabilitie< through review of board minites and board correspondence, internal audit reparts and other supporting and
cantradictory evidence. Lastly, we also challenged the appropriateness of the disclosures included in the financial statements relating to
the inveshgation and chalenged manegement and the directors on the impact on the completeness of their going concern assessment
ond disclosure relating to this matter

{r common with ol audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform speafic procedures o respond 1o the risk of management
overnde In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of cantrols, we tested the appropriateness of jounal entries and
nther adiustiments: assessed whether the judgements made m moking gccounting estimates are indicative of a potential bigs; and
evoludated the business rahonale of ary significont transoctions thot are umisuol oF owtside the normal course of business

In addition 10 the above, our procedures to respond fo the nsks identified included the followmg:

. reviewing finanoal staternent disclosures by testng 1o supporiing documentoion to assess comphance with provisions of relevont
lesws and regulations descrnibed as having a direct effect on the financial statements,

. performing anabyticod procedures to identify any vhusual or unexpected refotionships that moy intheote risks of motennl
misstatement die to fraird,

. encpring of management, internal audit and external legol counsel concerning actuol ond potential litigation ond cloimes, ond
instances of non-compliatice with lnws and regulations, and

. reading minutes of meetings of those charged with gavernance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewng cosrespondence with
HMRC.

Biffa Limited / Anhual Report and Accounts 2023 34



Independent auditor’s report to the members of Biffa Limited

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our apinion, based on the work underfaken in the course of the audir.

«  the infurmation given in the strategic report and the directors’ repart for the financial year for which the finanaial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements; and

«  the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Inn the hight of the knowledge and undersfanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment chtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following marters if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent company financial statements are not in agreerment with the accounting records and returns; or
»  certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,

we have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely 1o the company’s members, as a bady, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our
audit work has been undertuken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or ussume responsibibty to anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by.

JZAFADLE9384 /A

Peter Gallimore, FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For end on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Birmingham, United Kingdom

11 September 2023

Biffa Limited / Annual Reporf ond Accounts 2023 35



Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Income Statement

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

31 March 2023 25 March 2022

£m £m

Continuing operations

Revenue 2 1,680.4 1,443 72

Cost of sales (1,574.6) £1,351.5)
Gross profit - T T T  Tiess ] T e

Operating costs 4 (20.0) (750
Impairments 1 9.1) 750y |

Operating profit / (loss) 6.7 NCES
CFmance mcome T o T 3 Ter | T T s

Finance costs 3 (29.5) (2243

Share of results in joint ventures and associates 28 1.0 {1.1)
toss before taxation T T T ) _”(15"]3_ T _(2815) |
Taxaton 0 T 7 Q.6 | 1o |

t.oss for the period {16.7) (17 6)

(16.7) (176)
Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company I

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

o Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
11 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £fm
| “Loss for tha period (16.7) (176)
Other comprehensive income
| Irems that will not be reclossified subsequently to profit or loss: S - T
Actuanol (los<y / gain on defined benefit pension scheme 5 {82.5) A8 7
Tax relating 1o tems that will not be reclassthied subsequently to profit or loss 7 20.6 £15m
(61.9) 137
Items that moy be reclassified subsequently to profit or [oss: N I T T o ’
Gain on fair value of caosh flow hedges:
Fair volue (loss) / gam arnsing on hedging instruments 16 (10.9) 150
Tax relating to items that may be reclassified sub%equen_t_ly_to profit orloss TR 24 - (2.2) )
| Net gom an cash flow hedges i jamt ventures and associates (nat of fo) 28 ws | %5
11.3 A3
Other ron-'m?l_wermvp (loss) 7 income for the penod, net of incoree tox 1 ) o (506) i 500
| Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the period (67.3) 174
(67.3) 374 |
_Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company S
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes As at As at
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Non-current ossets
Goadwill 9 291.8 2643
Investments in joint venfures and associates 28 61.9 T T TgaT
Qther mtangible assets 10 206.6 2229
Property, plant and eguipment 11 654.6 6172
Long-term receivables 13| 2.5 2.5
Loans to joint ventures 16 20.2 143
Derivative tinancial instruments 16 0.9 1/
Retirement benefit surplus 25 95.1 1661
1,3335.6 13242
Current assets
Inventories T 12 435 i QS_S?ZL ]
Contract assets 14 62.5 /18
Trade and other recevables 13 217.9 2076
Financigl assets 16 144 | 16.3
Dervative fimancial imstruments 16 - 4.0
Cash ong cash equivalents 15 41.3 40.8
379.6 | 3577
Current liabilities
Leose liabilines 24 (55.1) {558)
Borrowings - 16 (351.3) -
Trade and other payables 17 {349.2) (34073
Deterred and contingent consideration 16 {3.1) (4.2)
Contract labilities 14 (27.9) (27'-.1)“
Derivative financial instruments 16 {0.4) (0.2)
Provisions 18 (20.0) (20.5)
T T (o7.0) (446 3
Net current {iabilities (427.4) (70.6)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 T Te1Ls) (368.3)
Lease habilities 24 {228.4) {2225}
Trade and other poyables 17 {5.68) (6.0)
| Ceferred consideration 16 - 2.8) (5.0}
Provisions 18 (164.5) (137.4)
Deterred tax hability 1z (12.4) (329)
T (495.2) 7703
Net assets 411.0 483.3
21
Equity
Called up share copiial 31 31
Share premium 2522 2476
Hedging resarve Tz 9.9
Merger reserve 170.3 /0.3
Retained earnings 22 (35.8) 52.4
Total equity attributable to shareholders T an10 483.5

The financial staterments were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for 1ssue on 11 September 2023. They were signed on iTs
behatf by

AA«G#«*—_

Michael Topham

5,
-

recto
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up

———— -

Shure‘( Hedging Merger Retained Total
share premium raserve reserve earnings equity
capital | (Note 21) | (Note21) | (Note 21) | (Note 22) £m

{Note 21)

As at 26 March 2021 _ e {___ ‘_ 4579
1 0ss for the period (17.6)
Other camptehensive incorme 500
Total comprehensive income for the period 324
Exercise nf share options 0.6
shares purchased by employee henefits trust (36)
vealue of employee sarvice in raspect of share option 2.7
schemes (exciuding NICH)

_Dwvidends paid(Nete 33 _eN
As ot 25 Morch 2022 o o 483.3
lossfortheperod 167
Qther comprehensivaincome 7 (ossy I : )
Total comprehensive income !‘(kis)_foune,;:_eried_ﬁ,}ﬁ N us) -] _wse ©7.3)
Fxercice of share opriens - 46 - S I 12

_Ghares purchased by employee benefits trust 7 - - - ) (15) |
Value of employee service nrespect of share option - 62 ol
achemes {excluding NT1Cs) - - -

Dvdends pad (Note 391 . : L -
Asoat3iMarch2023 00000000 I 21.2 1703 |  (358) | 4110

38
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes 53 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
£m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
_Operating profit / (loss) 6.7 {B8.3)
Share-based payinents 20 4.7 37
Amortisation of ntangibles 10 293 307
| Depreciation of propetty, plant and equipment e 1 o080 949
Lmpairment of gssets 9,11 9.1 250
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 4 (23) 6H2)
_EVP related jtems - 208
Pension deficit payments (8.6} (4.2)
lncrease in Inventones (8.3) (12.2)
Decrease / {Incregse) i receivables 8.8 (72.7)
(Decrease) /increase 0 payables (4.7) 62.8
Decrease / {increase) in financial assets 0.5 (3.4)
(Decrease) / ncredse in provisions 23.1 157
Net cash from operating activities 166.7 144.6
Income tax received / {paid) G.4 {0.3)
Net cash flows from operating octivities 167.1 1443
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and eguipment (79.3) . (672 |
Purchases of intangible assets (17) (2.1
Funds on ong-term deposit (0.2} -
Business combinghions 8 3751 (1358) |
Cash agcguired from business combinations 4.3 142
Deferred consideration {3.6) (L.2)
Investment in joint ventures and associares (11.7) (175)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 269
Locn to Joint venture {4.6) (7.9)
Interest received 0.5 -
Net cash flows from investing activities . (128.6) (210.2)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (24.1) (19.3)
Enipluyee share scheme purchase (1.5) (3.6)
Exercise of share options o 4.6 06
New loans raised 23 725 3450
Repayment ot borrowings 23 (13.4) (191.1)
Cash flow on settlement of derivatives . - 4.1
Lease hatnlities principal payments 23 (61.8) {53.1)
Dividends paid 23 ({14 3) (6.7)
Net cash flows from financing activities (38.0) 75.9
0.5 10,0
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents af the beginning of the penod 40.8 308
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 15 41.3 408
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

General Informaticn

Biffa Limrted (the 'Company’)is o pnvate compnny hmited by shares incorporated ond registered in the UK and 15 the parent company of the
Riffa Gronp (the 'Group’y The address ot the Company's registered office is Coronation Road, Cressex. High Wycomibe, Buckinghamshire. HiR12
3TZ The principal activity of tha Group s the provision of wasfe management services in the United Kmgdom

Basis of accounting

The consoiidated financial statements have heen prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the
verremants of the Act and International Finonoal Repacting Standards (TFRSS) The fimancial stotements also comply with the TFRSS ty 1ssved
by the 1ASB aind as adopted by the UK. The comparative financial information has also been prepared on this basis,

The consolidated financal statements have been prepared on a historicol cost basis, except for the recording of pension assets and habilities,
share-based payments ang the rovaluation of certain dertvative financial instruments that are measured ot revalued amounts or foir valies at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
grven in exchanga for goods and serviees. Foue value 15 the price that wauld he receved 1o sell an asset or paid to transfer o lichtity tvan arderly
fransac tion between market participants ot the meastrement date,

These financial statements are presented m Pound Sterling ('GBP Y und are roundead to the nearest £0.1m. The financial staternents for 2023 have
beon prepared for the 53-week period ended 3] March 2023 The prior year wos 0 52-week penod, to 25 March 2072 The tpcoming yeor will be o
57 week perind, 1o 29 March 2024, .

The preparation of financal statements m conformity with 1IFRS requires the tse of certain critical accounting estimates, It also regoires
mgnagement fo exercise 18 judgement 1n the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, The areds invoiving a highor degree of
Jjudgement or complexity, or areas where ussumptions and estimates are significant to the censolidated financial statements are disclosed at the
anct of this Notea.

Going concern

In assessing whether 1S appropnate for ihe Group 1o adopt 1he gaing concer hasts of actounting, mandagement hove consideredt the Group's abidity 1o .
continue far a pericd of at ieast 12 months from the date of approval of the consalidated financial sintements In daing so, management have challengec!

e cash ond deb levels e fencing Lovenom headronm using o tumber of downside scenanos o assess 1he iesiience of the Group's finaacial posihion i

Durtng the year, the Group was delisted from the ( nndon Siock Exchange having been acepined by Eneray Camital Partners CECPT, o US-based privite paoiby
fitire 1115 not expected that the ECP takeover will drastically change the Group's business model and management have maoiitained a focus on sustamahie
arowth, demonstrated by the completion of three acquisiions since the takeover The Bonrd tecogrise the medrum and long term sistamabiity rnsks ansing
from clirete change, incliding cessation of Renewable Obligation Certiticates held by the landfill gas business in 2027 Short terny impeac b reletion to
chmate rhnncge are oot cansidered 1o hove a sigrificant impact on the Group's business modal within the going concern perior!

Mhir Group has performe.d stronaly again throughout FY23, grovang Revenus and Adsted EBITDA despite cantinued hacdwinds in the torms of inflationg y
pressures, sipply chosn disruption and o challenging economic outlook. At the year end tha Group had unutihsed comnutted bonk facilities available of

£102 o and cash and cash eguivalents of £40 Bm  Tihe riosing leverage rotio {Net DebtAdjusted FBITDA) of 3 4x on a covenant basis compores againsg. the
rovenant limit of <+ S corresponding to the new debi torlities eftective trom 73 May 2023 The headroom on the 4 Gx interest cover covenant hmit wes
sanprfre ontly areater thes the headroom an the levelage covenont ot Hus dote due to the lower inferest rates 10 the FY23 yeor

Sinee the year end. the Group has restrictured s debt by increasing 11s rolling credit facility by £150m, increctsimg 114 term loans by § 135m and replacing ita

existing L3450 ol private plocements with £260m af new private plhcements The net impact of these changos 1= anmcrecisa n total bguidity of €700m byt

under the new faciiities the Gooupy s required e comphy with revised levernge and interest cover covenants  In mindelling its forecast cash flows cnd

rovenanis, the Grou hos considared the impoct of o passible seitleneent of the HMRC Landfill Tax Eaauiry o ine with the peovision iecannised in the finaneuat

statements i the fost holf of FY25  Cash flow forecast< indicate thot the Grong wall mamtam net avenlabile liguidity szl obove £ 200m throaghaut the next 1/

months, 50 the Group wiould have sufhoent awdity 1o fune o large one-off cash payment '

Management have also applied reversc stress Tests fo deternming the axtent to which key financial meosures r ould worsen over thie next 12 imonths beloe
covenont innts are hireached Interest ¢ aver headroom s expectad to be notic eably iower thon previous periods due to ncreased flooting rate exposwe rnel a
shorp nse s anterest rotes, so cortain downside scenaring could cause a beench nf iInterest cover. However sufticient neadroom s expor ted over the next 12
manthe so fact o breceh of erther covenont wonild stifl require o worsening in EBTTDA and < ash flow alongerde a nise inomteiesr rates

Interest rower PPOdroum s edpected o reduce further of Septemiber 2024, monkong A potentiol breoch Ane io o worserang O performonce or g nse i mtereat
rrite expreciotiong more ikely Hon at September 2023 of March 2024 Tt s monogement’s expectohon that nn amendment to the covenant will be requastod
Hom lenders ot i reguiren we censitier we coutd et tur S0sing CoVeNnTis Yoy Corrving (o romber of rnst imprevement mihiahves such os deloying
coyntal expenditune, cane eling non-essential costs, uhhising addiional funding from awners and working ~apital manngement 1t may olso be possiclr to enter
WD OGN IR est Yare Swan 1o reduce the oxposuie 1o ony further odverse interest rate mioverngnts On this boss we ernsider the ikelinood of o foture covenan
birach nt Septembar 2024 1o he ramiote

Based on ihe above, management hove « oncluded the Graup is well placed to mannge i1s tinancing and other business nsks sahistac tonly e herse o
rensonahle axpentanan that the Grons will heve adequate resources 12 fontinue i1 operation for af least 12 monthe from the signing date of thase
~onsnlidoted finnncl statemnents Tt therefore considrred appropnate to adopt the going roncern basgrs of oo nunting in peparnmneg the - onsabdoted

futriar el stritemente
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting pelicies confinued

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financiul statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (1ts
subsidiaries) made up to 31 March 2023. Confrol is achieved when the Company:

- Has power over The investeg,;
. 1s exposed, or has rights, to variabte returns from its involvement with the investee, and
. Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a magority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers
that it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practicat ability to direct the refevant activities of the
investee unilaterally.

The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in ossessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in un investee are
sufficient 1o give it power, including:

. The size of the Company’s holding ot voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

. Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

. Rights arising from other contractuat arrangements, and

. Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate thet the Company has, or does not have, the current ability 1o direct the relevant
activities ar the fime that decisions need 1o be made, inciuding voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of @ subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary, Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in The Income Statement
from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 1o bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group's accounting pohicies.

All intra-Group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process.
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the below Standards and amendments are ettective for reportfing periods
pbeginning after 1 Jonuary 2022, but have not impacted on the Group’s reporting:

. Annual Improvements to IFRS Standard 2018-2020 Cycle, Amendmients to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financicl
Reporting Standards, 1FRS @ Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agricuiture

. Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: References to the Conceptual Framewerk

. Amendments to TAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use

»  Amendments ta IAS 37 Onerous Contracts. Cost of Fulfilling a Controct

The adoption of the Standards listed above did not have a material impact en the financial statements of the Group

New standards and interpretations not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial stotements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective and had not yer been adopted:

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

. Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

+«  Amendments fo IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Stafement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

. Amendments to IAS 1: Noncurrent Liabilities with Covenants

« Amendments 1o IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Detfinition of Accounting Estimates
«  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related ro Assets and Liabilities arising from o Single Transaction

*  Amendments fo [FRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale ond Leaseback

. Amendments ta IFRS 17: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - Comparative Information

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the
Group In any tuture period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are acrounted for using the ccquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combinanion is
raeasured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by e Group, lwabilities
mcurred by the Group to the former owners of the acaquiree and the equity interosts issued by the Group in exchange for contral of the
aequires Aceuisition-relatect roste are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acglisitinn dote, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilittes assumed dre recognised af their fair value, except that

. Deferred tax assets or hahilities, and assets or liabilihies related to employee benefit arrangements, are recogrsed and measured in
ocrordonce with TAS 12 Tncome Toxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

. Liabilities or equity measurements related fo share-based payment arrangements of the acquired, and share-based payment
arrangements of the Group enteret into to replace share based payment arrangements of the aoquired, are measured in accordance
wiih IFRS 2 Share-baged Paymoents at the acquisthon date,

. Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with TFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Miscontimued Operations are measured in occordance with that Standord.

Goodwill 1s measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acauiter’s previously held equity interest in the acguiree (if any) aver the net of the acqguisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the habilities assumed. If, aftrer regssessment, the net af the acauisifion dote amounts of
the identifiable assets acoured and the liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the considerction transferred, the excess amotint of any
non-controlling interests in the acguiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (F ghyy, 1s recogmised
mmediately in profit or loss o8 d bargain purchase gain

when the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combimaotion includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrengement, the contingent consideration s measured af its acquisition date fair volie and included as part of the
consideration traonsferred in a business combination

Changes i the fair value of the contingent consideration that quahfy as measurement period adjustments aie adjusted retrospectively,
with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period odjustments are adjustments that anse from additionat
information obtamed during the measurement period (which cannot exreecl ane year from the acgihstion date) about facts and
circumstances that exisTed at the aoquisitton date.

I the nitial accounting for a husiness combination 1s incomplete by the end of the reporting periad in which the combmation occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which 1he aoccounting is incomplete.

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see cbove), or additional assets o habilitles are recogmsed, ta
reflect new Information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acguisition date that, if known, would have offectec
the amounts recognised af that date.

Goodwill
Goodwill 15 inhally recognised and measured as <01 oul in the "Business combinations’ section above

Goodwill is 1ested anmurttty formpairment o if there is onncheation of impairment Goms anrd losses on the disposol of o cosh-generaing
unit include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that cash-generating unet

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill 1= allocared 1o each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cush-genetating
units) that 1s expected 1o benefit from the syrergies of the busiess combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
cliocated are tested fot iImpairment anntally, or more frequently when there is an indication that the umt may be impaired. If the
recoverable amaount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of dispasal) of the cash-generating unit 1s fess than the carrying
amount of the unit, the Impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill dliocated to the uinit and then to
the ather assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amaount of cach asset in the unit An impairment ioss recognised for
goodwll is nof reversed in a stbsequent period

The key assumptions when calculating the value in nse are forecast revenue and costs Manogement's calculation of value in use has been
developed from forecast five year cash flows which are prepared on the basis of past performance, expectation of future performance
mcluding climate change related matters such as the potential cessation of Renewaple Obligotion Certificate (‘ROCT) schemes in 2027,
implications from possible carbon tax regulation and the Deposit Return Scheme coming into effect The value i use 1s also determined
ofter considering market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter, based on the underlying assets of edch division,

On disposal nf a cash-generatmg unit, the arfrbutable amount of goodwill 1s ncluded in the determination ot the profit or loss on disposal

Biffa Limited / Anhual Report and Accounts 2023 472



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies continued

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties shoning control. An associate is an enfity over which an investoer has
significant influence, but not control or joint control.

An investiment in an associate or a joint venfure is accounted tor using the equity method from the date on which the invastee becomes
an associate or a joint venfure, On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment 1s recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the nvestment is
acquired.

Under the equity method, an investiment in an associate or a jont venture is recoghised initially in the Consclidated Statement of
Financial Positien at cost and adjusted thereafter 1o recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or [oint venture, When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
asscciate or joint venture (which includes any long-term mterests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional lusses are recognised only 10 the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive cbligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

The requirements of 1AS 36 Impairment ot Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying anmount of the investment
(including goodwill} 1s tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of dispasal) with 118 carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised 1s ollocated to the investment
as a whole and not to the underlying assets of the investee that make up the carrying amount of the mvestment. Any reversal of that
impairment 1oss 1s recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increcses.

when o Group entity fransacts with a joint venture of the Group, profits and lesses resulting from the fransactions with the joint venture
are recoghised in the Group's consolidated financial statements anly 1o the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not reloted 1o
the Group.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the infernal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Muker. The
Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing perfoermance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Group Executive Team. The Group’s operating segments are split into four divisions:

+  Collections which encompasses Municipal and Industrial & Commercial (1&C")

. Resources & Energy (‘R&E") which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gas

+  Specialist Services which includes Company Shop Group ('CSG’), Hozardous Woste, Integrated Resource Management {IRM’), and
Biffpack

+  Group Business Function ('GBF")

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of goods and services delivered to custamers in the normal course of business, net of tade discounts
and VAL The requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers are applied to determine when services are deemed 1o
have been delivered and when the Group has met its obligotions under 115 service contracts. Payments received in advance of
performance are held as contract liabilities and recognised as revenue when the related service is delivered.

Collections division

Waste collection revenue

The Collections division collects waste from customer sites. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the waste is delivered to transfer
stations or to a third party. The transaction price is based on contractually pre-agreed prices for collecting and processing the waste, Due
1o the short time between start gnd completion of the performance obligations (usually on the same day), the revenue recognition and the
allocation ot the fransaction price over performance obligations is usually straightforward and dependent on the daily collection and
processing of waste,

The Collections division also provides collections services to households an behalt of local authorities under Municipal contracts, for which
revenue is recognised ‘over time’, The nature of the contracts and performance obligations includes munegemen? fees fo operate local
authority recycling centres, waste collecticns and gate fees. The annual revenue for the service Is agreed ar the cutset of the contract and
invoiced in equal amounts, monthly in arrears The Group recognises the revenue based on the working days within the accounting pericd,
which is considered an appropriate approximation to when the pracess occurs. This is adjusted for any discounts given and penalties for
non-delivery of services. However, gate fee revenue is recognised as customer waste 1s deposited and based on tonnage received
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L Accaounting pelicies continued
Revenue recognition continued

Resources & Energy (‘R&E’) division

Landfill revenue

The Company genetates revenue from landfill octivities by accepting customet waste onto site for disposal into void space This revenue
strecim consists of grate fee revenue derived from the Company's operational assets and s based on measiited tonnages received from
customers Performance obligations are satisfied as the customer waste 15 deposited onto the landfill site and revenue 1s recognised af 'a
it N tne”,

Revenue from sate of recyclate materials

The Group collects various waste matenals, some of which are general waste and some of which are recyclable materials. The recyciable
materials are generally convningled and as such then have to be separated into individual recyclate streams ready for resale. Recyclate
revenues are measured at the agreed transaction price per tonne of recyclate under the contract with the customer. Revenue recognition
occurs when confrol over the recyciate assets has been fransferred and therefore the performance obligation is satisfied This is at the
pumnt of collection by the customer.

Energy revenue

The Group recerves revenue from the sale of efectricity from generating assets. These assets include anaerobic digestion and gas from
landfill sites Revenue from the sale of electricity is measured based upon metered output delivered of rates specified under cgreed
contract terns with Biffa’s raker, EDF, under Power Purchase Agreements ('PPAY or prevailing market rates, Energy generahon revenues
ate recognised ot 'a point in time’, being the point at which the power is supplied through the sole to the customer, via EDF, based on the
quantity of inits supplied.

Specialist Services division

Revenue from redistribution of surplus food ond household products

CKGas o redistributor of surplus food and household product in the UK. The business redistributes surplus stock that it purchases from
the Fast Moving Consumer Gonds (FMCG'Y supply chain to members who work in key sectors including FMCG businesses. emergency
<ervices and social core. Sales are recognised when the rnisks and rewards ottached 1o the products (including product obsolescence)
heive been transferrad to the customer This ocours when 1he customers toke possession of the stock thrit has been purchased.

Trade discounts

Trade discounts are agreed os part of the terms of certain customer contracts. The discounts are usually in the form of a price reduction
basedd on volume collected on a monthly basis. The caiculdtions and terms of the discounts are set out in the agreed customer controcts
They are calculated in accordance with the contract, accrued avtamatically by the accounting system on a monthly basis, and reportert as
a reduction in revonue At the end of the colendor month, the amount of the discount for that period is disclosed to and ogreed with the
1elevant customers, This discaunt is then recognised either by raising a credit nate or by the customer raising a separate invoice. These
mechanisms are agreed at the outset of the contract As the monetary trade discount per unit is known and the volume s, known, there s
no element of estimation within the calculation.

The Materinl Recycling Facilities (MRFs') have contracts with local authorities which contain a ‘risk sharing mechanism’. Local authornties
are charged a gate fee per tonne of waste delivered, at the point the waste enters the site. In addition, once the commingled woste
recyclate streams have been sorted and sold, the local authorities are then entitled to a rebate based upon ¢ pre-agreed percentage ot the
recyclate value achisved The calculations and terms of the rebotes are set oul in the respective contracts with lacal authorities. The
rebates are aceried by netting this amount off reverue every reporting penod The calculation s sheared with the customer and o credit
aote raised (or the customar ralses an invoice). There (s no element of estimation within the caloulgtion.

Leases

The Group assesses whether o confract 1s or contains a lease at mception of the contract. The Group recognises o right-of-use asset and o
rorresponding legse liability with respect fo all fease arrangements in which it 1s the lessee, unless the Group decides o exercise the
exemptions availabie under IFRS 16 Leases for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low value assets (defined by management to not exceed £5,000). The applicability of these exemptions is considered on a lease by-leose
basis If the Group exercises these exermptions on certain leases, the payments corresponding to these leases are recognised as an
operating expense on o straight-line basis over the term of the lease unlass anather systemctic basts 15 more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumecd,

The lecise habiity is initially measured ot the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the comimencement date,
diseonunted by using the rote impliait in the lease Tf this rate cannet be readily determined, the Grollp uses its incremental barrowing rate

The Group's Incremental borrowing rate s defined s the rote of interest that the Group would have to pay 1o borrow, over o sitilar term
and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obfain an asset of g similar volue N d sumilar economic environment
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1 Accounting policies continued

Leases continued
tease payments included in the measurement of the liability comprise:

. Fixed lecse payments, {es5s any lease Incentives,

. Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initiclly measured using the index or rate of the commencement date;
. The amount expected 10 be payable by the lessee under residual volue guarantees;

. The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

. Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, If the lease term reflects the exercise of an option 1o ferminate the lease

The leuse licbility is presented us a separate line itern in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease hiability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remegsures the lease liablity (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the reloted rnighit-of-use asset) whenever:

«  The legse term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the legse liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rote;

. The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change In expected payment under o guaranteed residual value,
in which case the lease hability 1s remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the utial discount rate (unless the
lease payment change is due to o change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

. A lease contract is modified and the lease medification is not accounted tor as a separate lease, in which case the lease ligbility 15
remeosured by discounting the revised lease poyments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of moditication.

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payment at or before the commencement day
and any initial direct costs, They are subsequently measured at cost kess accumulated depreciation ond impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition reguired by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37 The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use osset reflects that the Group expects fo exercise a purchase option, the related night-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful Ife of the underfying asser, The depreciation starts af the commencement dafe of the lease.

The Group applies TAS 36 fo determine whether o right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts tor any identified impoirment loss as described in the
‘Property, plant and equipment” policy

Foreigh currencies

In preparing the financial information of each individual Group entity, fransactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) ore recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions, At the end of euch reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are refranslared at the rates prevailing at that dare. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-transiated at the rates prevailing af the date when the fair value wos
determined.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for

. Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future produchve use, which are
ncluded in the cost of those assets when they are recognised as an adjustment to inferest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

»  Exchange difterences on fransactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below under financiat instruments
hedge accountingy; and

. Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned
nor hikely to occur (therefole forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recogmsed imtially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary rems.

Non-monetary iterns that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purposes of presenting these conselidated financial statements, the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
are franstated into Sterling using the exchange rates prevailing ot the end of each reporting period Income and expense items are
rranslated af the average exchange rates for The period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that peried, in which case the
exchange rates ¢t the dates of the transactions are used.
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1. Accounting policies confinued

Foreign currencies continued
Fxrhange differences arising on the difference between fransioting net assets at closing rate and transinting P&L items af the average
rate, if any, are recogriised in ather comprehensive Incame and accumulated in ecuity

Borrowing costs

Barrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take o substantial pericd of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of thase assets, until such hme as the
assets are substantiolly ready for their intended tise or sale All other borrowing costs dre recognised ih profit or loss in the perned in
which they are mcurred.

Government grants
Gavernment grants are not recogrised untl there s reasonabie assurance that the Group will comply with the candifions artaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government gronts are recognised in profit or less an a systematic basis aver the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government gronts whaose primary condition is that the Group
snnnld purchase, constrict or otherwise acquire non-current asserts are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
finoneiol position ond transferred 1o profit of Inss on o systemont and rotional bosis over the useful fives of the related ossets,

Employee benefits
Payments 1o defined contricution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered servics entitling
them 1o the contriputions,

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cast of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
vesludations being carred out af the end of each annual reporting period Remeasurement, comprising actuarial geims and losses and the
return on plan assets (excluding interest). is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with o charge or credit recognised
in other comprehensive mcome in the period in winch they ooour.

Remeasurement recognised in other comprebensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss Post service cost 15 recootsed it peofit o loss D the period of o plan amendrment. Net interest is cakouloted by obplying the
discount rate at fhie beginming of the period to the net defined benefit lahility or asset, Defined benefit casts are categorised as tollows'

. Service rost (including current service cost, past service cost as well os gains and losses on curtaillments and settlements)
. Net interest expense oI incomnte
= Remeasurement

The Group presents service costs in operating cosfs and net inferest expense or income is included in finance income Curtaikment gains
and losses are aoccounted for as past service casts

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consalidated statement of financiol position represents the actual deficit or surplus in
the Group's defined benefit plans Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited fo the present value of any economic benefits
ovoiloble i the form of refunds from the plons or reductions m fonire contributions 1o the plans,

Tie Group makes contnbutions under Admitted Body status to a number of Local Government Pension Schiemes (‘LGPS" for the period to
the end of the relevent customer contracts The Group will only porhicipate in LGPS for o finite peried 1o the end of the customer controcts

The Group determinas whether an LGPS scheme 1s accounted for under a defined benefit or defined contribution scheme based on
whether the deficits surplus can be passed through 1o the next contractor or Local Authority at the ond of the contract If, at the end of
the contract, the Group 1s nof finhile fo sertle any liabilify or equally entitied 1o any benefit, the scheme is recognised as defined
contnbation and contributions dre recodmised as an expense. For contracts that do not allow for pass through of pension costs, the Group
recogrises the definer benefit nbligation less the fair value of scheme gssets, and an adjustment to onhly recognise the amonint of defined
Benefi for whieh it is responsible under the contract. Movements in this adjustment are recognised n the same way as movements 1n plan
assets

A liglulity for a termination benefit s recognised at the earlier of when the entity can ne longes withdraw the affer of the terminatian
henefit and when 1he entity recognises any relafed restructuring costs.

A liability s recognised for bencefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salares. annual leave and sick leave in the pared the
related service 15 rendered ot the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid In exchange for thot service

Liahiiities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits ore measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
peidd 11 exchange for the related service,

The accounting policy for the Group is to recognise the net surplus /defiait for defined benefit plans upon acguisition through Other
Comprehense Income, as opposed to an adiustment to goodwill, pursuant o TFRS 3 Busmass Combinations and TAS 19 Fmployee
Benefits
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Share-based payment plans

The Group's management awards employee share options, from time 1o time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
conditions. The economic cost of awarding the share options to 1ts employees is recognised os an employee benefit expense in the
income statement equivalent to the far value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing
maodel. The charge is recognised over the vesting pericd of the award,

Cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash held ar bank with immediate access, other short-term investments and bank
deposits with marturities of three months or less from the dare of inception.

Taxation
Tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. This facilitates comparison with prior periods To assess Trends in
financial performance more readily.

The tax currently payable is based on raxable profit for the period. Taxoble profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated income staterment because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible i other years and items thar are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax 1s calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting pericd.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax boses used i the computation of the faxable profit and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities ore generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are genercliy recognised
for all deductible remporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible femporary differences can be utilised.

Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than na
business combination) of assets and habilities In a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised If the temporary ditterence arises from the initial recognimon of goodwill.

The carrying ameount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 1o the extent That it is no longer
probable that sufficient raxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will e available to cllow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

The Group has considered impacts of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient raxable profits {loss of reverue from
cessation ot Renewable Obtigation Certificates (‘ROCS’) in 2027, potential legislation of Deposit Return Scheme ('DRS") it England and
cperating costs due to increased carbon taxes in subsequent reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax asset. The wverall impact
from the cessation of ROCs has been conswdered in the future forecasts, however given the low financial impact of the DRS legislation and
increased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it fo have o matenal impact on the recoverabiity of the deferred rax asset.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected 16 apply in the period in which the liakility 15 settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the fax consequences that would follow from the manner i which the
Group expects, ot the end of the reporting period, fo recaver or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deterred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive incorme or directly in
equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting of a business combination, the tax effect is included in
accounting for the business combination

Property, plant and equipment

Landfill sites are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of landfill sites includes the
cost of acquiring, developing and engineering sites, There are no directly atfributable borrowing costs. Property, plant and equipment 15
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised cn a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect ot uny changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The following useful lives have been applied to property, plant ond equipment during the period:

- Buildings - length of lecse straight-line method
. Flant, vehicles and equipment - 4 to 15 years straight-line method
. Landfill sites — on a void-consumed basis, ranging from 2 to 51 years

Land and Assets under Construction (AUCT) are not depreciated, AUC is depreciated when the asset is deemed to be complete, and in line
with the above classifications.
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L Accounting policies continued

Property, ptant and eguipment continued

where the obligation to restore o landfill site is an integral port of its future economic benefits, a non-current assetr within property, piant
nnd equipment is recognised. Changes to the obligation are recorded as adiustments fo the carrying volue of the osset. The asset
recognised is deprocioted based on energy prodviction and void used,

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same bdsis ds owned assets, Howeaver, when there 15 no
reasonable cerfamty that ownarship will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets ove depreciated over the shorter of the fease
terny and their useful lives.

An dem of property, plont and equinment 1s derecogrised upon disposal or when no future econonwc benefits are expected to arise from
the continued nse of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property. plant and equipment is
determiner! os the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and s recogrised Iin profrt or loss.

Intfangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that ore ccquired seporately are carned at cost less accumulated amortisation ond accurnulated
imparrment losses. Intangible nssets acquired in business combinations and recognised separately from goodwill are recognised initiolly
ot thew foir velue of The ocquisition date (which is regarded as their costy, Amortisation is recognised on o straght-ine basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful Iife and amortisation method are reviewed ot the end of ecich reporting period. with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are ocquired
seporately are carried at cost less accumultated impairment losses.

The following useful ives have been appiled to the ntangible assets diming the period:

. Brond - indefmite hife

. Customoer contracts - 3 to 20 yorirs

. IT deyelopment ~ 3 to 5 years

. Service cancession drrangements - aver the life of the controct

. randtilt gers rights - length of projerted profitable gas extraction based on the life of he site’s associated ROCs

An internally generated intangibie asset ansing from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
ard only if, all of the following have been demonsirated

. The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be gvailable for use of sale;

. The intention o complete the intangible asset and use or sell it

. The ability ta use or sell the iIntangibte asset,

. How the intungible asset will generate proboble fuhire economic benedits,

- The availability of adeguate technical, financial and other resources 1o complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset, and

. The ability to measure reliably the expenditirre attributable to the intangibie asset during 1ts development.

The amount inittally recognised for internally generated infangible ossets s the sum of the expenditure rcurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the criteria listed above when no internally genergted intangible asset can be recoghised, development
expenditure 1s recognised in profit or loss in the perind ) which it is incarred. Expenditure on research activities is recngnised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Subseguent 1o initial recogmition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impanrment losses or the saome basis as intangible assets thot are acguired separately.

An intongible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecagnition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal preceeds and the carrying anmount
of the osset, are recogmised in profit or loss when the vssets derecognised.

The Group has a number of contracts for Software as a Service ('Saa§™) arrangaments These contracts pernit the Group tearcess
vendor hosted soffwore ond platform services over e term of the arrongement The Group does not cantrod the undertying assers n
these arrangements ond costs are therefore expensed as incurred.

The Groupr glso inturs implementahion costs mrespect of these contracts Implementotion costs are coptolised os ntangible ossets where
they meet the definition and recognition criteria of an intangible asset under TAS 38 Infangible Assets Such cosls typically relate to
softweare coding which can provide a benefit 1o the Group on a standalone basis.

Other implementation costs, primarily relating to the configuration and customization of the Saa$ solution, are assessed to determine
whether the implementation activity reloting to these costs is distinet fram the SaaS solution, in which case costs dare expensed as the
activity occurs If the configuration and customisation costs relafe to activity which is integral to the SaaS solution such that the actvity is
receved over the Term of 1he solutor, cos1s ore recognised ds o prepayment and expensed over that term.
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Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are net subject to amortisation ond are tested annually for impairment.

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed tfor imparment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
canying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment Ioss 1s recognised for the cmount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
1ts recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 15 the higher of farr value less costs to sell and volue 10 use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped into cash-generating units (CGUS’), the lowest levels for which there are separately identitioble cash flows

In assessing value in use ('VIU), the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific To the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount ot an asser {or CGU) is estimated 1o be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU)
Is recuced to its recoverable amount, An impairment loss 1s recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 1s carned ot
o revalued amount, inwhich case the impairment loss 1s treated as a revoluation decrease and to the extent that the impan ment loss is
greater than the related revaluation surplus, the excess impairment loss 1s recognised in profit or loss.

where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased 16 the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the Increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had ne impairment loss been recognised in prior yeors. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the
extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been recognised for the asset it prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount
is tfreated as a revaluation increase.

The Group caries different classes of intangible assets including, gos reserves, biands and customer contracts, The Group also has classes
of tangible assets in property, landfill gos and plant, vehicles, ond machinery. The carrying value ot these is dependent on tuture cash tlows
and if these cash flows do not meet the Group’s expectations there is risk that the assets will be imparred. The impairment reviews
performed by the Group contain o number of significant estimates:

. Forecast eneigy piices including the impact of climate change to these prices

«  The ROCs recycle benetit rights (which is dependent on the ROC scheme being in place)
. Forecast gate fees, tonnage prices and gas yield projections,

s | nnn term growth rates; and

. Discount rates.

The above have been considered in determining the V1U of other intangible assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. MNet
rechsable volue represents the estimated sedling price for inventories less estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale Full provision 1s made tor ocbsolete or defective stock.

Provisions

Prowvisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required 1o settle the obligation, and a refiable estimate can be made of the obligation. The amount recogrised as o
provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation ot the end ot the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated fo settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows {when the effect of the fime value of money is material}.
The effects of inflation and unwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected in the financicl statements as o tinance
charge,

when some or all ot the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered trom a third party, o receivable
recognised as an asset if virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Provisions tor the cost of restoring landfill sites and after-care costs are made as the obligation to restore the site arises, Costs are
charged to the profit or loss over the operational life on the basis of the usage of void space for each landfill site. The restoration
chligation is typically fulfilled within two years of the landfill site being closed 1o waste.

Provisions for after-care costs are made as the void usage iIncrecses, which results in the recognition of an asset representing the future
econamic benefits expected to arise from future gas generation from the fandfill site. Costs are charged to the profit or 1055 over the
operationd life of each landfill site on the basis of usage of void space. When the cbligation recognised as a provision gives access to
tuture economic benefits, an asset in property, plant and eguipment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estimares
that relote to the asset are recorded as adjustments To the carrying value of the usset.
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L. Accounting policies contfinued

Provisions continued

The gsset 15 depreciated over the period of gas generation which commences during the active phase of landfill aad extends beyond the
closure date, producing commerrial volumes of gas for up to 16 years After-core costs are provided for based o the Directors’
expectation that the obligation will have been fulfilted 60 years post closure of the site.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. A oneronis contract 18 considersd to exist
where the Group has o contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the econnmic
benefits oxpected 10 be received fram the contract.

Service concession drrangements

Service concession arrangements typically involve a private sector entity constructing infrastructure anel using that infrostructure to
provide a public service on behalf of o government or focal authority for a himited period of time befere handing ownershep of the
infrostructure back to the government or loced authority

The Group applics the financial asset model when the concession grantor contractually guarantees the payment of emounts specified in
the contract or the shorttall if any, between amaunts received fram users of the public service and amaunts specified, This finanhcial asset
accrues finanes income and 1s reduced as the financial payiments are received This opproach has heen adopted on the Leicaster City
council contract,

The Group opplies the intangible asset model when it as a night or a licence to charge users or the local authonty based on usage of the
public service This approach has been adopted on the West Snstex Recychng controct that wos aoquired as part of the Vingor goowmsiinh
n the year ended 25 March 2022

Fiancal assets and intangible assets resulting from the epplication of IFRIC 12, Service Concossion Arrangenwents are recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Refer to Note 30 for further information

Financial instruments

Financicl assets and financiol liohilities are recognised when o Group entity becomes o party to the contractuat pravisions of the
nsfruments Financal instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contraetual torms expire The financial
instruments recognised by the Group are set out helow.

Trade receivables
Trade recervables are recognised initialty ot fair value and subseguently at amortised cost using the effertive interest method, less
expected credit losses.

Evpected credit losses are updated at each reporting date ta reflect changes in wedit nisk since iniria! recagnition Fxpected credit losses
are estimated based on the Group’s historical credit loss expenence, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, gereral
economic condihons and dn dssessment of both the clitrent as well as the forecast future conditions at the reporting date, For finoncial
assets, the expected credit loss (s estimated ns the difference between oll contractual cash flows that are due to the Group i accordanic e
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group cxpects to recenve, discounted at the original effective interest rate,

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since intial recognition when contractual payments
are: mare than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information thot demonstrates otherwise,

All customers are subject to credit scoring on a quarterly basis. The Graup considers o financiol asset 1o have low credit risk when the
external credit rafing of the counterparty exceeds the Group’s mimimum required score, and when the counterpa ty has a strong finaneicd
position and payments are being made within the contractual terms,

The Group derrcognises a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financigh ditficulry and there 15
no realistic prospect of recovery

Trade payables
Trade payables are recogrised mitially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effechve interest method

Borrowings and equity instruments
Debt and equuty instruments are classified as either financial habilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the controctual
arrangements

Rarrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, Any difference hetween the amount initiclly recognised and the
redemrption valie is recogmised in the income statement over 1he period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Rarrowings are classitied as non-current liobilities where the Group hos on unconditional right to defer settlement of the hability for of
lecist 12 months after the balonce sheet ricite,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies continued
Financial instruments continued

Financial assets arising from service concession arrangements

As detailed above, the Group applies the financial asset model 1o service concession arrangements where there 1s g guaranteed right to
receive payments. The financial asset accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments ore received. This approach has
been adopted on the Leicester City Council contract.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the enfity becomes party fo the confractual provisions of the instrument and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resuthng goin or loss depends
an whether the derivative 1s designated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates cerfain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value ot recognised assets or llabilities); or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable torecast fransaction); or <)
net investment hedge (hedges of nef investnments in foreign operations).

The Group documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instrurnents and hedged iterms at inception

At inception and at each reporting date the Group assesses whether The derivatives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the
fair value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 16, Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity, At the reporting date the Group has no fair value hedges or net investrment hedges.

Hedge accounting

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relotionship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,
along with 1ts risk management okjectives and its strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions. At the inception of the hedge and on
an ongong basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsefting changes in fair values or cash flows ot
the hedged item, which 1s when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

e« There is an economic relationship between the hedged iferm and the hedging instrument;

e« The effect of credif risk does not dominate the volue changes that result from that economic relationship; and

. The hedge rativ of ihe hedging relationship is the sanme as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item thot the Group actually
hedges and the guantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses 1o hedge that guantity ot hedged ifem.

If a hedging relationship ceases 1o meet the hedge etfectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusTs the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.
rebalances the hedge) so that it reets the gualifying criteria again.

Cash flow hedge

The ettective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The
Group's cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either the income statement or in the
hedging reserve.

when o hedging instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or Joss in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when
the forecast transaction occurs. When a torecast transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported
in equity will be transferreg to the income stotement,

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging reletionship so that
it meets the qualifying critenia aogain.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recogrised immediarely in the income
statement.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in eguity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, In the same line as the recognised hedged item. However, when the hedged forecast
fransaction results in the recognition of a non-financiat asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and tosses previcusly recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-
tinancial asset or non-financial ligbility. This transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. Furthermore, if the Group expects thot
some or all of the loss accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately
reclassified to profit or loss.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 51



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stotements

1. Accounting policies continued

Cash flow hedge continued

Ther Group discontinues hedge aecounting only when the hedging relationship (or o part thereof) ceases to meet the qualifying crterin
{after rebalancing, if apphcabte). This includes instances when the hedging instromient expires or is sold, 1errinated or exercised. The
discontinuation s accaunted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recoagnised in other comprehensive income and accumuiated in cash flow
hedge reserve at that time remains m equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecaust transaction occurs.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity and recorded at por value of proceeds received where shares are issied above par value, the
procoeds in excess of par value are recorded i the share prerium aacaunt net of direct 1ssuc casts,

Dividend distribution
The final dividend distribution ta the Company's shareholders is recognised s a hakality in the fingncial sttements in the periort 10 which
the dividends are approved. Tnrenm dividends are recogrised when poid,

Areas of judgement ond key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preporanon ol TFRS comphant financial statements reguires the use of dccounting estimates and assurnptions ond also reguines
manggement to exercise its [udgement in the process of applying Group accounting poficies The Group contimually evoluates its
astimates, gssumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. A= the Lse of estimates 15 inherent in financiol
reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates,

Critical Judgements
The Group applies prdgement in identifying the significant, exceptional and nonr-recurting items of maome ond expense. we have
suntmemsed the policy m maore detonl in the Appendix,

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

The Group operates ¢ number of landfill sites in the UK. Gperators of landfill sites are responsibie for collecting landfill tax and paying it o
HMRC. Excise Notice LFTL a general qurde to landfill tax ULFT 1 sets out quidanee published by HMRC on the appaieatton of landfill tax
legislanon o the dctivities of landfill site operators such as Bifa

The Group 15 the stibject of an HMRC enguiry (the Enguiry’) regarding landfill tax compliance as part of HMRC concerns reqarding possibile
mise lossification of waste acrass the ndusiry. To doate approximately £377m (2027 - tlaBm)y of protective assessments have heen laaued
by HMRC to Biffa. The growth in the level of protective assessments reflect s both an extension of The Time periad cowered by the
assessments and increase i the scope of matters being investigated by HMRC

11 February 2020, Biffa Waste Services Limited ('BWSL) waos notifiert by HMRC that it had concerns regarding certuin aspects of lanafiil
tax complicnce that may have led to an underpayment of tandfill tax and was conducting an enquury primarily relating to the
interpretation of the qualifying fines regime set out in LFT1 HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the
potential conduct of BWSL ond speciBc customers which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax bema pod,

Fines are particles produced by a waste freatment process thot 1voives an element of mechonical treatment For o landfill site operator fo
treat fines as qualifyng fines (meanng that andful tox on such matenal is payable at o lower rate), it must be satis{ied that the conditions
1 ouf it LFTL have been met These include pre acceptance checks on customers, wislicl Inspections of matertals depositer at the landfil!
site and compliant loss on ignition ('LOTI) fests conducted af the specified frequency (which is dependent on whether a customer is
classified as low or high risk) 1LOT tests are laboratory tests on samples of waste to establisiy the amount of organic content m the waste,

In response fo the concerns raised by HMRC, Biffa appointed Crst & Young (EYD to conduet an extensive resiow In May 2020, an nterim
report was submitted by EY and BWSL to HMRC addressing o number of the concerns raised by HMREC and outiining same inwnedrate
changes to processes of landfill sites operated by Ritfa which were made on a without prejudice basis, 10 mitigate the nek of any ongoing
potential hatality.

In March 2021, o disclasure repart and supparting data (the "Disclosure Report’), prepared by EY and BWSL, was submitted 1o HMRC Tha
challenged HMRC s findings and assumptions used

In February 2022, BWSL recelved g further letter from HMRC which responded 10 a number of specific findings i the Disclosure Report,
usserted specific amounts that they considered were due and indicated that HMRC would be carrying out further work on other aspects of
the Disclosure Repart Foliowing receipt of this letter, further detaled work was carried out by Biffa and i1s advisors

Tn the periad since the release of the 2022 Annual Report and Accounts, the Enguiry hias cantinued with Biffa and ifs advisors carry ng out
further detailed work and communications with HMRC

rManagement has applied judgement in concluding on the different potential cutcomes and their respective probabilities In accordance
with [AS 27, Provisiorss, Contingent Liabilities and Confimgont Assets A provision of £a4m has been recagnised at Morech 2027 tMarch 2022
£200m as this represents micinagement's best estimote of the amount required 1o setile the present obligation ot thet date
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1. Accounting policies continued
Critical Judgements continued

Legal and tax cases
The Group has provisions for angoing litigation. Management exercises judgement in determining the amount of provision required. This
provision is calculated using information provided by external professionals where applicable or management's best estimate.

The Group is engaged in o dispute with HMRC in relation to the londfill fax freatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. The Group has received a protective assessment of £8.5m, which has been paid. As the Group is currently disputing this
assessment, and manageiment believe 1t Likely that they will win the dispute, the £8.5m payment is included in prepayments in the current
year (2022 £8.5m).

Going concern

This is considered an area of critical judgement due to the Group's recent debt restructure and inferest rate rises. Refer to the going
concern section earlier in this Note,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group has the foliowing key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a materiul adjustment to the
corrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period:

Enmvirenmental and The Group operates a number of landtill sites in the UK. A signiticant cost of owning and operuhing o landfil site in the
afrer-care UK arises after the land-filling cperation ceases due to the constructive and legal obligation to restore sites and then 1o
comnutments of care for them until it can be demonstrated that they present no ongoing risk fo the envirenment,

£53 6m

A provision 1s made for the costs associoted with restoring and mamtaining its landhill sites and controlling leachare and
methane emissions from the sites. A number of foctors create esnmation uncertainty, ncluding the impacr of regulation,
transportation costs, inflation and changes in the real discount rate. Due fo recent volatility, the impact m the change ot
energy and chemical prices on after-care costs are a parficularly source of estimation uncertainty, The provisions
incorporate our besr estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of these
estimates could materially impact the calculation of the provision. An increase of 5% in gssumed energy and chemical
costs, which impact energy consumed ond leochate freatment costs, would result in anincrease in the environmental
provision ot £1.2m.

{see Note 18)

The gssociated outflows are estimated to anse over a period of up to 60 years depending on the daje of each site
closure. In deferrniurg the pravision, the estimates for future expenditure required 1o settle the obligation are inflated
using longer-term inflation rates of 3.1%, and discounred using The nominal risk free discount rate of 4.4%. The rates
reflect the period ot the obligation on a site-by-site basis which vaties between 10 and 60 years. Futuie energy prices are
estimated using reliable external sources.

An increase of 1% in the nominal discount rate (at current cost) would result in o decrease of environmental provisions ot
approximately £8.0m (2022: £16.0m). A 10% increase in forecast cash outflows would result m an increosed
environmmental provision of £5 2m (2022, £7.8m). Long-term after-care pravisions included 10 landtill restoration and
afrer-care provisions have been inflated of a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An increase of 1% i the rate ot inflation would
result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022: £25.1m).

Retirement Benefit The Group cperates severai defined benefit pension schemes which are occounted for under IAS 19 Employment
Accounting relating Benecfits Penston accounting 1s @ specialist area requiring the exercise of significant monagement judgement and the
to surplus of 95.1m use ot fechnical expertise to determine the surplus or deficit of the scheme in accordance with generally accepted
(sce Note 25) actuarial proctices, The assumptions used in valuing the defined benefit pension liabiities including the discount rare,

mortality assumption and intlation level are complex and changes 1o the assumptions can have a materiol impact on the
value of pension liabilities, As at the end of the tinancial year the Group recogniised a rethemeant benefit surplus of
£95.1m (2022 £166.1m).

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £52.4m (2022: £104.6m). If the infiation
assumption increases by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £478m (2022 100 On). If the lite expectancy
increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benetit asset would decrease by £9.6m (2027 £14.9m)

All pension valuations are performed as af the year end reporting date.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertointy continued

Oneraus Contract
Provision of £20.4m
rsee Note 18)

Goadwill
Impgairment in
Compaony Shop
Group ('CSG) (sen
Noie )

Certain contracts held by the Group are considered anercus and long-term in nature. These contracts can be romplex
and contain key performance indicator clauses where penalties may be incurred in the event of non-complonce. The
Growup is therefore required to moke operational and financicl assumptions 1o estimeate futire losses over periods that
can extend beyond seven vears.,

variohility of contract penalties, underlying dehvery costs, inflation rafes, commedity prices apphed and cusiorner Uoims
or disputes can put additional pressure on morgins and on future contfract profitability, giving rise to anerous contract
provisions. The Group nutigates agonst the nsk of price moverments by entenng mto fuel hedging arongenenis
Management continue o momitor potental cast impacts on services and seek 1o discuss those with customets as
appropriate, on g case-by-case baus

The predichon of future events over extended perods contains inherent risk and the outcome of custamer aned
subcantractor claims is uncertam and involves a high degree of management estimation Management recagrise the
nsk of future onerous contract provisions being recagnised due fo significant cost increnses as detalled above

The Group holds three onerous confract provisions relafing to contracts on Epping Forest, South Oxfordshire & Vale ancl
Leicester The futuie cosh milow from the rermaming onerons contracts nre eghly predicracie as they are fixed, bosea on
the terms af the controct, However, the costs assoriated with delivering the contract can vary and assumphons on futire
rash outflows 1s considesed @ significont estimaote when modellivg the future net cosh outflows on onermus controct
provisians On the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale provision, o 5% increase in future cash autflows waotild
mcrense the provision by £15m On the Leicesies provision a 5% morease in future cosh oltfiows would wi reass the
pProvisian by £2 3m.

In mriving at the onerous contract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Viaie contracts, the Group
s disc ounted the future cash flows using a risk-free rate of 4.6%, If this rate increased by 500 basis points the
provision charge would decrease by £0 2m. In arriving at the onerous contract pravision for the Leicester controct, the
Group has discounted the future cash flows using o nsk-free rate of 45% If this rare increased by 500 pasis poits the
provision charge would decrease by £1 5m

The Group recognised goadwill on completion of the acquisttion of CSG i February 2021 The carryma value of the
goodwill s dependent on future cashflows and, if these cashflows do not meet the Group's expectaiions, there s o rick
hat the assets will be impaired The impairment review performed by the Group cantains a number of sigrificant
estrmaotes

. Revenue in both the shew't and long term

= Gross margin in both the short and long rerm

- Discount rate

Chaonges in these assumphions can hove a significant impact on the espmated value i use An impan meat ossessment
wits parformed by the Group 1n the prior year, with the autcome being the recagnition of a £25 Om impairment 1o
goodwill due To trading under performance, in aceordonce with TAS 36 Imparment of Assets. The annual impairment
assessment was performed agam in the current year, with the value in use exceeding the goodwill carrying amount cand
the outrome being o further immpairment This i< due to improved frading in the year The value 1o uso excludes oy
additionai value which may be generated by futire store rall-outs

The key assumptions when caleulating the value inuse are detailed above. Manngement's calculation of value i 1se has
bieen developed from farecast five year cosh flows which are prepared an the basis of past performang e ond
expectations of fulure performance which considers climate change, market information aond o consistent growth rate

The valuation of the goodwill aliocated fo C5G hos headroom of £29.4m at the end of the finonciol vear The pre tox
discount rate used 10 the value in use colculation wae 10 78%. An increase i the pre-tax discount rate ot 390 basi, points
wolllc recluce heaciroom to nil The average short term annual growth rate used was 3 00% A reduction of 167 basis
pomts in the average shart term annual grow th rate would reduce headroom to nil. The long term componnded annnal
growth rate used was 3 25% A reduction of 587 basis pomts in the Iong term compoundad cnrugl growth mte would
reduce headroom 1o nit. The average gross profit margm used was 56.2%. A rediiction of 210 bases ponts m gross profit
margin would reduce headroom to nil,
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1. Accounting policies continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty confinued

HMRC Landfil Tax
Enquiry

Protective assessments

HMRC has 1ssued protective ossessments totalling opproxmately £377m to BwSL in respect of the penod from March
2016 to Seprember 2021. Consistent with their usual proctice when conducting on enguiry that may reswt in additicnal
liability to tax, the protective assessments have been issued by HMRC before the conclusion of the Enquiry to ensure
that any claim tor paynment of landfill tax that may be made by HMRC as a result of the tindings of the Enguiry is not
fime-barred

These protective assessments are not necessarily an indication of what liohility niuy ultimately arise and may be
amended or withdrawn by HMRC at the conclusion of the Enguiry. BWSL is not currently required 10 make payment to
HMRC or reserve or ringfence funds for o possible poyrment as a result of these profective assessments, however it has
made payments on account of £2.2m to date,

Potential outcomes and liabilities

In Biffa's view, bused on advice received o dote, There are a range of possible curcomes To the Enguiry, including an
ogreed sefflement. To date Biffa has received approximately £37/m of protective assessments from HMRC, HMRC has
alse shared further estimates of liability in the context of without prejudice settlement ciscussions, In addition, BWSL will
incur further costs in conducting and responding to the Enguiry.

At the end of the Enguiry, HMRC will be required to contirm the omeount of the protective assessments It ne settlement
is agreed and BWSL does not accept HMRC's decision, BWSL will be entitled to request a formal statutory review by
HMRC. Assuming HMRC upholds its decision in respect of all or part of the assessments, BWSL will have 30 days from
the dute of HMRC's review decision fo submut an appeal 1o the First-tier Tax Tribunel ('FTT') to challenge BMRC and
formally protect BWSL's position. To bring the appeal, BWSL would be required ta pay the assessed landfill tax to HMRC
at that stage, although BWSL could make o hardship application to HMRC To secure theirr agreement fu the deterral of
the payrment ot the assessed tax, failing which BwSL could apply 1o the FTT directly on grounds ot hardshup. If the
Enguiry resulted in BwSL being liable 1o puy odditional landtill Tox, such amounts should be fax deduchitle.

Provision (see Note 18)

A provision of £20 0m was recognised af 25 March 2022, based on Biffa's best estimate of the habilities at thar point in
time, recognising the fact that the Enquiry was at an earty stage. This refiected the information that hod been shared
with Bitfa af that time and the Directors’ expectations of how the matter would e resolved.

Following the receipt of further correspondence and protective assessments fram HMRC since then, the provision at 31
March 2023 has been increased to £64m

This reflects Biffo’s best estimate of the specific amounts asserted by HMRC in their estmates of hability that hove
been notified to Biffa in the context of without prejudice settlement discussions and addresses the range of matters
arising from the protective assessments and the further esimates of liability excluding the element we consider 1o be a
contingent hability.

The estimate assurmnes that any possible penalty that could be levied would be suspended subject to certuin conditions
and accordingly has not been recogiised, A suspended penalty will not need to be paid providing we meet the relevant
conditions during the suspension pericd and do not incur @ further penalty within the suspension period,

Further labilities could artse in relation to general issues raised by HMRC about Biffu's complance with the gualitying
fines regime set ocut in LFTL. These been disclosed as a contingent hability.

The ulhmate manner of settlement of the liability remains uncertain but we do not believe payiment will be due before 31
March 2024 and cccordingly we have disclosed the liabiiity as non-current

Contfingent Liability (see Note 27)

A provision has been recognised n respect of specific amounts asserted by HMRC to dafe However, general 1ssues have
alse been raised by HMRC about how certan reguirements within the qualifying fines regime sef out in LFTL were
intended To be applied in practice, and the extent to which Biffa has complied with these requirements.

Based on advice received 1o date for these areas, o present obligation does not exist and a liability is not probable
BWSL's potential additional liability for landfill tax for the relevant period could be up To approximately £114m based on
information provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding 1o the Enquiry.

Based un advice received, the Directors do not consider a liability is likely to arise in respect of sucih general 1ssues, nor
can a cost be reliakly estimated, and therefore this item 1s treated as o conhingent Iability and no provision arises for
these general issues.

In order to illustrate the irmpact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group's results and financial position, further sensitivity
analysis has been included within the Notes,
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2. Segmental information

The Group s managed by type of business and is argonised into three operating divisions:

Collartinng which encampasses Municipal and ndustric! & Commercial
- Resources & Energy which consists of Inerts, Organics, Recycling and Landfill Gos
. Speciahst Services which mclides Company Shop Group and Industrial Services.

These operating divisions represent the business segments in which the Group reports its primary seqgment infarmation and are consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maoker Head office costs are recorded within the Group Business
Function (‘GBF) division, however for aperating and business decisions only three divisions are considered. Group Business Function costs
represent shored services and corparate ¢osts (including, infer alia, Board ond corporate ¢osts, finance, HR, [T, legal and insurance,
external affors and Sotety, Health, Environment and Quality Management ('SHEQY). The chief operating decision maker, wha 15
responsible for allocating resaurces and assessing performance of the operating divisions, has been identified as the Group Fxecuitive

Team

The Group's seqgmental results are as follows:

2023
CRevenue
Collections 1,006 1
Resanrces & Fnergy 4394
_Specialist Services —— 23T
Total . L6804

2022
. Em
8739
395.7

_7al
1,443.2

Revenue within divisions 15 eliminated upon consolidation. Sales between operafing divisions are carned out ot arm’s length There have
been no matenal amounts of revenue recognised in the year that relate fo pertormance obligations satisfied or partially satisfied in
previous yedars Revenue received where the performance obligation wil be fulfitied in the future is clossified as deferrad income or

contract labilimes ond disclosed i Note 14

All trading activity and operations are in the United Kingdom and there 15 therefore no secondary reparting formet by geographical

segment There s no single cusiomer that goceounts for mare that 10% of the Group’s revenue (2022, none),

2023 2022

_Operating profit/foss) | ——— B BT
Collections 759 &h 6
Resourees & Energy 63 1/5
Specialist Services 127 (199
Group Business Funiction B o il o (117.2) LAY
Total U S 67 . (83)
e 2023 _ e 2022
Depreciation Amortisation Total ODepreciation Amorfisation Total

. Depreciation and Amartisation o fm 0 EM  fm  Em o Em_ o Em
Colfections 636 5.2 48.8 55.8 45 60.3
Resources & Energy 323 227 55.0 297 251 54.8
Specialist Services 3.0 .4 8.4 A7 - 6.2

JGroun Business fametion 41 1.0 5.1 SRS S = . = 2
Torat o - g0 w3 1373 945 507 1256
2023 2022

_Property, plant and equipment - net book value e - €m  _fm
Caollrctions 3603 a3
Resources & Ererdy 2089 22
Specialisy Services 304 505
Cxoup Business Funchion o e L e o550 208
Total 654.6 617.2
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2, Segmental information continued
2023 2022
‘Other intangible assets - net book value o .. &M Em
Collections 452 213
Resources & Energy 626 1718
Specialist Services - 54
Group Busmmess Function 98.8 744
Total 206.6 2229
2023 2022
Capital expenditure £m £m
Collections 1234 1041
Resources & Energy 275 962
Specialist Services 18 164
Group Business Funictian 21.7 71
_Total 1744 2238

Capital expendituie comprises additions to intfangible assefs ond property, plant and equipment mcluding leased assets and acguisitions.

3 Finance income and charges
2023 2022
£m £m
Interest on bank overdrafts, bonds and loans (15.8) M7
Interest on lease habilities (Note 24) (10.3) (98)
Inrerest unwind on discounted provisions (Note 18) (3.3) (2,83
_Interest on forward confracts (0.1) (0.1)
Total finance charges {(29.5) (22.4)
[nterest income 19 08
Net inferest on the net defined benefit surplus (Note 253 48 25
Total finance income 6.7 3.2
_Net finance charges (22.8) (19.2)
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4. Profit before taxation

The following costs / (income) have been included in arriving af the profit before taxation:

2023 2022
e el o . Motes  Em Em_

Fmpliyee costs 5 430.9 3A1L0
Cost ot inventories recognised in expense 12 876 683
EVP tux dispute 1.2 208
Provision for HMRC landfill tax enquiry 50.7 170
Net defined henefit surplus (income) / expense 25 (1% 0.5
Deprectation of property, plont ond couipmont. 1
. Owned assets 5272 42.8
. Right-of -use gssets 558 521
. Amortisation of intangible assets 10
. Acgusition intangibles 257 96
v Other infangibles 4.1 11
. Expense / (income) relaling to short-term ledases and leases of low-valie assets
. Piant and machinery 238 21.0
«  Other 2.2} 45
Impairments 89 2.1 250
Income from sub-leasing right-of -use assets (33 (3.3)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets (23 (62)
Inrome fram grants (G.2) 04y

Expecied credit loss recognised 12

During the current financial periad an impairment of £8.7m was recognised in relation to the Paplors anaerobic digestion plant, n addition
o o £04m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site, In the prior period an impairment of £25.0m was recngnised in relation to
the gaodwil arising fram the CSG acguisition,

Operating costs have been split into administration and distribution costs as detdiled below:

2023 2022

S - —— e M Em

Distribution coste 262 261
Jdm\msquhve expeses o o ‘5&

_Operating costs

5. Employees and Directors

The average monthly number of persons (including Exerutive Directors) employed by 1he Group, by reporting division during the period,
IS

2023 2022
R e Number __Number
Collections 7291 6,749
Resources & Enorgy 1246 L.105
Specialst Services 1,709 [.A54
~ Group Business Funchion . AQ0 .
Total e e 10836 9,744
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2023 2022
S _ o £m
wages and salartes 379.5
Sooal srcurity costs 373
Other pension costs 12.2
,E‘TFL"C’E‘”CV and termination payments e 1.9
_Total. 4309
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5. Employees and Directors continued

Directors’ remuneration
During the year, the emocluments of the 7 (2022: 9) Directors ot The Group were as follows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregare emoluments 19 23

Company contributions to money purchase penston schemes 0.2 02

Coimpensation for [oss of otfice 0.1 -

Total 2.2 2.5

2023 2022

The number of Directors who: Number Number

Are members of a money purchuse pension scheme 2 2

Exercised options over shares in the Company 2 -

Had awards receivable in 1he torm of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 2 2

2023 2022

Highest paid Director £m £m

Aggregate emaoluments 11 11
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes L ¢ S £ 8 S

Total 1.2 1.2

In addifion 1o the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the year and had shares receivable under long-term incentive
schemes.

6. Auditor's remuneration

The analysis of the Company and Group's auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

2023 2022
. . £m £m
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s consolidated

annuatl financial statements 10 10

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 05 a5

Incregse in fees paid to the Company’s ouditor related 1o the audit in the pricr period o7 -

Total audit fees 22 15
_ Audit-related assurance services o 0.1 o ol
__Tetal audit and non-audit fees o . 2.3 R

Subseguent to the release of the Annual Report and Accounts 2022, a remuneration increase of £0.7m was agreed with the aquditors for the
audit work performed on the accounts for the year ended 25 March 2022,

The other assurance services provided by the guditor related to agreed upon procedures and other assurance services outside of statutory
requirements.
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7. Taxation recognised in profit or loss

Current tax
Current perind
Adjustrents i respect of prior years

Deferred tax
Crigination and reversal of tempaorary differences
Adjustment in respect of prior years

_Adjustment attributante 1o changes in tarx ates and lows.

_Total tax charge / (credit)

Corporation tax is calruiated at 19% (2022: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The charge for the period can be

reconciled to the profit per the conschdated income statement as follows’

Loss before taxation

L ass multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the Uk of 19% (20772 19%)
Effects of:

Adjustments i respect af peor years

Fxpenses not deductible for fax purposes

Super deduction

Change in rate

Non-1axable tncome

__Total tax charge / (credi;)‘

2023 2022
B _Em
0.1 02z
L _(Loy . Lo
R 0.9 02
(2.8} (75)
06 03
S A _2m
— 25 1Y)
— ke LDy
2023 2022
£m . Em
(1s.1) (28.6)
29 (54
33 03
44 0.2)
4 (58]
06 (20
U L3 S (*)
S . R ¢ 2 %) I

in addition o the amount charged to the consolidated income statement, the following amounts have been (credited) / charged directly

10 ecuity:

_Deferred tax (credit) / charge arisingon:
Actuanal gams , iosses

Herdging
| Share-hased paymients

_Total deferred tax (credited) / charged directly to equity

2023 2022

S - S <. N 1.,
(70 6) 150
(24 20

(1.5} e

(24.5) et

The Findnce Act 2021, which pravides for an increase in the main rate of corporation tox from 19% to 25% effective from L Aprd 2023, was
enacted on 24 May 2021, As deferred tax assets and licbilities are measured at the rates that are expected to apply in the pericds of
reversal, deferred tax balances at the halonce sheet date have heen calculated ar the rate at which the relevant balance 15 expected to he

recovered or settled.

8. Acquisitions
53-week period ended 31 March 2023

DJB Recyceling Limited

On 1 Juby 2022, the Group acquired the trade and assets of DIB Recycling hirmited, a waste collection and recycling business for
conaiderotion of £1 7m The husiness generated revenue of ¢ £4.7m i the 17 months prior to acquisthion, employved 31 peaple, had o fleet of

14 vehicles and opercted from 2 sites in Sheffield. Goadwill arising on the acquisition was £0.6m.

Since acgiisition 1o 1he end of the fmanciol yeor, DIB Recychng bos generated revenues of £2.9m ond o profit before tox of £0.4m. I 1he
acquisiton had been campleted on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £1.684 3m and

aperating profit for the year wonld have been £29.7m,

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 60



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. Acquisitions continued

53-week period ended 31 March 2023 continued

Forge Recycling (Holdings) Limited

On 2 November 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share cupital of Forge Recycling (Holdings) timited and its subsidiaries. Forge

Recycling is a Leeds-based I&C collections business with 100 employees and 3,800 customers. Upfront net cash consideration was £14 7m,
with a further contingent sum due post year-end, calculated by reference to the performance of the acquired business through ta the end
of March 2023. The final contingent sum payable was £2.3m. Goodwill arising on the acquisition was £12.1m.

Since acquisition to the end of the financial year Forge has generated revenues of £59m and o profit betore tax of £0.7m. 1t the
acquisition had been completed on the first day ot the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £31,694.5m and
operating profit for the year would have been £30 4m.

As at 31 March 2023, the cpening balance sheet for the Forge acguisition remains within the 12 month measurement period post-
acquisition and should therefare be considered provisional.

Total Recycling Services Limited

On 21 March 2023, the Group ucguired 100% of the share copital of Totat Recycling Services Limited. Totul Recycling is an industrial waste
management business with 3 sites across the North East of Engkand, approximately 100 employees and 200 customers. Upfront net cash

consideration was £17.1m and Goodwill arising on the acquisition was £12.0m.

In addition to net cash consideration paid above, acquired borrowings of £4.0m included within net assets were repaid by the Group.

Givert the timing of the acquisition the business’ contribution to the revenue and profit before tax was irmmaterial. The business generated
revenue of c.£15m 1n the 12 months prior to acguistion. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group
revenues for the year would have been £1,695.2m ond operating profit far the yeor would have been £29.8m.

As ar 31 March 2023, the opening balance sheet for the Tofal Recycling Services acquisition remains within the 12 month measurement

period past-acquisition and should therefore be considered provisional.

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets ccquired and liabilities assumed ore set out in the Table below:

Total
DIB Farge Recycling
Recycling Recycling Services Total
- £m _E&m £m £m
Intangible assets 08 6.4 53 125
Property, plant and equipment 08 26 8.4 118
Trade und other receivables - 1.9 29 48
Inventory - - Gl 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents - 34 09 4.3
Deferred tax liability (0.2 (22) (22) (5.8)
Trade cnd other payables - (20 (3.9 5.9
Lease livhilities (0.3 (14} (0.5) (2.2)
Borrowings - (0.4} 4.0) 4.9
Total net assets 1.1 8.3 6.0 15.4
Goodwlll 046 12.1 12.0 247
Total censideration 17 204 18.0 40.1
Satistied by:
Cash 1.4 181 18.0 375
Deferred and conningent consideranion 03 2.3 - ib
Total consideration transferred 17 20.4 18.0 40.1
Cash consideration 1.4 18.1 180 315
Deferred and contingent consideration paid 03 - - 0.3
Less cosh and cash equivalents acquired - (343 0.5} (43}
_Net cash flow arising on acquisition 1.7 14.7 _ 171 335

Acquisition-related costs included in adjusting items cmount 1o £2.0m (2022: £ 41n). See the Appendix for further details.
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8. Acquisitions continued

52-week period ended 25 March 2022

0N 31 August 2021, the Group aceuired 100% of the share capital of Syracuse Waste Limited ond its subsidiaries trom the vindor Group
Syrocuse Waste [imited s o specially creoted entity inta which Viridor hived down 11s coliections business and certenn recycling assets in
order to enable the sale The dedl invalved the transfer of approximately 21,000 existing Vindor business waste customers alongside o
network of 15 depots across the UK. The acqguisition 1s in line with the Group's growth strategy and complements the current operations
across the Collechions and Resources & Energy divisions. The aceounting on the Viridor gcaquisition, in occardance with IFRS 3 Business
Crmbingtions, invelves a number of key judgementis. The majority of these judgements were made during the year ending 25 Mareh 2022,
bt some rdditional adjustments have beenh marcde in the carrent perind, as set aut below.

The adjustments are grouned as follows

- £2.0m of assets within Property, plant ond equipment have been impalived to £nil

- Expected future capital expenditure abligations on the West Sussex Recycling contract have increased, increasig the [FRIC 12
provision by £3 8 and reducing the IFRIC 12 intangible asset by £1 2m
Recewablas and Payables have been updated, with a net €0.6m incredse to working capitol
Deferred tax calculotions have been updated, resulting in a £3 7m reduchion i the net deferred 1ox ligbility

These adjustments have caused an increase of £2 8m to the goodwill arising on acquisition

O 25 June 2021, the Groug accuved the trade and assets of Green Lircle (Polymers) Limited in exchange for cash consideration of £5 6m
and deterred cash consileration of £3.7m payable over o peiiod of 13 vears. The deferred considerction had an ccquisition dare foir value
of £3.3m. Soadwill of £& O was recagmsed an acauaisition. Dunng the covrent period, outstanding deferred consderarion of €0 5mm was
settled

9. Goodwili

Cost
As ot 25 Morehy 2022
Aclditions (Note B)

- Adiustments 1o pnor
As at 31 March 7023

Aecumulated impairment lesses
_As at 25 March 2G22 ) . i } . o fEnS

Net book value

oot iSMarch 2020 e L2083
CAsat3iMarch02s o AnE
2023 2622
o L _ o L o o _Em ~_Em
Coflections 171.2 158 5
Resources & knergy 595 H6 7
JSproehstSeraces . U = SO
_Toral 2918 2645
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9. Goodwill continued

Operating divisions

At each reporting period the Group reviews whether there are any indicgtors of impairment in accordance with IAS 36: Impairment of
Assets. An annual impairment review is completed by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill tor each operating division to 11s
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its tair volue less costs of disposal and its value in use. It the recoverable
amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairmerntt loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill and then to

the assets of the operating division,

The key assumptions when calculating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs Management’s catculotion of value in use has been
developed from forecast five-yeor cash flows which are prepared based on post performance and expectations of future performance. The
value in use i1s also determined after considering market information and o consistent growth rate thereafrer,

The pre-tax discount rates used in the value in use calculations ot year end are as follows:

+  Collections 11.00%
. Resources & Energy 10.00%

. Specialist Services 10.00% (excluding Company Shop Group, for which see below)

The annual growth rate assumption for the Group's operating divisions beyond the five-year plan perod, based on market trends, afrer
adjustment for assumed inflation, is 3.25% (2022: 2.0%). This is considered appropriate due 1o the fong-term nature of the business. No
reusonably foreseeable change in the assumptions used in the value in use calculations would cause an impairment to any of the

operating divisions.

Company Shop Group

Specialist Services goodwill includes £40.6m (2022: £40.6m) attributable to CSG. The valuoticn of the goodwll allocated to CSG has
headroom of £29.4m af the end of the financial year. The pre-tax discount rate used In the value in use cdlculation was 10.75%. An increase
in the pre-tax discount rate of 390 basis points would reduce headroom te nil. The long term compounded annual growth rate used was
225% A reduction of 587 basis points in the long term compounded annual growth rate would reduce headroom te nil. The average gross
profit margin used was 56.2%. A reduction of 210 basis peints in gross profit margin would reduce heudroom 1o nil.

16.  Other intangible assets

Service
Landfill IT Customer concession
gas rights  development Brands contracts agreements Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
As al 26 March 2021 190.2 8.3 45.2 824 - 326.1
Acquired through business cambination - - 03 512 375 69.0
Additions - 21 - - - 21
Disposals - (L&) - - - (1.&)
As at 25 March 2022 190.2 8.8 45.5 113.6 375 395.6
Acquired through business combination - - - 125 - 12.5
Adjustments to prior penod acguisitions (Note 8) - - - - (1.2) (1.2)
Additions - 1.7 - - - 17
_Disposals - 4.0 (1.3 (457) - (510
As at 31 March 2023 190.2 6.5 44.2 804 363 3576
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As at 26 March 2021 (89.8) (37 (1.2 (48.9) - (143.6)
Amaortisation chorge for the period (20.1) ap 0.3 (7.2} (2.0) (30.7)
Disposels - 16 - - - 16
As at 25 March 2022 (109.9) 3.2) {1.5) (56.1) (2.0) (172.7)
Amortisation charge for the period (18.8) {1.0y - (64) (3.1) (29.3)
Disposals - 4.0 1.3 457 - 51.0
As at 51 March 2023 (128.7) (0.2) {0.2) {16.8) (5.1) {151.0)
Net book value
_As ot 31 March 2023 61.5 63 44.0 63.6 312 206.6
As at 25 March 2022 803 56 44.0 57.5 355 2229
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10, Other intangible assets continued

During the year, tThe Group undertook a review of our fixed asset register to determime assets that are no longer In use by the business
Disposals of intangible assets in the current year with o gross cost and accumulated amortisation and impairment of £51.0m relate to this
review.

The Group holds mtangible assets relating to the Landfill Gas ('LFG") business. The LFG business generates some of its income vig the
production of Renewable Obligation Certificates ('ROCs"). These are “green energy certificates” which are issued to operators of
aecredited ranewable generating stations for the eligible renewable electricity that they generate. ROCs are then sold on to energy
praviders for which the Group recognises revenue on saies. The ROCs scheme lasts for 20 years and the mejority of landfill gos sites will
see their ROCs scheme terminate in financial year 2027. At this paint, the revenue and profit profile of the LFG division will change
significantly. The Group recagnised amortisghon of £18 8m an LFG sites during the financial year (2022 £20.1m).

All amortisation choarges are recognised in profit or loss. Included within 1T development costs are internally generated cssets with o net
book value »f £3.2m (2022: £2 4m). The omortisation charge in relation 1o these assets was £0.6m (2027: £0 6m).

Given the sigmificant mvestment in technology and IT development, the Group undertakes a review of the remaining useful lives of assets
each vear ond impars where necessary those that are superseded by new technology. The key estimate underpinning the value in use for
IT proects is forecast costs,

TFRS 3 requires that on acguisition, intangible assets are recorded at fair value. The Bitfa brand was first created in the early 20th century
and i1as been used throughout the Group since then. It remains a highiy recognisable brand. Given the longewvity of the brand, the Directors
congider the asset to have an indefinite hfe. The Directors reconsider the valuation of the brand at each reporting date. The recognrition of
brand and landfilt gas rights as intangible assets initially arose during the foir value exercise undertaken following the acguisition of the
Biffa Groups by wasteholdeo 1 in 2008, The values were subsequently remeasured following the restructuring of the Group in 2013

11.  Property, plant and equipment

Flont, Assets
Land and Landfill vehicles and under
buildings Sites® equipment construction Total
i fm  £m o fm ___fm _im
Cost
Az at 26 March 2021 2477 934 418 2 67 /05 A
Acquired through business comibination 19.8 - 2972 - 45.0
Adjustment to priot period acounsitions 14 - - - 1.4
Additions, 125 a1 764 83 023
Bisposals (35) aty (36.4) - (4é )
Transfers ) - il 283 (28 3) S
As at 25 Mareh 2022 919 99.5 5158 6.2 9134
Acauired through business combination 39 - 79 - 1.8
Adjustments to pricr petiod acgusitions (Note 8) - - ()] - (21)
Adkchitions, 175 29 61t JO 2 1517
Disposals (47.5) - {244 3) - (7591 8)
Tramsfecs AU N €2 N LA N & <2 S £ )
_Asot3iMaren202s — W52 002 2 855 88 2 7808
1 o Ol seees meluges €7 0m 20622 S8 Am o relatior T Bt e econome beaelit 1o oe derved @0 A ez It nf artvely fulfiling afrer-care nbligotions ot e
zneratian Lanadlb e ranafeec el €0 2 o022 £ imenalation rootee fitlire econoee beref 1o Ee derved ns d result of actvely felfilling afree core shhiannees sbat
N0t geaionee wWhan the aphgorina i s 35 A hravislon Qives gdeess o f ire economin, beref tyoan ewset i prnnerty plost ord egoeeeent e ogneed
v the prom e ans e e re g serlas imates thet el e the e set es pagonnand as i s lmanes rthe eorepng veltie of tho amses afhar the mrmarg e af L

cenet 1o regerttvs Chese araclnssifian 19 previsior .
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11.  Property, plant and equipment continued

Plant, Assets
Land and Landfill  yehicles and under
buildings Sites? equipment construction Total
£m £m £m fm_ fm
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As of 26 March 2021 (533) (56.3) (132.8) (1.0) (2454)
Depreciation charge for the period (20.4) (4.7) (69.8) - {949
Disposals 5.0 - 36.1 - 421
As at 25 March 2022 67.7) (61.0) (166.5) {1.0) (296.2)
Depreciation charge for the period (19.G) (4.6) (835.5) - (108.0)
Impairment charge for the period - - (9.1) - @n
Disposals 45.2 - 241.9 - 2871
_ As af 31 March 2023 _ (a24y (65.6) (17.2) {(1.0) (126.2)
Net book value
As at 31 March 2023 2228 34.0 358.3 38.9 654.6
As at 25 March 2022 2247 385 3493 5. 6172
i Landnill sites mcdudes £59m (2027 £8 By erelution to fufuie econeane benett 1o be denved as aresult of achively fulfilling ufrer-cure ubligamions thar cesulie moyos

Generanan . anatill site ransters include £2 2m (2022 £11m)neelation fo the tuture economic benelit tu be detived @s a result ul euTively fultithicg atter care sbligunions ™a”
resalfs 1 gas genetunion whien the ubligation recugmsed as a provision gives sceess To future economic benetits, an usset n property, plunt and equiprient s recogrised
Chunges in the prowvisior drising from revised estunates that relute To the usse? die tecorded Us udjustments to the carrying volue of the asset when tho carrying volue ol the

assel s negoTive, these are cissified 1o provisions

Assets corresponding 1o the Poplars Anaerobic Digestion Plunt with o 1otal net book value of £9 1m were impaired fo £nil duning the year

due 1o Ity performance being weaker than expected,

During the year, the Granp nndertonk n review of our fixed asset register to determine assets that are no longer in use by the business.
Disposais of property, plant and eguipment in the current year with a gross cest and accumulated depreciation and impairment of

£281 8m relate to this review.

In addition, further assefs were disposed of in retumn for consideration. These consisted of Land and Buildings with a net book vatue of
£2.3m and vehicles and eguipment with g net book value of £2.4m Total proceeds ot £7.0m were received (2022 £6.9m), of which £5.2m
was cash, leading to the recegnition of a gain on disposal of fixed assets of £2 3m (2022 £6.2m).

Lond and buitdings and landfill sites at net bock value comprise:

2023 2022
Land and Landfill Land and Landfill
buildings sites buildings sites

- £m gm0 gm £m_
Freehold 42.0 125 42.8 135
Long leasehold 65.2 143 58.7 16.0
Short leasehold o 1156 7.8 1227 9.0
222.8 146 2242 585

As ar 31 March 2023 the Group had enfered into contractual commitiments for the acquisition of plant, property ond equipiment

amounting to £49.6m (2022 £12.5m).
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11.  Property, plant and equipment confinued

Right-of-use assets

The Group records s nght-of-use assets within property, plant ond eguipment The Group leases assets includmng buildings ond plant nnd

anuipmoent

The averuge lease ferny is 14.8 years (2022: 12.8 years) The Group has options to purchase certain plant ond equipment far ¢ nominal
umount at the end of the fease term The Group's obligations ore secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such leases,

The carrying amount of the Group's total right-of-use assets included within Property, plant and equipment are as follows.

Plant,
Land and vehicles and
buildings equipment Total
Carrying amount £m £m £m
7 As at 26 P\;nrch 2021 1726 ;‘7,*’:‘4 T 2960
Acoured threngh business combinahion 127 A 17.3
Adchtions R2 2073 285
Deprecation charge for the period (173 (34.0) {519
Disposals 1.8 07 20
Lease modifications 07 - 0.4
_A: at 25 March 2022 T - 179.-1:__ 113.5 MHZ-‘?Z_.-;-
acguired throngh business combination 0.1 21 2.2
Acldihions 11.0 521 631
Depreciation charge for the pernd (17.8) (382 (A5 RY
Dieposals (0.9 (D.6) (15
| ense modificotions 54 - 5Y
Transferred to owned assets (207N K3 (17 1
" As at 51 March 2025 * N 1566 1325 2891
" Net book value o o T o T
As at 31 March 2023 156.6 132.5 2891
A ot 26 March 2022 ) 7 - 1791 1135 292 h ’
12.  Inventories
2023 2022
£m £m
Row materials and consumcahles 32 23
. Fnished goods . o803 29
435 352

Inventonies are stated al the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories consumed in the pencd ended 31 March 2023 were £876m
(2022. £68 3m) Inventory written down in the pertod totalled £Emif (2022: £nil). Reversals of nventory previously written down in the period

were Ll (2022 Lmly

At the end of the foncial yvear £38m (2022 £4 2m) of inventory held by the Group related to CSG,
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13, Trade and other receivables

2023 2022

_Amounts falling due within one year L T 2. - £m_
Trade recewvables 1835 178.0
Less expected credit loss allowarnce (6.3) (58)
Trade receivabies - net 1772 172.2
Other deblors 115 53
Prepayments 259 30.0
_Prepaid landtill provision expenditure 33 01

_217.9 2076

Ihe Directors cansider that the carrying amount of trade receivables opproximates their fair value

All amounts included within other debtors and prepayments are due within one year. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Due to their short
maturities, the fair volue of trade and other receivables approximates to their book value. The average credif penod Taken on invoices was 38 duys
(2022 35 days).

Includged within Other debtors 1s £6.1m reloted to the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland. Refer to Note 34 for further infermanen,

Included in the Group's trade receivables balances are debts with a carrying amount of £32.5m (2022 £16.2m) which are past due at the reporfing
date, representing 18% of the total balance (2022; 9%),

Credit hmits for new customers are assigned based on the customer’s credi quality. An external credit sconng system s used before assigning any
credit imit over £500. Managernent menitors the utilisation of credit Imits regularly Thie frade receivables balance consists of a large numiber of
customer balances, in excess of 84,000, represented largely by local account customers, and there 1s no significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group writes off o trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial ditficulty and there is no reulistic
prospect of recovery, for example when a customer enters liquidation. The following table details the risk profile of trade recervables As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not show signiticantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance
based on past due status 1s not distinguished between type of customer.

e 2023 - 2022

Expected Lifetime Expected Lifetime

credit loss expected credit loss expected

rate credit loss rate credit loss

Trade receivables - days post due % £m % £m
1 1o 30 days 1.0% 34 1.0% 27
31 1o 60 days 1.0% 0.3 1.0% 0.5
61 10 90 days 1.0% 03 1.0% 0.3
Over 90 days 50 0% 23 50.0% 23
&3 5.8

The allowance for expected credif loss (‘ECL) includes individually impaired trade receivables which are in excess of 120 days overdue, 1n liguidation
or are the subject of legal action The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount ut these trade receivables and the
present value of any expected recoveries. Expected credit losses ore recognised in accordance with the simphtied approach set out in IFRS 3.

2023 2022
_Mavement in expected credit loss £m . Em
Balance at the beginning of the period 5.8 4.6
Impairment losses recogrised in the period 54 1.4
Amounts recovered during the periud (3.9 LO
Amounts written off s uncollectable (1.0} {(1.2)
Balance at the end of the period 6.3 5.8
Long-term receivables
2023 2022
Amounts folling due after more thon one year £m £m
Funds on long-term deposit o 25 23
2.5 23

No expected credit loss has been recognised for long-term receivables cn the basis that the counterparties are A-rated tinancial institutions.
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14, Assets and Liabilities related to Contracts with Customers

Contract assets

2023 2022
- £m £m
Eurrent contrict gssets S —— S 1 B ) P
62.5 7.8

Contract assets prmarily relate to the Group's nght ta consideration for work completed but not invoiced at the balance sheet dale,
Contract ossets are transferred to trade recevables when the amounts are agreed by the customer On most contracts, certificatas and
agreetnent is by the customer an a monthly basis. All contract assets held at 31 March 2023 is expected 1o he invoiced and transferred to
trade receivables within the next 12 months.

None of the contract assets ot the end of the reporting periad is past due, and, Yaking into account the historical default experience and
the future prospects in the industry, the Directors consider that no controct assets are iImMpaired.

Contract liobilities

2023 2022
B [ e L _ . Em L Em_

_ Current contract labilities @9 Q271
{27.9) {27.1)

The tiring of payments recerved from customers, relative 1o the recording of revenue, can have a significant impact on the liabilities
recarded on the Group’s Statement of Financial Position.

Certain contracts have payment terms based on contractual milestones, which are not necessarily aligned to when revenue is recogrised,
particulorly for those contracts with revenue recognised over hme by reference to the stage of completion, Where cash is received m
advonce of work caried cut, ond therefore the revenue recognised, o controct hobility arises.

The contract liohilities primarnly relate 1o the advance cansideration receved from customers in respect of performance abligations which
have not yet been fully satisfied and for which revanue has nol been recagnised. All contract liabilities held et 31 March 2023 are expected
to satisfy performance obligations in the next 12 months

15.  Cash ond cash equivalents

2023 2022

. 7_ &m__ £m

Cash ot bank and w hoand 412 407
Short term deposits i L a1 b
413 40.8

Deposits comprise of an msurance deposit of £01m (2022 £0.6m) which represents cash held as security for self-insurance obligations

16. Financial instruments

2023 2022

_ Assets held at amortised cost £m - £m
_bwudiy foed . o o 25 - 107

9.5 10.7

1 Lnarrnt gz adrmnte bebrd by Beog Iaen ane e O oarpnty Lirsised, e e oopts - aptise muma e moene iy
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16, Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments
The derivatives that the Group has entered into qualify for hedge designation as cash flow hedges under IFRS 2. All cash flow hedges were
deermed to be fully effective and therefore movements in fuir value were all recognised within the hedge reserve

The Group has entered info forward foreign exchange rate contracts which ali mature within one year, these torwards will be used by the
Group to hedge Euro currency payments for the export of Refuse Derived Fuel ('REE"). The forward foreign exchange confracts have
resulted in the recognition of ¢ derivative lability of £nil (2022: £0.2m).

The Group enters nto commodity swaps To hedge agamst future movements in fuel prices. At the end of the financial year these hedges
were 10 an asset position of £0.5m (2022 £11.7m).

The fair value measurements of derivatives are classified as Level 2 1n the fair value hierarchy os defined by IFRS 13 Farr Value
Measurement, as they are derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or ichility, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (1.e. derived from prices).

2023 2022

Fair value National Fair value Notional

£m £m £m £m

Forward foreign exchange confracts - 53 (02) 6.3
_Commodity hedges ___ — .05 38 M7 254

0.5 40.1 115 30.2

The table below represents the cunwlative amount of gains and losses on the Group's derivative tinanciol instruments,

Foreign exchunge risk Interest rate risk ~ Commoditynsk ——— Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
L £m _fm__ fm &m £m £m £m £m
Balance at the beginning of the perod 0.2 0.3 - 27 (11.7) 0.6 (115) 36
Gain / (loss) arising on changes in fair 0.2) (0.1 - 1.4 (0.2) (16.1) (0.4) (14.8)
value ot hedging instruments during the
period
(Ganry / loss reclassified 1o profit or loss - - - - (4.1 - - - (4.1)
forecast tronsaction no longer expected to
oceur
Cumulative (gain) / loss fransferred to - - - - 11.4 3.8 ila 38
initial carrying amount of hedged items e o
Balonce at the end of the period - 0.2 - - (0.5)  (1L7) (0.5}  (115)
Borrowings
2023 2022
£m m
Private placements and bank loans 4185 630.5
_ EVP preference ligbility o . 14.3 145
432.8 6444
2023 2022
Book Average Book Avetage
value  inferest rate value  interest rate
£m k) £m %
Current
Private placements and bank loans 345.0 2.6% - -
EVP preference instrument 63 - - -
3*51,3,W P -
Non-current
Private placements and bank loans - - 354.0 184
Parent company loan 735 8 3% - -
EVP preference instrument 8.0 - 14.3 -
81.5 368.3
_Total borrowings L 432.8 5683
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16. Financial instruments continued

Borrowings continued
Refer toy Note 23 for the cashflow movement an harrowings during the current and prior finoncial periods

The Group repaid its Revolving Credit Facility CRCF™) duning the year, using funds loaned from its parent company, Biffa Bidco timited,
The private placeinents have been classified as current hecause they were terninated on 23 May 2023

In 1he year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IPO lenders were issued with preference share capital in Wasteholdco 1 Limited in exchange
for settlement of amounts due to them. The gssociated liability 1s £14 3m,

Barrowings are measured at amortised cost and the EVP preference liability is measured at fair valire, All finoncial assets and finahool
abilthes have heen clossifiod as Level 2 in the foir volue ierarchy as defined by 1FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Interest rates on borrowings

L w0 2022
Principal Average Principal Average
amount  interest rate amount  interest rate
e £m % . Em
Term facHity - - 9.0
Parent company loan 735 8.3% - -
Private placement - £150 0m 150.0 2 7% 150.0 2 7%
_Privete plocement - £195.0m - e o lsboy 25% 1850 25%
[ — — M85 3580
Fair vaive of financial assets and liabilities
e R0 L2022
Book value Fair vaiue Book value Fair value
e MNotes _ __ fm_ _ _fm__ __ fm ___ _ £m_
Financial assets
iraide nad other receivables? 13 1772 1772 1722 172.2
Finonhoigl usset ansing on hgudity fond 95 2.5 10.7 7
Financial asset ansing from TFRIC 12 22 43 43 40 4.0
Financial asset arising from copitalisation of borrowing fees’ - 1.0
Financial asset grising from mvestment i Lovejunk { imited 06 06
Funds on long-rerm deposit 13 25 23
L oains to joint ventures and associates 20.7 14.3
Dervative financal instrument 0.9 117
Coshoand cosh eguivelents R L T L 1 X1 - o408
e 2565 2565 2576
Fingncial tabilities
Private plaorements and bank inans’ (345010 (306 ) (354 ) (3374)
Parent company loan {735} (735} -
tease ligbilities 24 (7283 5) (283 5) 1276 3) (2/63)
EVP preforence habiiity 29 {14 3) (143) 143y £14 %)
Trade and other pavables’ 17 (305 6) (305.6) 1286.1 (786 7)
Deferred and contingent consideration (5% {5 (77 (72)
_Dervatve fingncial msfrument L 8048 o4y Len o mh
S . (1,0282)  (989.2) (938.7) 922.1)
__Net financial liabilities . . o _ (771.7) (732.7) (681.1) (664.5)
1 Tiase and nther recerwables s ires prapayvmests and estaar deptors,
- Tirde gt othen poyables xcluzes continasnt bnilities deferied eoime, tavo®* cncengd socal cempe by g ether non figanecl | ol hee

oned Lo donns o loees £ 105001 green oon sollieens 199 einely b 8 Stk Dy Vinked Fainen e Teomewnrk s the ween segder] 05 B 3007 The faet
by 2030 oed fnphea Bt Polumers plastics racerl v e i gy 2078
sveostynf €10 uinrred 0 the o gnatet ot e provate phoacsment e e wnites ol dar nu the yenr

e b e et merea trrat, radl fingg < e Tare 3 GHG ermsaor: by S

1 iacmn tead frosoet

The foir values of non-derivative finanoial assets and liatilities are determined based on discounted cash flow analysis using cunent
market rates for similar instruments
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16. Financial instruments continued

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose It to a variety of financial risks: market rnisk (including capital risk monagement, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency rnisk and price nisk), credit risk and ligquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programmes focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital structure using a number of measures and toking infe account its future strategic plans, Such measures
include its net interest cover, liquidity and leverage ratios. Total capital is calculoted as ‘equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position plus Net Debt. Net Debt i1s colculoted as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) iess cash and cosh equivalents. The Directors are satisfied that the current risk management
strateqy 1s appropnate and effective.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-bearing assets include cash and cosh equivalents which earn interest at fleating rates. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantiolly independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings. Barrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group fo cash flow interest rate risk. Group policy 1s 1o maintain an
appropriate proportion of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.

The interest rate risk profile of the Group's financial assets and habilities was as follows:

2023 2022

Financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rare - 30
Fixed 1afe 7020 6213
Non-interest bearing
EVP preference instrument 14.3 145
Other financial iabilities . s 2938

1,027.8 938.5

Fixed rate financial liabilities relate to lease liabilities, Non-interest bearing financial liabilities comprise frade payables

2023 2022
Financial assets (excluding derivatives) £m £m
Interest bearing
Floating rate - cash and cash equivalerts 413 40.8
Floating rate - other 25 23
Fixed rate 20.2 -
Non-interest bearing
Liquidity fund 9.5 6.9
Other financial assets 182.1 1921
255.6 2459

The interest on fixed rate financial instruments 1s fixed until the moturity of the investment. The interest on floating rate financial
instruments is reset at intervals of less than one year. The other financial assets and licbitities of the Group that are not included in the
above tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject fo interest rate risk,

Fixed rate and non-interest beaning financial assets and habiities are exposed to fair value interest rate sk and flooting rate financial
assets and liabilities to cash tlow interest rate risk.

Currency risk
The Group is exposed To currency risk orising frem currency exposures primarily related to the disposal of RDF via export to Eurcpe. The
Group enfers info forward contracts to purchase Euros based upon expected costs. These cerivatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is not marenally exposed o any equity securities price risk, but is exposed to commodity price risks on ifs outputs. The
commodities that the Group 15 exposed to are fuel, electricity, paper, glass, cardboard, steel, aluminium and plastics (including HDPE and
PET). The price risk gssocioted with commodities is considered 1o be in the ordinary course of business for the Group.
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16.

Credit risk

Financial instruments continued

Credi risk 15 mangged on o Group basis os appropriate Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instrimetits
anc depaosits with batiks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures 1o customars, ncluding ot standing receivables. For bk,
and hinancial nstitutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rabing of A are accepted

Management does ot expect any sighificant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in Noie 13,

The carrying omount of fingnoial assets recorded in the fingncial information, which 1s net of Impairment losses, represents the Group's
maximum exposule to credit nisk, These amounts include recevable bolances from tocal authorty clients, hence are not exposed to
sigaificant credit risk. Given the above foctors, the Board does not consider it necessary to present o detoved analysis of credit risk,

Liguidity risk

The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loan facilities to meet shorf-term business requirements, after raking into account
the rash flows from operations and its holding of cosh and cash equivalents, The expected undiscounted cash fiow of the Group's
financial assets and hobilities (including derivatives), by remaining contractual matunty, at the balance sheet dote is shown below

2023

Total
Em_
(418 5)
[285.5)
(305 6)
59

{143y

(354 0
(276%)
(206 7)
(7
(14 3)

IR
.7
R

Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year years years beyond
e —— gm_ . Em .. fMm _ _Em
Non-derivative financial liobilities
Borraowings' (345 0% - - {7135
Lease ligbilities (55 1) (4186) (74.9) (1L
Triadde and other payabies (300.0) (4.1) 12 (0 3)
Deferred and coniingent consideration 313 {0.3) (Na 116
FYP liabity 6.3y (8.0) -
Non-derivative finoncial assefs
Cash and cash equivalents 413 -
biguichty funcdd 9.5 - - -
redeand other recewobles 17 T
- N _ (4815) N C ) B (77.0) . (1813
1 A ety tare of the Greup s <sht bee ame effer Iree in Moy 2037 ag part af whie b e prveste plocssmon b geeea rafinern s See Mede 34 {on forther st
Due between  Due between Due five
Due within one and two two and five years and
one year years years beyond
——— L im __ . _fMm_ . Efm o Em_
Non-derivative financial ligbilities
Borrowings - - (90 (34507
L ease linbilitieg {53.8) (43 1) (59 4) (1o
Tinde and othe poyobles (286.7) - - -
Neferred and cantingent consicderation (42) (0.3) Mma) (1en
EVE liahility - - (143 -
Non-gerivative financial assets
Cosh ond cash equivalents a0 8 - -
Liguidity fand 137 - - -
Trade and enher recewvables I £ 2 S S T o
S o anog 0 @34) 0 835) (4569
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17. Trade and other payables

2023 2022
_ I — ] £m o Em
Current
Irade payables 2749 2087
Taxation and social security 492 54.0
Interest payable 1.5 18
Accruals N8 /56
_Other poyables S £ B o1 -3
I _ 3492 3407
Non-current
Trode and other payobles 5.6 [X:)
e o 5.6 6.6
354.8 3473

Included within trade and other payables is £2.0m (2022, £2 5m) in relation to govermment grants,

The taxation and social security figure of £46.2m {2022: £54.0m) includes £0.1m {2022; £0.3m) i relation to the corporation tax creditor.

18. Provisions

Landfill
restoration HMRC
and after- Onerous IFRIC  Landfill Tax
care Insurance contracts Dilapidations 12 enquiry Cther Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As ot 26 March 2021 71.0 16.1 205 8.8 - - 1.0 117.4
Utilised during the period 4.7) (5.8) (03 0D - - (35) (20.5)
Acquired through business
combination - - 2.0 3.4 127 - 5.0 251
Charged 10 The Income
statement during the period 4.6 2.7 42 1.5 - 17.0 1.3 513
Impact of real discount rare
changes To profit or loss (0.3) - - - - - - (0.3)
Unwind of discount 2.4 - - - 04 - - 28
Transfars from fixed assets
(Nofe 11) 09 - - - - - - 09
Transfers from trade and other
_payables - - . S 30 - 30

As at 25 March 2022 73.9 13.0 20.4 135 131 20.0 3.8 157.7
Utilised during the period {4.4) (0.4) (6.2) {0.2) (14) (3.7 (22) (18.5)
Adjustments 1o priofr period
acquisitions (Note 8) - - - - 3.8 - - 38
Charged to the income
statement during the period 49 19 6.1 01 - 50.7 0.9 t4.6
Impact of real discount rate
changes to profit or loss (24.8) - - - - - - 24 8)
Unwind of discount 29 - - - 04 - - 33
Transfers to fixed cssets
(Note 113 (2.2) - - - - - - (2.2)
Transfers from frade and other
recevables 33 - - - - - - 33
fransfers from /(to) trade and
other payables - 0.3 - - - (3.0) - (2.7)
As at 31 March 2023 53.6 14.8 20.3 13.4 15.9 &4.0 25 1845
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18. Provisions continued

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-cuirent ¢ follows:

2023 2022

O e o Em
Current 20.0 703
Moneurvent S - .7 JOV O
184.5 1577

Landfill restoration and after-care

As part of 1its normal activinies, the Group undertakes to restore ifs landfill sites and to maintain the sites and control leachate and
metiane emissions fiom the sites. A provision 1s made for these anhicipated costs. A number of estimete uncertainties affect the
calcutation, inciuding the impoct of regulation, climate change, accuracy of site surveys, fransportation costs, and changes in the real
discount rate, The provision incorporates our best estimates of the finoncial effects of These uncertainties, but future changes in ony of
these estimates could materially impoct the calculation of the provision, Restoration costs are incurred as each site is fuled and 1n the
period immediately after its closure Maintenance and leachate and methane control costs are incurred as each site i= filled and for o
number of years post closure After-care costs are incurred for o number of years past closure. This periad can vary sigiificantly from <ite
ro site, depending upon the types of waste iandfilled, the speed at which it decomposes, the woy the site is engineered and the requlatery
requirements specific 1o the site.

Changes m the provision arising from revised estimates ar discount rates or changes in the expected timing of expenditures that relate to
property, plant and equipment are recognised within the income statement. The associated outflows are estimated to arise over o period
of up to 60 vears depanding on the date of each site closure In determining the provision, the estimates for future expendifure reglired to
settle the ohligation are inflated using longer-term inflation rates, ond discounted using fhe nominal discount rate as exploned n he
‘discounting of provisions’ section nelow.

Insurance
The associated outflows are estimated to arise over a period of up 1o six yedrs from the balance sheet date The Tnsurance provisian includes self-
insurnnce by the Group on both low and high value items

Onerous contracts

The Group reraqmises anerols ©ontract provisions for any unavoidable net Insses arising from contracts The Group reviews its onerols contract
provisions of each reporting daote and whenever there is a material chonge in mancdagement's expectations of the contract At the end of the
rianaial year the Group held onerous contract provisions @0 relatbion to the following contracts

Epping Forest Nistrict Council (<2 yeors temaining)
South Oxfardsiire & Vole (<2 years remarmimg)
Leicrater City Cotneil (<6 vears remeimng )

The future cash inflaws from thase onerous centracts are relatively predictable as they are fixed and based on the terms of the contract, Howewver,
the costs assaciated with delivering the cantract can vary and assumptions an fiiture cash cutflows is nonsidered o significant estimate when
maoielling the furure net cash oltfiows on onerous contract provisions.

Ditapidations
Ditapidotions anse on legsed items where the Group has an obligotion to return these items 1o their onginal condition as af the lease mception.

IFRIC 12

The IFRIC 12 provision represents the future capital expenditure on reverting assets on the West Sussex Recyeling contract This contract was
acopired as part of the Vindor acaguisiten and a provision of £12.7n was imitially recogrised on the acquisition opening balonce sheet in the priar
period A subsequaent temeasurnment exercise resufted n rhe pravision on tha apening balance sheet being incregsed by €3 8m i the curent yoon,
The prevision is discounted over the duration of the contract term

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry

A 58T out m Note 1, Biffo Waoste Services Limited (RWSLY) 1= currently the subject of an enguiry by HMRE regarding certam aspects of its Landidi
Tax compliance ('the Enaury’), as part of concerns HMRC has prmarily relating to the interpretation of the qualifying fines regime set out in LF T
HMRE also roised roncerns, based on 1ts analysis of BWSL's dota, over the potential conduct of BWSL and speaific customers. which may bave leg!
frr the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax neing paid

in Biffo's view. and based on advice received 1o date, there are a range: of possible autcomes to the Enquiry and it is ditficult to accurarely
ascertain the quantum or iming of any potential hgbility with certainty or precision Whilst Biffa believes 1t has a strong case, there remains
sigficont uncertaunty i the wiemate outcome and o provision has beest recogiised for £64m, including tssotioted rosts and nikerest, whith
addresses the range of matters arnsing from the £377m of protec tive gssessments recelved to date and the further estimaies of oty shared by
HMRC i the context ol without prejudice setflement discussions disclosed in Note 1 excluding the element we consider to be o cannnaent liotility
disclosed in Mote 27

The estimate assumes that any possible penolry thot enuld be levied would be suspended and areortlingly has not been recognised Pryment woul
not be required at the end of the suspension parod provding the relevant conditions are met
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18, Provisions continued

Other
Other provisions relate to legal fees and life assurance.

Discounting of provisions

Long-term provisions included in landfill restoration ond atter-care have been inflated and discounted using the below nominal rates. The

rafes reflect the peried of the obligation on a site-by-site basis which vanes between 10 and 60 years.

Long-term provisicns included in onerous contracts have been discounted using the below nominal raures.

___Inflatien rate

2023

.. Discount rate

Period of obligaticn 2023 2022 2022
5 years 24% 26% 4. 9% 2./%
10 years 29% 3.6% 4.8% 2.8%
20 years 3.3% 3.6% 4.9% 29%
30 years 3.2% 3.4% 4 6% 294
60 years 31% 5 5% 4.4% 2.7%

An increase of 1% in tThe real discount rate (@ current cost) would result in o decrease of environmental provisions of approximately £8.0m
(2022: £16.0m). A 10% increase in cash outflows would result in an increased envircnmental provision ot £5.2m (2022: £7.8im). Long-term
after-care provisions included in landfill restoration and after-care provisicns have been inflated of a rate of 3.1% (2022: 3.3%). An increase
of 1% in the rate of infloticn would result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £11.2m (2022; £23.1m).

In arriving at the onerous confract provision for the Epping Forest and South Oxfordshire & Vale contracts, the Group has discounted the
future cash tiows using a risk-Tree rate of 4.6%. If this rate increased by 500 basis points the proviston charge would decrease by £0.2m. In
arriving at the onerous contract provision for the Lewcester contract, the Group has discounted the future cash flows using o risk-free rate

of 4.5%. If this rate increased by 500 bosis points the provision charge would decrease by £1.5m.

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 75



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. Deferred taxation

The following are the major tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements therean during the current period.,

Temporary
difference
ariging on Recopgnised
property, Share- Retirement Other tax losses
plant and based benefit intangible carried
equipment payments Provisions Hedging surplus Goodwill assets forward Total
. Em £m £m £m £m £m £m im_ Em
As gt 26 March 2021 2546 23 0.8 - (21.5) LX:} {33.7) B4 {11.1)
Acepned fhrough ousingas
¢ ambrighon (53) - - (D} (90} - “i5ay

Credit £ feharge) 1 the

g nme statement doring

the per o b6 d ah 01 (.93 ng (=% 1o 11.2
Chepee 1o other

camprahens e income

_thunag e per o - - (223 (15.0) - _ = REFSE
As at 25 March 2022 26,7 2.7 13 (2.1} (41.5) 76 (46.6} 19.4 (32.5)
Acquwed Throuoh Dusmesy,
rombination (75 - - . - - 3], _ CY
Adpustorenes to pior periond
e oqusihions (Mote 2y 4 - - - 0% - 47

(0 eduey S ooredit to the

ne ome statemoet durng

the penod 112.9) 47) 162 - (2.9 (L3) 05 LBt [

Cract to other

complenensive income

daring the prnod - 15 - 24 20e - -
TAs ot 31 March 2023 147 - 03 (23.8) 635 (4.9

205

(124}

e
g

A detferred tax hobility of £24 5m (2022: £32.5m) has been recognised in the current year using the tax rate of 25% (2022 25%) Deferred
teyx assets and liobilities are offset when there is ¢ legally enforceable right to set of f current tax assets against current fox licbilities

As at 31 Morch 2023 the Group hod unused tox [osses of £106 9m (2022 £94 6m) avallable for oftset aganst future profits A deferred tax
nsset has been recognised in respect of £89.7m (2022 £774m) of these losses No deferred tax asset has baen recognised in respect of the
remalining £172m (2022 £172m) as i 1s nof considered probable that there will be furure taxable profits available in the statutory entity in
witich these losses are being carried forward

The carrying amount of deferrcd tax assets is reviewed ai the end of each reporting period and reduced fo the extent that it 1s no longor
probable that sufficient taxable profits generated in subsequent reporting periods will be available to aillow all or part of the asset to be
recoverad,

The Group hos considared the impact of climate change in assessing the probability of sufficient taxable profits (including loss of revenue
from cessation of ROCs in 2027, the potential Deposit Return Scheme ("DRS™) in England and increased carbon taxes) in subseqguent
reporting periods for the recoverability of the tax assel. The overall impact from the cessation of ROCs has been considered in forecasts,
however given the low financial impact of the DRS tegislation and increased carbon taxes, the Group does not consider it to have o
matetial impact on the recoverahility of the deferred tax asset
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20. Share-based payments

Share-based payments charges of £7.7m (2022 £3.7m) have been charged to administrative expenses. The increased charge during the
year Is due to the acguisition of the Biffa Group by ECP. On acquisition, all schemes either vested early or were cancelled, resulting in an

uccelerated charge.

During the yeor the Group had one condifional share-based payment arrangement granted to Directors and emplayees. The arrangement
lopsed in full on completion of the ECP acquisition. The likelihood of lapse was retlected in the reduced fair value on grant, as detailed in

the following table,

Performance Share Plan

Number of Share price
optiens  Contractual at date of  NMumber of Expected Fair value
originalty life grant employees  Expected life Risk-free per option
_Dateofgrant ____ granted (years) {pence) ot grant voliatility {years) rate (pence)
2 July 2018 1,014,880 2.9 2510 36 24% 2.93 0.71% 1732
1 October 2018 218,359 29 253.0 2 24% 293 0.89% 173.8
11 December 2018 18,819 29 1922 1 24% 293 0.90% 114.1
1 July 2019 1,773,988 30 211.0 37 25% 30 0.54% 1128
1 July 2020 2,354,948 30 201.0 77 27% 293 (0.07)% 107.7
1 June 2021 29,792 30 3005 i 30% 2.09 0.09% 174.4
14 June 2021 1,855,274 30 2935 41 29% 3.01 0.14% 1876
4 October 2022 1,051,065 30 4092 26 39% 3.0 4.05% 345

The Group uses the following fair value models to value its share awards namely stochastic, black-scholes and chaffe model.

The expected volatility is a measure of the emount by which a share price 1s expected to fluctuate during the pericd It is calculated based
on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the length of the award period. A recencitiation of movements in the number of share
awards can be summarized as follows:

Mumber of options

Outstanding as at

Date of grant originally granted Vested  Lopsed / forfeited 51 March 2023
2 July 2018 1,014,880 (820,319) (194,561) -
1 Ocrober 2018 218,359 (218,359) - -
11 December 2018 18,819 (18.819) - -
1 July 2019 1,773,988 (800,561) (973,427) -
1 July 2020 2,354,248 (2,058,878) (296,070} -
1 June 2021 29,792 (29.792) - -
14 June 2021 1,855,274 (1,066,675) (788,599) -
4 October 2022 1,051,065 - (1,051,065) -

The Pertormance Share Plan (‘PSP provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-cost options. The July
2019, July 2020 and Jupe 2021 awards vested during the year ended 31 March 2023, with the latter two vesting early due to the sale to ECR.
The 14 June 2021 oward was reduced by one third tor time pro-ration 1o reflect the early vest. The Gotober 2022 award lapsed i full on
completion ot the sale t¢ ECP. Given the acquisition of the Bitta Group by ECP and subsequent delisting, there are expected to be no future

PSP awards.

Sharesave Plan

In the financial year 2017 the Bifta Group launched the Biffa Sharesave Plan fo all employees with six months or more continuous
employment at the date of the scheme launch The scheme is subject to HMRC rules which limit the monthly contributions to £500. The
scheme term is for three years and options may be exercised during the six menths after completion ot the Save As You Earn contract.

Since the lounch of the scherne new Sharesave Plans have been lounched in subsequent financial years under the some lerms,

There were no new ophons granted during the year, All Sharesave Plans ended on acquisition of the Biffa Group by ECP.
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21. Reserves

Share capital

As af 25 March 20227
Sharessues 0

_AsatsiMarch2028

Share premium

. Number = = £

305,908,483 3,059,08%

.. ___ 3389261  _ 33Be2
309297744 = 3092977

The share premium represents amoiunts received in excess of the nominal value of shares issued since IPQ, net of the direct costs

associgted with issuing those shares,

As ot 25 March 2022

Sharewsees

As at 31 March 2023

Merger reserve

__.2522

4.6

The opening merger reserve of £170 3m arose on both the acquisition of Wastehaldeo 1 Limited in 2008 and o Jersey registered cesh box'

company thnt faciitated an emuity raise in 2020

As at 23 March 2022
As at 31 March 2023

Hedging reserve

Balance ot the beginning of the perod
Fair value (los<) / gan arising on hedging instruments during the period

T relating 1o items that may be reclassified subsequently 1o profit or loss

_Netgain on cash flow hedges i jomnt ventures and associates (net of 1o

_Balance at the end of the period

22. Retained earnings

Balonce at the eginnmg of the periord
1 o5 for the penod
Othar comprehensive (osst / mcome for the penord

Vilire of emplayee servire it respect of share option schemes (excluding NICs)

Prichase of shares in ERT
Neferrad teax Movement in share option schemes

~Duvidends posd

_Bolance at the end of the period

_ - . Em_
e _ . lros
1703
2023 2022
— &M Em
9.9 (64
(0.9 15.0
74 {273
- 198 A5
e . 21.2 R 9.9
2023 2022
M Em
524 43 q
(16,7} (176)
(A1) 27
4.7 27
as Ga
15 -
e 143 (67
_ (358 0 524
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23, Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Mevement in net debt
2023 2022
e e e £m . £fm
Net incregse n cash and cash equivalents Q.5 10.0
Net incregse in private placements and bank loans (64.5) (156.4)
_Nef (increase) / decrease n lease liabilities e o 72) 74
Movement in Group Net Debt in the period (71.2) {139.0)
Group Net Debt at the beginning of the period (595.8) (456.8)
_Group Net Debt at the end of the period (667.0) (595.8)
Analysis of Group Net Deb?
2023 2022
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 41.3 40.8
Lease liabiities (283.5) (276 3)
Private plocements ond loans (418.5) (354.0)
EVP preference Liability (6.3) (6.3}
Group Net Debt (667.0) (595.8)
EVP preference liability 6.3 53
QOther finance instruments 9.5 10.7
Covenant basis Net Debt (651.2) (578.8)

The £6.3m EVP preference habiiity has been included within Group Net Debt as it is puyoble to EVP preference shareholders. The remaining
£8.0m liability payoble 1o EVP preference shareholders will be funded by reduced tax payments on future earnings.

The Group's leverage 1s colculated on Group Net Debt as follows:

Group leverage ratio (Net Debt: Adjusted EBITDA)

2023 2022

3.0x 3.1x

Adjusted EBITDA is defined and reconciled ro Operating Profit in the Appendix to the financial statements.,

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities ansing from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash chonges.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cosh flows were, or future cash flows will be, classitied in the Group's

consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.
As at As at
25 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other 51 March
2022 cash flows loans subsidiary leases Changes! 2023
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Lease liabilities (276.%) 722 - 2.2 (648.7 (8.5 (283.5)
Private placements and loans (354.0) 13.4 (72.5) (4.4) - (1.0) (418.5)
EVP preference liobility (14.3) - - - - - (14.3)
{644.6) 85.6 {72.5) {6.6) _ (68.7) . @5 . (T1e3)

1 Qrher chiunges includes inferest expense recegn.sed on lease hapilities, disposals of lease hab lines, and interest acoraed on loans and private oloceiments

79
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23,

Changes in liabilities arising fram financing activities continued

Reconciliation of Net cash flow to Movement in net debt continued

As at
26 March Financing  Acquired  Acquisition of New Other
2021 cash flows loans subsidiary leases Changes’
777777 ) £m £m £m £Em £m im
Lease habilities (2837 47 8 - (173 (310 (6.2}
Private placements and loans [197¢) 1911 (345 0) - - {25}
_EVP preference nability, (474) - - . - 333
e . (528.9) 253.9 (345.0) (172.3) {31.9) 46
1 Orrber ¢ Fances iechcee inhe et cxporse (e ngiisesd o loase [opilthies, chaposale of lence liabil Hes, dacd irtenest ace s an baone ond oevets ploe ements

24, Lease liabilities

As at

25 Marech

2022
_Em_

1354 03
_ U430
(644.6)

Lease obhigations are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be setfled within the next 12 months and after more than 12

months from the reparting date, as follows.

2022
£m_
538
2225,
2763

_._ Present value

2022

2023
e _ fm .
Current 551
_MNomeewwrent - Ll R
S, e _ 2835
.—__Undiscounted payments
2023 2022 2023
_Lease ligbility maturity analysis e £m £m £m
Within one year 5.3 622 55.1
Mare than one year but less than two years 5530 49.0 a1.6
More than wo years but less than tive years 160.0 795 749
Aferfveyears o W8e 257y m9e
2989 4478 2835
_Less future finance charges S (154 _(715) —
S — 283.5 L eX 2835 2763

The average lease terr is 14.8 years (2022 12.8 yedrs). For the penod ended 31 March 2023, the effective borrowing rate was 4.0% (2022;

3.17%)

Costs / (incame) recognised in the income stafement relaring to leases and right-of -use assers are os follows.

e e i e ol . Nofes —
Deprarigtion expanse o Hght-of use assers 1
[nterest expense on legse liahilities 3
income from sub-leasing right-of use assets 4

_Expense relafing fo short-term and fow-vale gssets A

Cersh repayments of £72 2m (2022 £62 8m) on leases have been made in the veor,
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits

Defined centribution schemes
During the period the Group incurred a £13.3m charge (2022: £11.5m) in relation to defined contributions schermes.

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates o number of defined benefit schemes: Biffa Pension Scheme ('BRS’), an Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits
Scheme ("UURBS’), the Federated Pension Plon ('FPP'), Prudential Platinum (‘Platinum’}, the Kent County Council Pension Fund (the 'Kent
Fund’), The Citrus Pension Plan- Bitta Waste Services Limited Section (previously named the Virndor Soimerset Section) {Citrus’), the Devon
County Council Pensicn Fund (‘Devon’), the Staffordshire Pension Fund (the "Stetfordshire Fund’) and the Greater Manchester Pension Fund
('GMPF") {collectively, the 'Schemes’)

The Group 1s also admitted in the Comwall Pension Fund (the ‘Cornwall Fund’) and Nerfalk Pension Fund (the 'Norfolk Fund’). The
contractual ferms of the commercial agreements that admit the Group to these schemes limit the actuariai risk that the Group is exposed
to, conseguently the schemes have been accounted for as defined contribution schemes.

The Schemes offer both pensions in retirement and death benetits to members. All the Schemes are clused to new members. The BPS,
Platinum, Cernwall Fund, Kent Fund and Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual aithough the BPS 1s closed tor The majonty of members
and only o few employees with starutery protections remain in active service. The BPS makes up around 95% of the torol liability across
the Schemes,

The Schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such as market (investment) risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk, currency risk and
longevity risk.

The Schemes are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that is the Group. The Trustee board of the
Schemes 1s composed of an independent Trustee, and other employer and member nominated Trustees (where the legal minimum
proportion of memizer nominated Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by law to act in the best interests of the members
of the Scheme Investment policy with regard to the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two measures of the Scheme” surplus or deficit. The accounting position is shown on the Group's Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. The funding position, calculated af the triennial actuarial assessment, is used to agree contributions to the
Schemes. The Two measures will vary because they are for different purposes, and are colculated ar different rates and in different ways.
The key calculation difference is that the funding position considers the expected returns of Scheme assets when calculating the Scheme”
liability, whereas the accounting position under TAS 19 discounts liabilities based on corporate bond yields.

The Schemes have an accounting surplus that is fully recognised on the basis that future economic benefits are unconditicnally avoilable
in the torm ot a reduction i the future cash centributions or as o cash refund. Where a surplus of a defined benefit Scherme arises or there
1s potential for a surptus to arise from committed future contributions, the right of the Trustees 1o prevent the Group obtraining a refund of
that surplus is considered n determining whether it 1s necessary 1o restrict the amount of the surplus that 1s recognised.

A tull actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2021 which reveoled a funding surplus of £19.3m on the technical
provisions basis, a deficit of £106.9m against the solvency estimate, and a deficit of £86.2m against the low dependency estimate,

The Groun will contribute as tallows until the earlier of: i 30 June 2025; and ii. the date on which Biffa Corporate Heldings Limited ('BCHL)
and the participating employers are notified by the Trustees that the Scheme has achieved its long-term target of reaching full funding on
the Low Dependency Basis for three consecutive quarter ends,

. the first payment was made during the year ended 31 March 2022 equal to £4.3m;

. the second payment was made during the yvear ended 31 March 2023 equal 1o £4.3m;

= the third payment will be made on or before 31 March 2024 equal 1o £4.3m, and

e« therecfter, payments will be mode in monthly instalments of £358,333 payalble on or before the last day of the month in which they
are due.

The Cornwall Fund, Norfolk Fund, Kent Fund, Staffordshire Fund and GMPF dre all Local Government Pension Schemes, when determining

the appropriate accounting treatment for these schemes, the Group considers the extent to which 1t 1s exposed to actuarial risk

througheut the term of the cormmerciol confract and atso obligated fo fund any deficit on exit of the contract.

Investment risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated using o discount rate determined by reference to yields available on high-
quality AA-rated corporate bonds, in other words, from the position of being fully funded then if the return on the Schemes’ assets were
below this rate, it would create o deficit in the Schemes,

Tn addition to the notural interest rate hedging orovided by its investment in bonds, the Trustees also purchase denivatives to ensure that
the funding position of the Schemes are, overatl, hedged ogainst 85% of movements in long-term risk-free interest rates and 85% of
movements in Inflation expectations. No annuities or specific mortality hedging products have been purchased by the Schemes.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Interest risk

A decrease 1 the corporate bone yield will increase the Schemes' habilmies: however, this will be particilly offeet by an increase o the value f the

Schemes” corporate bond assets

Longevity risk

The present valuns of the Schemies’ habilties are caleulotred by reference 1o the best estimete of the mortality of he Schemeas’ membiers both durng
and after thew employment. An increase In tbe life expectancy of The Schemes’ members will increase the Schemes' lialitities

Inflation risk

The progent valuen of the Schemes’ habilities are caloulated by reference 1o the future expected pension indexation (both indexation in defer ment
and pension mareases in puyment), which will depend on future inflation axpertations, As such, an increase In the expectation of futute intletion will

e rease the Schemes” labdities

The lump sum death benefits prir 1o dependents of the Schemes’ memibers are insured with an externdl nsurtnes compony. The present value ot
ihe obligation, and the related current sorvice cost and past service cost, were medsured 115ing the projected unit credit methodi

Actuarial valuation

A full actuanial valuctinn of the Schemes was cained out as ot 31 Maich 2021 and hos been updated to 31 March 2023 ivy o quatifiod ndopencient
artucry The mojor ossumptions used by the actuary were (in hominal terms) as follows:

S 025 2022

Disconnt rate 4.9% 7 9%,
Rate of salory increase 3.2% S9%
Rate of inflation - RP1 31% 4.2
Rate of inflahion - CPT 2.0 A 4%
Rate of pension increcses - RPT with floor of 0% can of 25% pa (pensionars / non prnsioners’ 2.0% 22% /1 9%
Rote of pension increases’ - RPTwith floor of 0% cop of 5.0% po. (pensioners / non-pensiopers) 254 33% /2R
Rate of pension increases’ - RPL with floor of 0% cap of 6.0% pa. (pensioners / non-pensioners) 30% 58% / A0
Rate of pension increases’ - CPLwith floor of 0% cap of 30% p o (pensionars / non-ponsioners) 27% 23% /21
Rate of nension increases! - CPT uncapped (pensioners / Do pensioners) 2 A% 3% ROV
Longevity (years)
Fxpected future lfetime of a meale pensioner currently oged 5 208 s
Cxpected future lifetime of o female pensionel currently aged 65 229 233
Lxperted future hfetrme from age 65 of o mole member currentiv aged 4% 221 22n

_Fzpecied future lifetime from oge 65 of @ femalle member cunentlyaged 4s )45 249

1 T eve pen ol i, Gusre s AN g Pt (0 RS

The assers in the Schemes wore:

Bty

Bonds

Propertes and infrastructuie

Hedge funds

LD investmenis - BRS
Cither

_Actual return on plan assets

az4
8.0
1RO
721
164 2

8

4443

_ares

171

1.7%
RE
115%
479

I{_;‘ i

Te fair vallie of the obove asset classes are determined based on quoted Ched’s market prices. Virtually all armiity cnd debt instrouments hove
ynatrd pnees inactier markets Dervvatives are classifisd as Leval 2 iistiuments and hedge funds and property as Level 3 wnstiiwments unde TFRS
14 Far Volue Measurement 1t is the pobcy of the Schemies fo use hedge funcs gnd hability driven investments to hedge some of thelt expostire 1o

witernst wote and inflabion nsks This pohcy hos been mplementon (Garing the current and prior yecrs

The key saure of astimchion uneertanty relates fo the valiation of the property nortolio, where novaliotion s abtainen aanoally fram

professionally aualified external valuers, The evidence *5 subport these property valuotians 1s based primarily on rocent, centpdrable nmarket
tansar tions on an armvs length basis, Howaver the assumiptions apphed are inharantly subjective ond <o are subiect o o degree of uncertonty

Alvrcrease in the proner by vodtotion of 107 wold increase pension assets by £ 1AM An increase in the valliohon of taded ngsets ol 0% wodd

Merense nensinG ossets by £i6 2m
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits confinued
Actuarial valuation continued

Reconciliation of movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2023 2022

I - _ Em L Em_
Benetit obligation at the beginning of the period 470.6 525.8
Service cos! 2.4 25
Interest cost 13.5 104
Contributions by scheme participants 0.4 0.4
Net remeasurement gains - financial (142.2) (562}
Met remeasurement gains - dermoyraphic (4.2) (4.5
Net remeasurement losses - experience 176 1.0
Newly recognised schemes - 78
Benefits paid (18.2) (168)
Paost service costs - 0.1
Benefit obligation at the end of the period 3359.9 470.6

Reconciliation of movements in the fair value of Schemes' assets

2023 2022

- £m o Em
Fair value of Scheme's assets at the beginning of the pericd 628.3 6218
Interest income on Scheme's assets 181 12.4
Return on assets, excluding mterest income (194.3) 3.0y
Other experience 1.7 -
Contributions by employers 102 57
Contributions by Scheme’s parficipants 0.4 03
Newly recognised schemes - 9.3
Benefits poigd (18.2) (16.8)
Scheme administrative cosT ) 2.0 (1.2)
Fair value of Scheme’s assets at the end of the period 444.2 6283

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in the period

2023 2022

I . £fm £m
Current service cost 24 26
Past service cost - 01
Administrative cost 19 12
Service cost adjustment in respect of Greater Manchester Pension Fund (0.8) (LD
Net interest on the defined benetit surplus {4.B) (2.3)
Compenents of defined benefit (gain) / cost recognised in the income statement (1.3) 05
Return on Scheme’s assets (excluding amounts in net interest expense) 194 7 30
Actuarial gain loss from changes 1n fingncial assumptions (142.2) (56.2)
Actuarial gain from changes in demeographic assumptions (4.2) (4.3)
Actuarial loss from chonges i experience assumphons 159 10
Movement in asset ceiling (0.4) 21
Newly recognised schemes - (13
GMPF Admission agreement 19.2 60
Components of defined benefit cost / (gain) recognised in other camprehensive income 82.5 (489
Total defined benefit cost / (gain) recegnised in total comprehensive incotne 81.2 (48.2)

The current service cost is included in operating costs in the income statement, The net interest expense is included within finance charges
in the income statement. The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in other comprehensive incame.
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25.  Pension and post-retirement benefits continued

Actuarial valuation continued
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from the Group’s obligation in respect of its defined

benefit Schemes is o3 follows

2023 2022
o £m e Em
Hresent value of funded defimed benefit obligation (339,9) (A706)
Fanr vaalie of funded Schemo's nssers 444 7 628 3
Adjustment for the restriction 1y asset benefu (4.0 (43
Adjustment i respect of GMPFE agreement . ~ 5.2y 127

_ Met asset arising from defined benefit obligation 951 1661

Significant ectuarial assumplions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the: discount rate, expectad future inflation
and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes in the ossumptions occurring
at the end of the reporting pericd, while holding alt other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 1% lower the defined benefit asset would decrense by £52 4m (20227 £104.6m)
If the inflahion assumption Increases by 1% the defined benefit asset would decrease by £47.8m (2022 100 Om)
If 1the e expectancy increoses by one yeor for both men and women, 1he defined benefit asset would decrecse by £9.6m (2022 £14.9m),

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the dctual change in the defined benefit ebligation as it 1s unlikely
that the chonge in assumptions would occur in isolation of one anather.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been colculated using the
projected unit credit method ot the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in ealculating the defined benefit
obligation fahility recogniged in the statement of financicl position.

The Lchemes” participating employers are Biffa Waste Services Limited, Biffa Municipal Limited, Biffa Environmental Municipal Services
Limited, Biffa | eicester |imited and Biffa West Sussex Limited. These subsidiaries fund the cost of any protected members’ future occrual
(to the extent that any protected members remoin working for each of these companies) eamed on o yearly basis

Protected members pay a ranqe of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depending on what section of the Schemes they are in. These
contribubions range from 3% 10 6% of pensionable salory. The residual contribution (including past service augmentationsy s paid by the
above entities of the Group These cantributions are agreed between BCHL {(the Principal Employer) and the Trustees of the Schemes
following cach friennial valuation of the Schemes

In accordance with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes lickilities are measured using a prudent discount rate at the trenmial valuation,
but some asset out parformance 1s ollowed for when calculating the deficit recovery contributions peond for by the participating employers
Aclditional labihites stemming from past service due 1o ougmentation of benefits are added o the Schermes” deficit

The average duration of the benefit obligation ot 31 March 2023 s opproximately 18 years (2022; 19 years)

The Group expects to maka a contrbution of £6.0Mm to the Schemes during the financial year to 29 March 2024, ,

26.  Related party transactions
There have heen no materal related party transactions with any Directors in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022 nil) except for key
management compensatioh s set out in Note 5.

Duning the year to 31 March 2023, the Group mvested £11 7m (2022: £17.4m) in Protos ERF Ltd and Newhurst ERF Limited The Group issued
further lonn notes of £4 7m (2022 £75m) duning the period and accrued unpoid interast income of €1 2m (2022: £0 Bm) As at 31 March
2023 the Group recogmsed outstanding loan receivabie balances due from Protos ERF Ltd and Newlhurst ERF Lid of £20.2m (2022
£14.3m), Both parties can redeem the notes at any time. The onnual rate of interest on the notes 15 8%. This whole bolance remained
outstonding at year end. None of the amount is deemed fo be uncollectoble and no expenses have been recognised duning the period in
respect of bad or doubttul aebt<in this regard.

MNo Directors held any matenal inferest in ony contract with the Company or the Graup in the year to 31 March 2023 or subsequent period
The Group has mode £10.2m (7022: £5.7m) of contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes

Durimg the year to 31 March 2023, the Group received loans of £73 5m from its parent company, Biffa Bideo Limited The loan proceeds
were used ta repay the Grour RCE. Interest accrues on the outstanding loan balance gt 8.344

There are no addimional relgted porty transachons 1o disciose,
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27. Contingent liabilities

Bonds

the Group must satisfy environmental agency financial security requirements in order To ensure that If is able To discharge the obligations
in tandfill site licences and permits The Group meets these financial security requirements by providing financial security bonds The
amount of financial sccurity which is required 1s defermined in conjunction with the regulatory agencies, as is thie method by which
assurance 15 provided. The Group has cutstanding bond arrangements in Englond and Weoles of approximatety £66 3m (2022 £86.7m) for
permitted waste activities where the Group has obligations under the Envircnment Agency's fit and proper person test to make adequare
financial provision, Additionally, the Group hos bonds to a value of £18.5m (2022; £16.1m) for performance of local authoerity and other
contracts. No ligbility is expected 1o arise in respect of these bonds. The Group also has three letters of credir in relation 1o the deferred
equity contributions on Newhurst Efw and Protos EfwW amounting to £17.2m (2022; £32.2m).

Hazardous soils

The Group i1s engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation 1o the landfill tax freatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. At the date of signing of the accounts the outcome is not certain, however the Group has received a protective assessment of
£8.5m, which has been paid and is included in prepayments as the Group is disputing this assessment.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enguiry

As set out in Note 1, Biffa waste Services Limited ("BWSL") is currently the subject of an enquiry by HMRC regarding certain aspects of
its Landfill Tax compliance (‘the Enquiry’), as part of concerns HMRC hos primarily relating to the interpreration of the qualitying fines
regime set out in LFT1. HMRC also raised concerns, based on its analysis of BWSL's data, over the potential conduct of BWSL and
specitic customers, which may have led to the incorrect rate of Landfill Tax being paid.

A provision has been recognised for £64.0m (2022: £20.0m) including associated costs and interest bused on specific amounts asserted
by HMRC to date In addition, HMRC has raised general issues about Biffa’s compliance with the gualitying fines regime set out in LFT1
The Oirectors do not consider that a liability is likely to arise for those general matters, and therefore this is treated as a contingent
liability.

BWSL's potential additional liability for Landfill Tax for the relevont period could be up 1o approximetety £114m, based on information
provided by HMRC, plus interest and further costs in responding to the Enguiry.

For further information, please refer to the key source of estimation uncertainty disclosure relating fo this matter in Note 1 and the
related provision disclosure in Note 18,

28. Investments in joint ventures and associates
Details of each of the Group's joint ventures and associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows.

Name of joint venture or Place of incorporation and Proportion of ownership
_ossociate _______Principal activity principal place of business interest and voting rights held
Protos Holding Limited Energy from waste England ond Woles 25%
Protos ERF Limited Energy from woste England and Wales 25%
Newhurst ERF Haolding Limited Energy from waste Engiand and Wales 50%
Newhurst ERF Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 50%

Summarised finoncial information for each of the Group’s joint ventures and associates is set out below. Amounts presented are prepared
in accordance with IFRS Standards.

202 ; 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
_ Statement of Financial Position __Em . fm £m £m
Current assets 19.8 1021 7.0 529
Non-current assets 338.1 2633 2553 185.8
Current habilities (97) 8.4) (74) (22.1)
Non-current habilities {254 3) (29/1) (1472.7) (2131)
Net assets 93.9 59.9 572 3.5
Net assets includes:
Caosh und cash equivalents 9.2 930 5.1 50.0
Current financial habilities? (99) [GA°)] (5.7) (14.8)
Non-current fingneial liabilimies! (254 3) (297.1) (1977) (2131

1 Finanaal habilinies excludes nude ond vther payables and provisions
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28. Investments in joint ventures and associates continued

2023 . 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protos
Statement of Comprehensive Income £m Em £m £m
Revenue 6.6 - - -
Brofit s (loss) for the period 2.6 (11 (1.8) Q]
Other comprehensive income ¢ (loss) for the period 25.2 280 111 (144
Total comprehensive income / {loss) - 34.4 278 123 _(15.8)

Reconciliation of the above sumrmarised financiol informanon 1o the carrying amaount of the Group's interest in the joint venture or
associate:

R __2023 2022
Newhurst Protos Newhurst Protes
o e o o _ Em  _ Em £Em . &m
Net assets 93.9 599 522 365
_Group percentage ownership interest S0% 25% S0 8%
_ Carrying amount of the Group’s interest o 410 150 286 . o8
Interest in joint venture or associate af the start of the peried 8.6 08 RIS (rm
Actditrons 4.4 73 1038 Hh
Shate of post-tax results, 1.3 (0.3 (08) (03
Share of net gan / doss) on cash flow hedge — - Sd2e V7 A N L0
Interest in joint venture or associate at the end of the period .. _ 489 15.0 88 08

29. EVP-related items

The Group has been engoged 1n a dispute with HMRC concerning historicol Landfill Tax.

HMRC claimed that the Group was liable for £61.9m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain waste materials deposited in Biffa's landfill sites
from 2009 to 2012 ('EVP) Biffo contested that the material was used in the sites for an engineering purpose and was not therefore subject
to Landfitl Tax. Notwithstanding the Group's opinion on the tax treatment of this material, since 2012 all materials of this nature have been
stibjected to 1 andfill Tax,

The matter was heard by the First Tier Tax Tribunal which found in HMRC s favour. before Biffa won the Upper Tax Tribunal for the EVP
case. HMRC hawever requested o further hearing from the Court of Appeal which took place in March 2021, 8iffa was unsuccessful in the
hearing with the Court of Appeal and the Directors sought leove to appeal the decision to the Supreme Court In May 2022 the Group's
request of leave 1o appeal was refused by the Supreme Court,

The contested amount was paid to HMRC following the refinancing of the Group upon its IPG in Qctober 2016. Tn addition to the puyment
of £61.8m, the Group paid £1.7m in interest in the period ended 24 March 2017 The Directors, having taken appropriote advice, did not
believe that a liability to tax exists and accordingly treated the payment of the tax and associated interest as o prepayment.

Az part of the TPO of the Group, arrangements were put in place to make certain payments to the sharsholders and certain members of
employee incentive schemes of the Group immediately nrior toits Listing, subject to and in respect of the outcome of the dispute. &
finoncial liability of £47 6m was recognised in barrowings and an accrual of £13 0m was recognised in non-current lighilities

whth the negative outcame confirmed, in the year enderd 25 March 2022; the £63.6m prepayment was impaired to £nil and a corresponding
deferred tax asset of £15.5m was recognised: the £47 6m financial ligbility was reduced to £14 3m; and the accrual was reduced to £3.5m
These outstanding balances reflect the amounts payable to the shareholders and certain members of employee incentive schemes of the
Group respectively, immediately prior to 1ts Listing. The net impact of these fransactions is a loss after tax of £3.4m in the prior penod

No payments were made in the year ended 31 Morch 2023, Subsequent to the year end date, £7.8m was peand 1o FVP preference
shareholders nnd ex -monagement as explained in Note 34

Of the outstanding liobihty at the year end date of £178m, £6 3m has heen included within Group Noet Debt, as explamed in Note 23,
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30. Service concession arrangements

The Group has two integrated waste manoagement contracts that are considered to fall within the scope of [FRIC 12: Service Concession
Arrangements. These are the West Sussex County Council recycling centract (length of 29 years - owarded in 2004 and acquired by the
Group as part of the Viridor acquisthion in the year ended 25 March 2022) and the Lewcester Crity Coungil contract €25 years - gwarded in
2003).

The concessions vary as to the extent of their ebligations, but typically require the construction and operation of an asset during the
concession period including scheduled maintenance and capital expenditure. The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste
management services such as collection, recycling and disposal. Typically at the end of concession periods the assets are returned to the
concession owner. There have not been any significant changes fo these arrangements in the period.

The West Sussex County Council recycling contract involves the construction and maintenance of recychng assets that will be returned to
the council at the end of the contract. This arrangement is therefore considered fo be within the scope of IFRIC12. An intangible asset of
£31.2m 15 held at the year end date (2022: £35.5m) and is being amortised over the rematning life of tThe contract, A provision for future

capital expenditure on reverting gssets of £159m (2022: £15.1m) has been recognised in relation to this contract as described in Note 18,

The Leicester City Council contract also falls within the scope of IFRIC 12, and a financial asset of £4.3m (2022: £4.0m) has been
recogmsed. The contract 1s loss making and a return to profitability 1s not expected, and as such an enerous confract provision has been
recognised as described in Note 18,

These contracts generated revenue of £56.7m in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £21.9m)

31 Subsidiary undertakings

The following enfities are 100% owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2023, All subsidiary undertakings hove a financial year
end coterminous with Biffa Limited unless otherwise noted.

Place of Principal Place of Principal
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity tName of subsidiary incorporation activity
Armber Frngineering Linmired! Englund and Wales Waste Biffa Group Holdings (UK) Limited'  England und Wales Holding comparry

mandagerment

Barge Waste Management England and Wales waste Biffa Group Holdings Limited Jersey Holding compuny
Limited' management

Bifta (Carby) Limited' England and wales Dormant Biffa Group Linuted! Englond and wWales Holding company
Bitfa {Ecrls Barton) Limitedt England and wales Dorrrrant Biffa GS (FC) Lirnted: England and wales wasre

managen wnt

Bittar (Jersey) Limited Jersey Holding company | Biffa GS (LPP) Limited' England and wales Waste
MarKgement
Biffa {Land} Limited- Guernsey Waste Biffa G5 (M&B) Limited! Engiand and Wales WasTe
managenent management
Bittcl {Raxby) Limited' England anid Wales Dormant Biffa GS Ersenonimental Linrited' England and wWales Wwaste
managerment
Bitfa (UK Hokdings Linutedd! Englond and Wales Dormant Bifta G5 Environimental Recycling England and wales waste
timited' managerment
Bitta (WES) Limited’ Englond and wales Dormant Biffa GS Holdings Lintited' England and wales Haolkding compaiy
Biffa {West Sussex) Recylling England ana wales Waste Biffu GS UK Holchings Limired! England and wales Holding compaivy

Lirrted'
Bitta Corporate Holdings Limired'

Englond and wales

management

Halding company

Biffg Haldings (Jersey) Linited-

Jersey

Bormant

Bitta Corporate Services Limited! England and wales Dormant Biffa Holdings Limited! England and wules Holdiig compdry
Biffa Environmental Mumcigal Englana and wales waste Biffa Leicester Limited Englund and wales waste
Services Limited' management mgnagement

on e

Registered af Coronatiun Read, Cressex, High Wycombe, Budkinghamshure HP12 517
Registerad af 44 Explanade, ST Heher, Jersey, JE4 9w
Registered ot PO Box 11%, Murtello Court, Admnal Park, ST Peter Puit, Guennsey, GY1 3H
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31 Subsidiary undertakings continued
Place of Principal
_HName of subsidiary ____ incorperation  _activity
Biffa Mumonal Limired” England ond wales waste
mcmugomenr

Biffri letherloneds BV *

Bitta Prnsion Srheme Trustees
Limitect!

Biffo UK oronp Limnied!

Riffor EIK | it

Biffa waste Limttecd!

Bifta weoiste Monagement Limitec

Riffa Wocte Services Linmnted!
Bifla West Sussex Holdoo Limited'
Biffer wiesk SUcaex Limied!

Bray Insuiance Company Limitert
CAMO Linuted!
Commuity Shop C1C
Campairy Shop Holdeo Lirmited
Compiirsy Shog L nitaa™
Creseex [nsitanee Services

[rrited

Forge Recyohng i Haoldings)
Farrutoc !

Forge BFeoyehng rOk) Limited
Forge weste Limitec)

G5 Acqusitions [imited
GSFquty Co

Tdond Woste Servces Limired

L avelle & Sons Limited!
Latistan Services Lintacd

ti joeeph & Son(Birminghom)
Limufer

tetherfands
England and wales
England and wales
Engiond and wales
England and \wales
Englkind and wales
England and wales
England ond weskes
England and wiiles
Gibroltar

Encilondd and wales
Engylrine aind winlos
England and wales
Enrjland and wales
England and Wales
England cind Wales
England and wales
Chegland and wieles

England and walcs
Cavman Iskands

Fnglond and wales

Fngland and wiales
England and Wwales,
Frgland and wWies

Holding compay
Pormant
Darmant
Dormgnt
Dormant

Waste
managemnaent
Waiste
management
Dormant

waste
managenient

Insurance
SErVICOsS

Dormant

Other rotoll non-
specialist
waste
management
Other retail non-
specialist
Dormant

Holding company

woste
managernent

Dormant

Hokiding company
Halding comparry

_Name of subsid

ry
Material Recovery Nommess
Limjted!

New Star Environmental Limited!
Nerwaste Limited’

OYBrien Waste Recyohing Sohations
Holdings Linuted'

O'Brien Waoste Recycling Soliitions
Limted!

Poplars Resource Managerment
Company Linuted*!

Reclimation & Disposal Ertedd!

Richard Biffa (Reclamahaon)
Limitec]'

RUR3 Ervairgnmental Limited]'
Simiply Waste Snlutions Limited!

Specidlist Waste Recycling
1 initeel”

SWR Smiash & Grab Limnted?
SwRNewstar Linwted!
Syrocuse wWaste Lireted’

The Withnell Brick oned Ferra Cottor
Company (19125 g’

Total Recychng Services
Limited' !

LK Waste Monagement Holdmgs
Lirnted!

UK Waoaste Management Lirmtecf

Weastednve (Manchester) Linted

Wwastednve Lirmited!
wasteholdeo [ Limitedt

Place of

incarporation

Fnaland and wales
England cined wiiles
Frgland and Walee
Engiand one woles
Fnaland and waoles
Frigland cind Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Encglrooed rnd wiales
Figlend and Wele.
Seotlendd

Encfland anc Wales
Englaned and Wles
England aivl wales
Fnnflened eincl Wales
Fnaiand and wiile«
Engiond aind Wekes
Frgiond and Waoles
Fnglard and wriles

England nnd wles
Joreey

Jersey

Engiand and Wales
Engheme ond winies

Frodond and wales,

Principat
activity _
Dormant

worste
managamnment

Dormant
oo
Daoronant

Wwoste
management

Daorment
Dormant

‘wfcete
managoment

Drtrmart

wioste
managemeint

Waste
MoNGOeent

Dormant

Waste
management

Dormont

Wrrste
management

Dormant

Wisto
managemens

woste
managenment '

Dormant
Halding company
Holkding rounpony

Dormant
Dormeant
Darmant

Frenn aal e spaest 2 Aprl 27955

fomncily bald bes Radfn it

1 Requstersn At Cornnatine Reoed, Cressex Hint Wyr nombe, Bockinghapsliee B2 <75

Wwoste ‘ wastelholdoo 2 Limited:
rmgNagement
Dormant | wer Recychng Services Linwtod’
Darmont ! Weir Woste Seraees Lirred
Darmant | white Cross | imited’

Forer ol oy sndee 27 Marely 2003

F Rrqcterpd at 24 Ecilarade, 31 Beler, Tercey, TRS 9w
- Reqisteron ot P2 Brw (19, Moretello Caacs Aol Dark St Peter Pact, Snerasay e 44
A seagestersr gt Tapiter Boleie g, 2ed Floct Herkarhardway FR 1101 O Amisterans, The Matiardnne.
Reqpetoras ot Bl ey Monaaement Linnted, Site 23 Pacland Houge Glee s Raod Shraltor, (50170 244
I8 Bog atepn at Wonrenl 1wy, Tan<ersley Barnsley, Soutr Yarech re 575 30H
. Weepctared ot [nteritl o1 Carparate Savyices (Caymnn Lo ted 190 BRI Avnroe Sooeae Towey, GEone 6 cgmoe kv PROO=
R Pegiatman at darne wats 1 Yerk Pl e bdinbuigl, 5 slane R SED

Eencied yorn armieen 20 poher 2777

Subsequant ta rhe reportmeg date Lonistan Services Limited wos tissofveo rn 18 Aprl 2023 and Esterpet Limited was arcunred ~a 25 April gs f sclosed in jfote

4
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32. Controlling party

Bifta Lirruted 15 a 100% owned subsidiary of Biffa Bidco Linnted (formerly Bears Bidee Limited), a Company incorporated in the United kKingdom, whose
registered of fice 1s Coronation Roud, Cressex, High Wycombe, Bucks, MP12 3TZ Bitta Limited 1s the parent company of the smallest and largest group in which
the Company’s results are consolidated

O 10 Juty 2023, Bears Bideo Lumited changed its name to Bitta Bideo Limited.

The ullimate controling party is ECP ControlCo, LLC, 1egistered i Delaware, Urited States
33. Dividends

The Board recommends that there will be no dividends for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022 6.89p) A linol dividend of 4 69 pence per share for the year
ended 25 March 2022 was paid during the year.

34, Post balance sheet events

Acquisitions

©n 25 April 2023 the Group coquired rthe enfire issued share capital of Esterpet Limited ('Esterpet’), a recycler of Polyethylene Terephthalute (PETT) plastic, for
consideration of £0 2m From its state-of-the-art recyching tacility in North Yorkshire, Esterpet converts 25,000 tonnes of plastic flakes euch yeor, generated
frorm ecycled bottles, infe high-purity piostic pellets, These pellets ore made nto new plastic bottles for beverages, cosmetics and household goods, with the
company’s customers including some of the largest brands in the UK and Europe

Alongside the acquisition of Esterpet, the Group acquired 49.9% of the 1ssued share capital of 11s sister company Esterform Pockaging Limited, a leading
manufacturer of plastic bortles and Esterpet’s largest customer, for o consideration of £5.5m. Both investments will form part of the Polymers business in the
fesources & Energy division

Debt Restructure
On 23 May 2023, the Group restructured its existing debt os follows:

- The Group repaid 1ts prnivate placenients of £345.0m. These were replaced by £260 0m of private placements held within Bitta Linired.

- The new notes are a mixiue of 5- and 7-year notes with a weighted average borowing rate ot & 2%.

. Term loans and RCF held by Biffa Bidco Limited, ro which the Gioup has access, were ncreased Term doans of £100.0m were increused 1o £235.0m and
RCF of £225.0m was increased to £325.0m. Interest 1s charged at a tloofing rate and other terms remdin unchanged

EVP Payments
In May and June 2023, £7.8m waus paid 1o EVP preference shareholders and ex-management in relation to the EVP dispute disclosed in Note 29. At 31 March
2023, the total hability was £17.8m. The remarung £10 Om s expecred to be paid in the year ending 28 Marih 2025

DRS

On 7 June 2023 the Scottish government announced that, while they remoin committed 10 the Deposil Return Scheme m Scotland, 11 would be delayed wntil
October 2025 o1 the earhest. An announcement had been made previously on 1B April 2023 that the start date of the scheme would be deluyed from August
2023 to March 2024, Cuculanty Scotland Limited ((C5L7, the scheme admmistrator, entered admimstration on 20 June 2023 as 1ts funding was withcrown and
was Therefore unable 1o meer its contractual obligations to Biffa and other parhes The Joint Adnunistrotors' Proposals were reteosed on 28 July 2023,
ndicating rhat ot best Biffa would receive on immaterial portion of the total amount due from CSL.

In the year ended 31 March 2023 the scheme made no cortribution to operating grotit but the following matenal amaouats were held o the balonce sheet a1
the yew end date.

. Accrued ihcome - £6 m

. Property, Flunt ond Equiprment - £2 8m

. Right-of-use assets - £8.1m

. Lease llabilities - £8 5m

In addition to the amounts recorded ot 31 March 2023 the Group had turther capital commitments of approximotely £39m, of which o proportion are expected
to be leased. It s hkely that impawrments will be recogmsed on o number of assets, with the impact on FY24 Operating Frofit within the range £nil to £64m,
The Group hos various options avalloble to mitigate the committed cosh outflows and latest estimates indicate that up 1o £40m con be recoverad.

The ainouncement on 7 June 2023 is judged to be a non-adjusting event 1n accordance with 1AS 10: Events atter the Reporting Period because 111s not
considered to provide evidence of condihons thot existed al 31 March 2023, In other words theie were no reliable indicutions betore 31 March 2023 that thiy
postponement would occur. Thereture no adjustrments correspanding to Hus announcement have been made 1o the 31 March 2023 finonoial staterments and
mstead the appropriote gccounting eatres will be posted i the yeur endiig 29 March 2024 onie mutigation plans are finalised and enacted
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Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent company statements are prepared under FRS 101 and relate to the Company and not to the Group. The financial stotements

are prepared under the historical cost convention,

As at As ot
31 March 2023 25 March 2022
- —m e e Notes o &m  Em
Non-current gssets
Investrmenis 3 2551 25/0
_Trade and other recewvables 4 . 4200 4340
e — SR - S 15 3
Current assets
_ihancialessetss _ el - - 19
,,,,,, O __ 1o
Current liabilities
Trade and ather payables 7 {15) (1A
_Barrowings e L B (3450 -
. —_— - (346.5) 18
Net current liabilities ~ o o (346.5) 08y
Mon-current fiabilities
_ Borrowings o L BT C . 3450y
e R ] - (3450)
_Net ossets e 3286 61
Equity
Called up share copital 9 31 31
Share gremium 252.2 2476
Merger reserve 95.8 G% 8
_Retained earnings e e — _ (22.5) LAy
Total equity attributable to shareholders 3286 461

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Campany has not presented its own income statement or statement of
comprehensive income, The loss of the Company for the year atinbutable to shareholders was £11.0m (2022 £8 901 loss)

The financral statements were apptoved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 September 2023 They were signed on itg

bhehalf by:

Michael Topham
Director
Company no 10334040
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Called up
share Share Hedging Merger Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 26 March 2021 31 247.0 (2.9) 95.8 16.1 359.1
Loss for the penad - - - - (8.9} (8.9
Cther comprehensive income - - 2.9 - - 29
Total comprehensive income / {loss) for the period - - 2.9 - {8.9) (5.0)
Exercise of share ophions - 0.4 - - - (36}
Shares purchased by employee benefits frust - - - - (5.6) 2.7
Value of employee service in respect of share optrion
schemes (exciuding NICs) - - - - 27 0.6
Dividends paid - - - - {6./) (6.4)
As at 25 March 2022 31 2476 - 95.8 {0.4) 346.1
Loss for the pericd - - - - f11.0) (11.0}
__Othet caimprehensive ncome / (loss) - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period - - - - (11.0) {11.0)
Exercise of share opfions - 4.0 - - - 4.6
Shares puichosed by employee benefits trust - - - - (1.5) (15)
Value of employee service in respect of share option
schemes (excluding NICs) - - - - 47 4.7
Dividends paid - - - - {14.3) {14.3)
As at 31 March 2023 31 252.2 - 95.8 (22.5) 3284

In May 2020, the Company incorporated a Jersey registered “cash box” company in order to facilitate an equity raise. The transaction
satisfied all required cenditions to obtain merger relief in accordance with section £12 ot the UK Companies Act 2006 The amount within
the merger reserve relating o this equity raise 1s now o distributable reserve.
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1. Accounting policies

General Information

e Compriny is ¢ private compony mited by shares incorporated ond registered in the UK and is the porent company of the Group. The
rddress of the Company's registored office is Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghnmshire, HP1Z 3T2 The principa)
activity of 1he Company is as halding company for the Group The principal activity of the Group s the provision of waste management
services in the United Kingdonn.

The Comprany was o public company limited by shares until 26 January 2023 when its entire share capital wos acauired by Bears Biddco
Limited, a private compeny linited by shares incorporated and registered it the UK. The Company name changed from Biffa pic to Biffa
Limitad upan delisting {rom the London Stock Exchange on 27 January 2023

Basis of preparation
These financial statements present the results of the Company as an individual entity and are prepared on the geing concern basis, in
accordonce with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Redured Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 1017) and the Comprnies Act 2006.

The Company meets the definhion of a gualifying entty under FRS 100 Application of Financial Reporting Requirements issuedd by the
FRC. Accordingly, these finemoal stotements are prepared in accordance with FRS 101 The financial statements have been pvepaied in
nccotdance with the accounting policies set out below, which have heen consistently applied to all the years presented except where the
Compony hos electad o toke the followang exemptions as ollowed under FRS 101

. The rpquirements of TAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows’

. ihe recuirements of paragiaph 17 of TAS 24 Related Party Disclosures” n respect of key management personnel
. Requirements of TAS 24 'Related Party Disclosires’ to disclose transactions between wholly owned rembers of the Group
. The remurrements of IFRS 7 ‘Finonciol Instruments Disclosures’, as equivalent dhsclosures are providerd in the consohdgted financigl statements

ol the Group to which the Company helengs

- The recuirements of TFRS 2 ' Share-based Poyments!

. The recuurements nf parographs 91 10 99 of IFRS 12 'Foir Value Measuremenrs', os equivalent disclosures are presonted in the consoiidated
financial stotements

These financial statements are presented in Pound Steding (GBPR) and are rounded to the nearest £0.1m

The Company participates in the Group's centralised trecsury and banking arrangements. The Company Is expectied to generate posiive
cash flows o confinue fo operate in the foreseeable future.

The Company has not presented its own ncome statement or stateren! of comprehensive income os permitted by section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006

Criticol accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Company does not consider there fo be ony theore 10 be any aritical accounting judgeaments or key sources of estimation uncertainty.

Investments
Tnwestments are initially stated at cost, Tnveshments are tested for impawrment when an event that might affect asset vaiue has ovcurred,

An wnpairment loss s recognised to the extent that the carrying amounts cannot be recovered either by selling the asset or by the
discounted futine cash flows from the investment,

Dividend gdistribution
The final dnidend distribution fo the Company’s shareholders 1s recognised as o liobiiity in the Company’s finonsial statements i the
period m which the dividends are approved Trienm dividends are recognised when paid.

Other receivables
Oiher recelvables are recognised imtially ar foir value less any pravision for expecied credit loss They are subsequantly heid at amorbised
rost less any provision for expected credit loss,
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1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

Financial ossets and financial liobilities are recognised when the Company becomes ¢ porty 1o the contractual provisions of the
instruments, Finoncial instruments are derecognised when they are discharged or when the contractual terms expire. The financial
instruments recognised by the Company are sct out below.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value ond subsequently af amortised cost using the effective interest methed, less
expected credit losses.

Trade payables
Trade payables are recogmised inticlly at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effecttve interest method.

Borrowings and equity instfruments
Debt and equity instruments ore classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance ot The contractual
arrangements,

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Any difference between the amount initially recognised and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest meathod.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Company has an unconditional right 1o defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months affer the balance sheet date

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and subscgquently remeasured at fair value
at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as o
hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged

The Company designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities), or b)
cash flow hedge (hedges of o particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probuble forecast trunsaction); or ¢)
net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Company documents the fransaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. At inception and
at each reporting date the Compuny ussesses whether the derivatives used have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the farr
value of hedged 1tems.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 5. Movements i the hedging reserve are shown in the
statement of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are clossified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received wWhere shares are issued above par value, the
proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment plans

The Group's management awards employee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting
conditions The economic cost of awarding the share options to its employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income
statement eguivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference 1o the stechastic pricing model.
The charge is recognised over the vesting period of the award.

2. Employees and Directors

Biffa Limited had 2 employees during the year (2022: 2), being the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Their emoluments
were as foltows:

2023 2022

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 15 1.8
~ Cormpuny contributions to money purchase pension schemes 02 02
Total 1.7 2.0
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2. Employees and Directors continued

_The number of Directors who:

Are members of o money purchose pension scheme

Exercised options over shares in the Company

Harl awards recevable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme

_Highest paid Director

2023

Number

Aggregote emoluments

Company confnibutions to money purchase pension schemes

Total

1.2

1.2

In addition to the above, the highest paid Director exercised share options in the year and had shares recewable under \ouwg—?erm ncentive

schemes

3 Investments

_Em_

As 0t 26 Morch 2021

Movernents relating to share aptions granted on behalf of subsidiary employees

2564

15

As at 25 March 2022

~ Movements relating to share ophions granted on beholf of subsidiary employeas

_As at 31 March 2023

257.9
28)_
235

Thete have been no ndicators of impairment dunng the year and no requirement for impairment. The Directors believe that the carrying

valie of the investments 1s supported by ther underlying net assets.

Disclosure of the Compony's joint ventures and ossociates and subsidiaries 1s given in Notes 28 and 30 of the Group finencial statements,

4, Trade and other receivables

2023 2022

Amounts falling due after more than one yeor £m £m
_ Amounts dus from subsididry undertakings _ 4200 4340
420.0 4340

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade recetvables approximates therr fair value. The balance due from subsidiary
undertakings 1= unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. An expected credit loss provision of £4.2m has been

recognised as af the close of the current period (2022° £4 4m) in relation to the balance due from subsidiary undertakings.

5. Financial assets

2023
£m

Tmaneicd gssets

Muring the previous financial period the Company undertook two private plocements and capitalised nssociated borrowing costs of £1.0m
The private placements were refinanced in May 2023 and the capitalised costs hove therefore been written off during the yeur ended 31

Mearch 2023
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6, Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

2023 2022
Book value Fair value Bock value Fair value
£fm £m £m fm
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 4200 420.0 454.0 4540
Financial ossets - - 1.0 1.0
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (1.5) {1.5) (1.8) (1.8)
Private placements {345.0) (345.0) (345.0) (345.0)
_Total financial assets and tiabilities 735 135 88.2 B8.2
7. Trade and other payables
2023 2022
_Amounts falling due in under one year £m £m
Other creditors - 05
Inferest payable 15 13
1.5 1.8
All creditors are unsecured.
8. Borrowings
2023 2022
i £m £m
Amounts falling due in under one year
Private placements 345.0 -
345.0 -
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Private placements e e o - - 3450
- 345.0

The £345im private placements were terminated on 23 May 2023 as part of the debt restructure. They were replaced with £260m of private

placernent notes held by Bears Bidco Limited, maturing in Moy 2028

9. Reserves

Refer to Mote 21 of the Group financial statements for details.

10. Related party transactions

There have been no material related party fransactions in the 53 weeks ended 31 March 2023 (2022: £nil) except for key management

compensation as set out in Note 5 of the Group financial statements,
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11. UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

Riffa Liruted is the parent company of the Group. The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within
Sechion 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the period ended 31 March 20723, The undertakings listed below are 100% indirectly owned by
Biffes Limited. In accordance with Section 479C of the Companies Act, the Company will guorantee the debts ond liabilities of the below UK
subsidiary vindertakings.

Company Company
Nome Numbet Name Number
A_mber Engimeering Limited 1067283 Forge Recycling (Holdings) Ltd N 11067914
Barge Wasle Monagement Linited 2849409 Forge Recycling (UK) Ltd 073830/6
Biffa (Corby) | imited 2216850 Forge Waste Limited 4594882
Riffa (Earls Barton) Linuted 748129 GS Acquisitions Limuted 7255980
Biffes (Roxbwy Limited 2031961 Island waste Services Limited 1552791
Biffa (LK) Hnldings Linited 3249158 Lavelle & Sons Limited 1312867
Biffa (WES) | imited 2729607 M Joseph & Son (Birmingham) Limited 440100
fitta Corporate Holdings 1 imited 5656364 Matericl Recovery Nominees Lirmited 5186581
Biffo Corparete Services Limited 7155949 New Star Ervironmental Limitedd 7306131
Eaffo Environmentedt Municipal Services Limited 205800 Norwaste Limited 1041912
Biffa Group Holdings (UK) Limited 4081901 O'Brien Waste Recyching Solutions Holdings Linuted 9560589
Riffe GH (FCY Limatindd 4500628 O'Brirn Waste Recychng Solwions Lirmred BRLPSLN
gifo GS{LPP)Y Limutect 2276396 Poplors Resource Management Compemy Linmitedd 2630491
Riffr GS (M&RY [ imrted 1173504 Reclomation & Disposal Limited 879315
Riftcr GS Frnivironmental Limited 3446693 Richard Biffa (Reclamation) | imited 929000
Riff G5 Enviconmental Recycling {imited 47346413 RURZ Environmental Limited 53047561
Biffr GS Holdinas Limited 4602885 Simply Waste Sclutions Limited 12155099
Biffa GS UK Holdings i,imited 4631832 Specialist Waste Recycling Limitect SC324464
Ruffa Holdings | imited 1032104 SWR Smash & Grab | imited 5667032
Biffo Pension Scheme Tinstees Limiterl 26941466 SWERNerwstol Limited 1109R3R5
giffar UK Groop Lirrited 3650457 Syrocuse wWasre Limited 13269384
Riffa UK | imited 3650459 UK Waste Manogement Holdings | imited 7536345
Brtfa waste Limited 4084432 LK Waste Management [ imited 1362615
Biffo Waste Monagement Limited 11380122 Wuostedrive (Monchester) Limited 1517244
Riffo West Sussex Holdeo |Linited 7001231 wastedrive Limited 1396771
CAMO Limited 46524208 Weir Recycling Services Limited 9390664
Company Shop Holdeo Limited 12215502 Wweir Waste Services [ irmited 477783
Campany Shop Limitedd 192743 white Cross Limited 1537410
Crassex Insurance Services himited AR48093

12.  Controlling party

Biffar Limited 15 a 180% owned subsidiary of Bitfa Bidco Linited (formerly Bears Bideo Limited), a company incorporated n the United
Kingdon, whose registered office s Coronabon Road, Cressey, High wWycombpe, Bucks, HP12 377, Biffa Lirmited is the parent company of
the smiallest and largest group 1in which the Company’s results are consolidated.

O 10 July 2023, Bears Bideo Limited changed its name to Biffa Bidoo Limited.

The ultimate controlling party is ECP ContralCo, LI C, registered in Delaweire, United States.
13.  Post balance sheet events

O 23 May 2023, the Company repaid £345 Om of private placements, Refer to Note 34 of the Group financial statements for details
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Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’)

The Group's financial performance is analysed into three components: ‘Statutory Performance’, ‘Adjusted Performance’ and ‘Adjusting
Items’. Adjusted performance Is used as it aids comparability of the reperted financtal performance year to year ond between divisions,
Management identify a number of Alternative Performance Measures ('APMS’) in order to separately disclose an adjusted performance tor
the Group. The Directors believe that the presentation of the results in this way, which is not meant to be a substitute for or superior to
IFRS measures, is relevant to an understanding of the Group’s performance trends, financial performance and position. Our APMs and
KPls are aligned to our strategy und tegether form the bosis of tThe performance measuras for remuneration Conseguently, APMs are
consistent with how the performance 1s planned and reported internally to the Board und Operating Committees 1o aid their decision
making.

APMs have been presented In this Appendix to provide a useful tool in understanding the performance of the business, [T should be noted,
however, that these APMs may not be comparable with simiarly fitled measures presented by other companies. It is recommended that
APMs are viewed as supplementary intormation alongside the equivalent statutory measures.

This Appendix has been presented 1o help users of the financial statements understand the rationale behind our use of APMs, our
methodology for identifying adjusting items and the impact ot these adjusting items on the APMs, The Group income statement does not
disclose any edjusting items and has been presented as o single column showing the statutery results only. The same approach has been
adopted for the Group statement of cash flows.

Depreciation and amortisation relates to the write-down of both intangible and tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic
lives. Amortisation of acquisition infangibles is disclosed separately in line with divisional Adjusted Cperating Profit.

The Group’s policy is o exclude items that are considered significant in nature and/or value, not in the normal course of business or are
consistent with items that were separately disclosed in prior periods. Management utilises an exceptional item framework that has been
approved by the Board. This follows a three-step process which considers the nature of the event, the financial materiality involved and the
particular facts and circumstances. Items of income and expense that are considered for designation as adjusting items include
significant acquisition-related costs, write-downs or impairments of non-current assets, movements on cnerous contract provisions and
strategy-related and restructuring costs.

Closest equivalent
APM ___ statutory measure Definition

Net revenue Revenue Statutory revenue excluding landfill tax. Unless stated otherwise, revenug’ reters to statutory revenue.
Landfill tax 15 excluded os the rate is outside the Group's confrol
See toble below tor reconciliation

Crganic Net Revenue The increase/(decrease) in Net Revenue in the period excluding Net Revenue from acguisitions completed

revenue growth in the period and Net Revenue from acquisitions completed in the prior perniod up 1o the anniversary ot the
relevant coquisition date, to the extent such NeT Revenue falls in the current period, where comparatwe
periods differ in duration, the KPLis adjusted an a pro-rata basis

Organic Net Reveniue Growth can be expressed both as an absolute fnianaial value and as a percentage of
prior period revenue,
Organic Net Raverue Growth is presented to demonstrate to users of the finoncial statements the growth
aftributed to crgamic growth rather than as a result ot acquisitions.
See toble below for reconciliahion
Acquisition Net  Revenue Acquisition Net Revenue Growth in any period represents the Net Revenue Growth in the relevant period
revenue growth from (i) acquisitions completed i the relevant period and (i) any acquisitions completed in the 12 months
prior to the relevant perod up to the 12-month anniversary of the relevant acquisiton date (fo the extent
such Net Revenue falls in the current period) Acquisimon Revenue Growih s calculated on the same basis,
using revenue in place of Net Revenue.

Acquisition Net Revenue Growth is presented to demonstrate the level of growth achieved os a direct result
of the Group’s acquisifion strategy
See table below for reconciliation

EBITDA Cperating profit Prafit before depreciation, amortisation, net finunce costs and Taxation.

Adjusted EBITDA Operahing profit Protit before depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, changes to landfill provisions, net finance
costs and taxation.
Adjusted Divistonal EBITDA 15 stated after aliccation of shored service coste.

Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it 1s widely used by analysts and investors to evoluate the
profitability of companies. EBITDA ehnunates potential differences in performance caused by variations

in capital structures, tax positions, the cost and age of tangible assets and the exilent to which ntangicle
assets are identifiable.

See table below for reconciiation
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

APM

Adfjusted
Operating profit

Adiusted Profit
before tax
Adjusted Profit
for the period
Adiusted Free
eash flow

Adjusted Retyrn
on operating
assets
Acjusted Return
on Caprial
Emplayccd
"ROCED

Group

Net Debt

Covencint Boss
Net Deht

Group
L everage Ratio

Closest equivalent
statutory measure

Definition

Operating profit

Profit before tax
Profit for the period

Net cash from
aperating ortivities

n/a

n/c

Bank ana Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Bank and Other
Borrowings

Profit before adijusting items, amortization of acquisiton intangibles, impact of real discount rate

changes ta landfill provisians, net finance coste and taxation,

Adjusted divisional operating profit s stated after allocanon of shared service costs

See table below for reconciliotion.

Profit before tax excluding adjusting rtems, amortisation of acauisihon intangibtes and the impact of

real discount rate changes to landfill provisions,

Protit affer tax exciuding adjusting items. amortisation of acquisition intangibles and the impact of real

discount rate changes 10 landfill provisions.

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents excluding dwidends, restrurtunng costs. adusting

iferns, acquisitinis, moverment in financiol assets and movements in horrowings or share capital (but

including finonce lease principat payments).

This measure reflects the cash generated in the pened excluding adjusting items ond faims part of

management incentives.

Adjusted Operating Profit divided by the sum of average of opening and clozing Property, Plant &

Equipment, plus average of opening and closing net working copital
See fable below for reconcihation

Adiusted Operating Profit less amartisation of acquisition intangibles divided by the avernge of opening
and closing shareholders’ equity, Net Dept tincluding lease liabilities), pensions and envirenmental

pravisions
See table below for reconciliation.

Bank and other borrowings plus lensa Labilities and EVP proference linhility, less cash and cash

equivalents
See Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements for a reconciliation,

Bank and ather borrowings plus lease liabilities, less relevant financial nssets and cosh and coash
equivalents This s the measurement that our lenders use when assessing covenant compliance

See table below for reconcibation,
Ratio of Group Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA.
Sea Noto 23 to the consolidated financial statements for a reconcilation.

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutery profit measures by adjusting item

Share of Landfill
results in Asset pravisions
jaint impairment Strateqy HMRC Amortisation real
ventures and reloted and Landfill of discount
53 weeks and Acquisitron onerous  restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisition rate
ended Adjusted associates costs contracts costs dispute enquiry 12 intangibles chonges Stotutary
1 March 2025 Em_ _ Em  fm fm . Em e JL Em___. Em,
Revenue 31,6802 Nz 1,804
e RIERTA (IR, (1805, o 50 (113 48 (18223
Shaee of realts
I jen | ven ures
cmndossaertes LR IR ¢ I K I, - . o o : o L . _7 _
EBITDA 2255 1.3 {248) - (18.0) i {507 {17 - 244 1531
Depreiotiar 1y 37 1080;
At s nan S i e i
tmpermetsy = o (YA . - _ ,_ o e o
COperafing
 profit 128 ad e e 118.0} az_ s {0h @y 248 81
Toraw o s b - - £/
T o 232 - (A A
Songre oof rena i
LRSI a R T a ] ANTE=0N
L e Ui} s [ S e 10
Profit/ (loss)y
before
_taxation 200 - (24.8) (21) (18.0) 1z (500 0.9 (25.2) 248 _ds1)
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation from Adjusted profit to Statutory profit measures by adjusting item continued

Landfill
Asset pravisions
impairment ' Strategy HMRC Amartisafion reat
and related and Londfill of discount Exceptional
52 weeks Acquisitien onerous  restructuring EVP Tax IFRIC acquisifion rate net interest
ended Adjusted costs contracts costs ‘dispute enquiry 12 intangibles changes income Statutory
25 March 2022 £m £m Em E€m _  £m Em _ &m__ Em___ fm_ £m £m
Revenue 14432 R ™ - 14432
Cosls (1,248 23 L] - (4.8) (208 (1/0; 110y - 03 - 11,5009}
EBITDA 1950 (.49 ~ {4.8) {20.8) (17.0) IO 2t . 03 = 1423
Depreciation (973 - - V4 [
Amartisatian i - (296} - L3007
lnpoirments (25 0; - - (25U)
Operating
profit / (loss) 96.4 (9.4) (25.0) (4.8) (20.8) (17.0) 1.4 (29.6) 0.3 - (8.3)
Farany e neore 21 - 11 s
Firdnie coaty (22 0) - - (04 - 1 724)
atare of resulls
I OInT vENTLISE
ana ussaCInTes [SRY)] - - I
Profit / (loss)
before
_ 1axation 75.6 (9.9} (25.0) (4.8) (20.8) a7 1.0 (29.6} o es 1 _(28.8)
Adjusted profit measures by division
2023 2022
Adjusted Operating profit £m e Em
Collechans 825 150
Resaurces & Energy 423 41.1
Specialist Services 138 54
Group Business Function e . ..(258) (24.9)
Tetal 112.8 96.6
2023 2022
Adjusted EBITDA o o £m £m
Collechions 1461 1507
Resources & Energy 78.3 73.4
Speuialist Services 216 11.6
Group Business Function (209 (20.7)
Total 2255 195.0

Adjusting items

Group Business Funchon costs represent shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, Board and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal and insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) remaining after allocation fo operating divisions, Adjusted EBITDA represents the
profit earned by each division without allocation of depreciation and amortisation, adjusting items, fingnce costs, material impacts of
changes in reaf discount rafe gpplied to the Group’s long-term provisions and income tax expense. Adjusted Operating Profit recognises
the impact of depreciafion and amoertisation excluding the amortisation of acquisition intangibles These measures are both reported to
the Group Executive Team for the purpese of resource allocotion and assessment of divisional performance.

Share of results of joint ventures

In a joint venture with Encyclis, the Group has invested in the construction of two energy recovery facitities ('ERFs’): Newhurst and Protos.
The Newhurst ERF entered commercial operation during the year to 31 March 2023. The Group's share of the results of This joint venture
have therefare been recognised in Adjusted Operating Profit (£1.3m).
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Acquisition-related costs

Delivery of the Group's strategy mcludes invesiment m acquisitions that enhance the quality of its operations The exciusion of significont
iterns arising from M&A activily is designed by the Board to align short-term operational decisions with this longer-term strategy.
Accordingly, omounts ansing on acguisitions are excluded from adiusted performance. The £2.0m (2022 £9 4m) of cocguisition reloted
expenditure in the 53-week pericd ended 31 March 2023 relates to professional faes and other casts which are directly attributoble 1o
acquisttions

Atso included in Acquisinon-related costs are £22 8m of costs relating to the acquisition of the Group by ECP in January 2023

Asset impairments

During the current finaneidl penod an impairment of £8.7m was recogrised inrelation fo the Poplars anacrobie digestion plant, in additon
to a £0.4m impairment for the closure of the Grangemouth site, The prior financial period saw o £25.0m onre of f cost for the impairment of
the goodwill that had been recognised on CSG, which was ucquired in February 2021

Strategy-related and resfructuring costs

Sirategy-related costs of £18.0m (2022 £4.8m) arise from Group-wide initiotives to reduce the ongoing cost base and improve efficiency
in the business These costs are substantial in scope and impact, and do not form part of our aperational performance. Adjusting fer these
charges provides o measure of operating profitability that is comparable over time, Within the strategy-related costs is £16 2m relating to
the Transfarmetion Project which does not qualify for capttalisation (2022 £4.6m).

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

This charge of £25 2m (2072: £29.6m) represents the amounts amortised by the Group in each period in respect of intangibles from prior
acaquisitions, which are reported separately from the Group's depreciation and amortisation charges. The performance of the acauirecd
business is assessed as part of the Group's adjusted operational results The Group uses this adjusting item to improve the compurability
of intormatian between reporting periods and divisions.

Impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions

The impact of real discount rate changes on landfill provisions reflects the provision movement which arises wholly due to the change n
discotunt rate within the cumrent financial period a credit of £24 8m was recognised (2022 £0.3m credity This is not reflective of
operafional performance.

HMRC Landfill Tax Enquiry
As set out in Note 27, BwS| is currently the subject of an enquuy by HMRC regarding certain ospects of its Landfill Tax compliance:

A provision of £20.0m was recognised in the prior year. In the curtent year, the provision has been increased to £64.0m with o charge of
£50.7m recognised within adjusting items Further information 1 provided in Note 18,

IFRIC 12 adjustments
The adaoption of IFRTC 12: Service Concassion Arrangements, results in large accounting adjustments that are not reflective of the !
operatignal performeonce of the underlyibg contracts The purpese of these adjustments is to reverse the impact of IFRIC 17 n Adjusted
Performance.

Undler IFRIC 12 depraciation on reverting PPE items is reversed out The IFRIC 12 adjustment reinstates this depreciation,

Also under TFRIC 12 the cost of future capital expenditure that must be incurred in order to fulfil the contract is captured upfront and
recognised as a provision, with the corresponding discount unwind being recognised within net finance costs The IFRIC 12 adjhstment
reverses this charge frany the Adjusted Performance.

The net impact of these IFRIC 12 adpustments is a £0.3m credit to the Income Statement, which is tredted os on adjusting irem. :

Onerous contracts

Onerous cantract provisions reflect the future unavoidable losses expected on the Group's existing contract portfolio. At the yeor end date
the Groupn held onerous contract provisions for the L eicester City Councll, Fppiryg Forest District Council and South Oxfordshire & Yole
contracts,

When oncreus contract provisions are recognised or increased, the corresponding P&I charge 15 treated as an adjusting item because
recognising multiple years of losses in one financial year skews the financial performance in that year. Gnerous contract provision releases
are also treated os adjusting Hems because the inflated profit they cause does not represent the in-year performcance of the business, This
appraach ensures that adjisted Operating Prafit far any given period presents the contract losses incurred in that period
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Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of adjusting items to profit after tax

2023 2022
£m £m
Adjusting items
HMRC Landtilf Tax enguiry 507 17.0
Share ot results of jeint ventures 13 -
Acguisihan reluted costs 24.8 9.4
Strategy relared and restructuring costs 18.0 4.8
Asset impairmernts 2.1 250
EVP dispute 1.2 208
IFRIC 12 depreciation adjustment 0.6 (1.4)
105.7 75.6
Other adjusting items
Amortisation of acguisition intangibles 252 29.6
Impact of real discount rate changes on landtill provisions {24 .8) (0.3}
Impact on Operating profit 106.1 104.9
Finance income adjusting items
Exceprional net inferest income - [0}
Unwind of discounting on IFRIC 12 provision 0.3 0.4
0.3 0N
Share of results of joint ventures {1.3) -
Impact on Profit before tax 105.1 104.2
Tuxation on adjusting items (7.4) (26.4)
Impact on Loss for the period 97.7 778
2023 2022
Adjusting items impacting Cperating profit by division £m £m
Collecnians (%] 94
Resources & Energy 7.0 256
Specialist Services 11 255
Group Business Function 91.4 466
“fotat OO P _ 1061 1049
Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue
2023 2022
. - . Em .. _Em
Statutory Revenue 1,680.4 14552
Landfill Tax (75.7) (79 5)
Net Revenue 1,604.7 1,363.9
2023 2022
Net Revenue by division £m £m
Collections 1,006.1 8/4G
Resources & Energy 363.9 315.9
Specialist Services 2347 1741
Total 1,604.7 1,363.9

Biffa Limited / Annual Report and Accounts 2023 101



Appendix

Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’) continued

Reconciliation of Statutory Revenue to Net Revenue conbinued

.Revenue growth

Net ravenue for the prior period
Acguisition revenue growth

. Organic revenue growth )

e 2023
Growth
- £m factor
1,305.9
8314 H%
157.2 1%
e 16047 o

_Net revenue for the current period

Other performahce measures

In addinon 1o the adjusting items disclosed above, the Group uses Adjusted Rehurh on Operating Assets and Adjusted Refurn on Copitol
Fmployed os performance measures. These are aligned 1o the strotegy and are reported internally 1o the Boourd and Operating

Committees 1o aid their decision making These are calculated as bolow,

2023 2022
e — S . _Em _Em
Adjuster! Dperating prefit 2R 6.6
Average of property, plant and equipment” H34 3 A9 Y
Average net watking capitel e U ¢ O £ D
e — ——— . _tna . BHS
__Adjusted Return on Operating Assets* e - 18.2% . 182%
oy B Peta v - o1
' A
' " M 1
2022
— —_ e e : L Em
Adjusted Operating protit LY
Amertisation of Acquisition Intangibles . S CAA
Adjusted Operating profit less Amartisation of Acquisition Intangibles 7.0
Avernge of shareholders equity’ 4H6.2 A6
Average Net Debt 6314 L4706
Averaqe retirement benefits (130 4) (149 &)
_ fwerage environmentol provisions’ o o s o o o LURRT A
— ~ _ - 1037 3510
__Adjusted Return on Capital Employed® - o 85% 70%
1 Aeprnios ~f epenora and oseng shererold=rs’ eeuity < 2073 amd 20772
. Awerizae = openity ard ckofing Net Reor n 2093 ane on2s
N Aserage S apenng grd clos raretirarcent benafife oy 2088 and 2007 (Mot
1 £oesargoe sf open NG and Adofing ervranmental provisioae o 2097 aned 2020 0 Note 18)
A Acdipieted Tper gty Praof less evartieation of oo st intarcildes divdod by the osmrane o F opeiig o clas g shorsbolders’ aoiaty st dent o lgdie beoce ] al gt

PRreSiens AP seyIrneeete ! provisinng,
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Corporate Information

Registered office

Biffa Limited
Coronation Road
Cressex

High wycombe
Buckinghamshire
HP12 312

Auditor

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Squcie
Londcn

EC4A 3BZ

Solicitors

Linklaters LLP
1 Silk Street
London

EC24 8HQ

Forward-looking Statements

Certain staterments made in this Annual Report are forward-looking
and are based on current expectations. The statements are subject
to assumprtions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are
beyond the Company's control and which could cause actual results
to differ significantly from those expected. Unless required by law,
regulations or accounting standards, the Company does not
undertake fo update or revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as o result of new information or future developments. Any
forward-looking statements made by o1 on behalf ot the Group
speak only as of the date that they are made and are based on
knowledge and intormation availaizle to the Directors on the date of
this Annual Report,

Website

The Company’s website www.biffo.co.uk gives additional
information on the business. Notwithstanding the references made
in the Annual Report to the website, none of the information made
on the website constitutes part of this Annual Report ar is deemed
to be incorporated by reference herein.
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